

# TURKISH JOURNAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Year: 2025 | Volume: 23 | Issue:1 | e-ISSN: 1304-1088

Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.





©Copyright 2025 by the Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr)

#### **Publication Ethics**

Turkish Journal of Public Health is a member of the <u>Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE)</u> and accepts the principles of publication ethics and evaluates all submitted manuscripts in this context. Readers and authors can access these rules and case examples at the following links:

#### **Turkish Journal of Public Health**

Volume: 23, Issue: 1, 2025

Owner: Prof. Dr. Bülent KILIÇ

Adress: Korkutreis Mahallesl, İlkız Sk. No:17 D:2, 06430 Çankaya/Ankara

E-mail: yucel.demiral@gmail.com

Release Date: 20 April, 2024

Indexes: TR Dizin, EBSCO, ProQuest, Turkiye Atıf Dizini, ULAKBIM, DOAJ, SCOPUS

# e-ISSN: 1304-1088

Turkish Journal of Public Health is published three times a year. The publication language of the journal is English. Article submission address: https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/journal/814/submission/step/manuscript/new

# **JOURNAL BOARDS**

#### **Owner of the Journal**

#### Prof. Dr. Bülent KILIÇ

Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

#### **The Manager**

**Prof. Dr. Ferruh Niyazi AYOĞLU** Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit Üniversity, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Zonguldak, Türkiye

#### **Editor in Chief**

**Prof. Dr. Yücel DEMİRAL** Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

#### **Section Editors**

**Prof. Dr. Belgin ÜNAL** WHO- Azerbaijan Country Office

**Prof. Dr. Tuğrul ERBAYDAR** Okan University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Istanbul, Türkiye

**Prof. Dr. Işil ERGİN** Ege University School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Izmir, Türkiye

**Prof. Dr. Nilay ETİLER** University of Nevada, Reno(UNR), School of Public Health

# Prof. Dr. Hande HARMANCI

World Health Organization

#### Prof. Dr. Caferi Tayyar ŞAŞMAZ

Mersin University School of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Mersin, Türkiye

#### **Prof. Dr. Sevgi CANBAZ** İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Türkiye

**Assoc. Prof. Ahmet Naci EMECEN** Dokuz Eylul University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İzmir, Türkiye

#### Assoc. Prof. Dr. Özlem TERZİ

Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Samsun, Türkiye

**Assoc. Prof. Dr. Meryem Merve ÖREN ÇELİK** Istanbul University, Istanbul Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Istanbul, Türkiye Assoc. Prof. Dr. Özge KARADAĞ

Columbia University, Center For Sustainable Development, Earth Institute, USA

#### Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sibel KIRAN

Hacettepe University, Institute of Public Health, Department of Occupational Health and Safety, Ankara, Türkiye

#### Assoc. Prof. Niveen Abu-RMEILEHT

Inst. of Community and Public Health, Birzeit Univercity West Bank, Palestine

#### Julia CRITCHLEY

University Of London, USA

#### Nelta EDWARDS

University of Alaska Anchorage, Department of Public Health, USA

**Prof. Dr. Peter PHILLIMORE** University Of Newcastle , Department of Social Policy, UK

#### **Prof. Dr. Fouad FOUAD** American Beirut Universi Department of Public Health, Lebanon

**Prof. Dr. Shahaduz ZAMAN** University of Suss, Department of Public Health ,UK

#### **Aims and Scope**

The owner of the journal is the Turkish Public Health Specialists Association. Turkish Journal of Public Health is a peer-reviewed, English-only research journal published online three times a year, serving a wide audience in the field of public health and community medicine at national and international levels. Turk J Public Health aims to provide an environment for the rapid communication of developments and new information in this field. We welcome articles on public health theory and practice.

The editors anticipates receiving manuscripts from the following areas of public health, Health policy and management, Biostatistics, Epidemiology, Environmental health, Health economics, Demography, Social, sciences for health, Health education, Health promotion, Community nutrition, Infectious diseases, Disaster management, Injuries, Women's health, Reproductive health, Child health, Chronic diseases, Occupational health, Global health, Inequalities. Turkish Journal of Public Health is a member of Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE). Turk J Public Health is covered following national international indexing services: DOAJ, EBSCO, ProQuest, Turkiye Atif Dizini, ULAKBIM, Google Scholar and SCOPUS.

#### **Open Access Policy**

Turkish Journal of Public Health is an online and an open access journal. All the manuscripts are fully accessible via a link at their relevant pages. Turkish Journal of Public Health do not ask any kind of author fees. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License.

#### **Peer-Review Policy**

Turk J Public Health aims to publish the top-quality articles related to the theoretical and practical application of public health sciences. A qualified peer review process to achieve this goal is very crucial for Turk J Public Health. Objectivity, accuracy, and fairness are basic principles during the peer review and publishing stages for Turk J Public Health. The trust of all readers, authors, researchers, referees, public health experts, physicians, funding bodies that support the research and public health managers are very important to us. All of the manuscripts have been sent to at least two reviewers and reviewers are blind to authors identities. Authors are also blind to reviewers identities. (Double Blind Peer-Review)

#### **Instructions for Authors**

Instructions for <u>authors page</u> of the journal is available in the journal content. **Disclaimer** 

The statements and opinions expressed contained in the articles of the The Turkish Journal of Public Health are solely those of the individual authors and contributors not of the Turkish Society of Public Health Specialists or Cetus Publishing.

#### Publisher

Cetus Publishing Address : Balıkesir Teknokent Çağış Mah. Çağış B.M.Sk. No:340/16 İç Kapı No:17 Altıeylül/Balıkesir Phone : +90 532 605 56 85 E-mail : info@cetuspub.com

# **Turkish Journal of Public Health**

# **VOLUME:** 23

# **CONTENTS**

# **ISSUE:** 1

#### **Original Article**

- 1-10 **The relationship between public health system resilience and psychological resilience: multilevel regression study** *Gamze Çan, Hakan Kartal, Çetin Toraman, Coşkun Bakar*
- 11-17 **Assessing ChatGPT's accuracy and reliability in medical education: a cross-sectional study** *A Ra Vishal, A S Harshith, A V Sindhu, Abhivanth R, Pavithra M B, Suwarna Madhukumar*
- 18-24 Screening of cervical cancer using Smart scope at a Rural Health Training Centre, Pune, India: A cross-sectional study

Neetu Choudhary, Manju Talathi, Arvinder Pal Singh Narula, Sujata Murarkar, Sumati Sancheti, Prakash Doke

25-34 Effect of green tea and wheat bran on professional drivers with metabolic syndrome: A controlled clinical trial

Mohammad Reza Behboudi, Mohammad Hossein Ebrahimi, Majid Mirmohammadkhani, Mohammad Amin Pour, Rohangiz Basati, Mina Shayestefar

35-43 Medical students' awareness and infodemic management capacity: a descriptive study from Türkiye

Dilek Aslan, Kervin Raymond, Ercüment Altıntaş, Gülsen Güneş, Meltem Şengelen, Meltem Şengelen, Ferda Özyurda

- 44-53 **Feminization of poverty among the elderly: based on national data in Türkiye** *Kübra Ecem Turgutkaya, Filiz Abacıgil, Pınar Okyay*
- 54-68 **Knowledge, attitude and practice on nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students** *Prince Chikwere, Isaac Gunu Asirifi*
- 69-79 Predictors of addiction to smartphone social networks in Iranian first-year medical sciences students

Azam Mohammadi, Farzaneh Khodabandeh, Hadis Nazari, Batool Soleimannezhad, Ellahe Bahrami-Vazir

- 80-93 **Post-traumatic stress and secondary traumatic stress of earthquake-affected and non-affected healthcare workers after the 6th February Earthquake in Türkiye** Ayşe Taş, Günseli Akpınar, Abdullah Yükseler, Mucahit Oruç, Osman Celbiş
- 94-105 **Prevalence and underlying determinants related to COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among Iraqi Healthcare professionals in Hilla City** *Rasha Raheem Al-mansoori, Shaymaa Abdullateef Alfadhul*
- 106-119The reasons behind incomplete children vaccination in a sample from Iraqi society<br/>Taqi Mohammed Jwad Taher, Saif Ibrahim Daadoush, Saif Badr Abd Aoun

#### FROM THE EDITOR

#### From the Editor

Science is not only the pursuit of knowledge, but a shared responsibility toward public welfare, social justice, and a sustainable future. Yet it is crucial to recognize that among the many fields of scientific inquiry, health and public health are particularly vulnerable to politicization. Decisions about healthcare access, emergency preparedness, preventive measures, and public communication are often shaped not only by evidence but by shifting political agendas. The COVID-19 pandemic and the devastating earthquakes experienced in recent years in Türkiye have laid bare the human costs of inadequate, delayed, or ideologically driven public health responses. These crises have reminded us that health is not only a biomedical issue—it is inherently social and political.

In this context, a recent global declaration by the scientific community serves as a timely and necessary reminder: defending scientific freedom is not an abstract ideal—it is a moral and civic imperative, especially in matters that directly concern human health. The declaration calls for solidarity in preserving the integrity of science and insists on the need for informed, evidence-based public policies that prioritize well-being over politics. 1

As we begin a new publishing year with this April 2025 issue, we bring together a wide range of contributions that reflect the scope and complexity of public health practice. From an investigation into the relationship between public health system resilience and psychological resilience in post-pandemic Türkiye to an international analysis of AI tools like ChatGPT in medical education, the papers in this volume show both the local relevance and global interconnectivity of public health research. Studies on vaccine hesitancy among Iraqi healthcare professionals, cervical cancer screening in India, and poverty among elderly women in Türkiye further illustrate the diverse social contexts in which public health challenges unfold—and the role of science in addressing them.

Finally, we extend our sincere gratitude to all the authors who contributed to this issue, to our editorial board, especially to the peer reviewers who generously offered their time and expertise, and to our readers who continue to engage critically and constructively with the journal. Your support sustains our shared commitment to public health and scientific integrity.

We wish you a pleasant reading.



Yucel Demiral

Editor in Chief

1.Declaration of the Global Scientific Community: Defending Science, Knowledge and Public Interest in the Face of Political Suppression. SPHERA Research Consortium. Available at: <u>https://spheraresearch.org/declaration-of-the-global-scientific-community-defending-science-knowledge-and-public-interest-in-the-face-of-political-suppression/</u>

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# The relationship between public health system resilience and psychological resilience: multilevel regression study

🔟 Gamze Çan<sup>1</sup>, 🕩 Hakan Kartal², ២ Çetin Toraman³, ២ Coşkun Bakar<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Prof. Dr., Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Departmen of Public Health, Çanakkale, Türkiye <sup>2</sup> MD, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Departmen of Public Health, Çanakkale, Türkiye <sup>3</sup> Assoc. Prof., Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Edication, Çanakkale, Türkiye

Received: 02.05.2024, Accepted: 06.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** This study aims to explore the effect of Public Health System Resilience (PHSR) on the psychological resilience of individuals. To demonstrate this interaction, the study investigated psychological resilience levels of individuals negatively affected by the recently experienced COVID-19 pandemic as a disaster period in the province of Çanakkale.

**Method:** This study was conducted in two stages in April and September 2022. In the first stage, the PHSR Scorecard prepared by the United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction was used to obtain the scores from the Merkez province of Çanakkale and the Bayramiç and Ayvacık districts. In the second stage, a questionnaire for demographic data and the Psychological Resistance Scale was administered to 510 people, including those over 65 years, small business owners, and students (high-school grades 2 and 3). The results were analyzed at two levels and with three different models using the Multilevel Regression analysis.

**Results:** Based on the multilevel regression model formulated for the factors affecting Psychological Resilience, it was found that PHSR was an explanatory or predictor variable for psychological resilience, and a high public health system resilience was associated with a high psychological resilience (Model 1 &:0,29, p<0,05), (Model 2 &:0,26, p<0,01) (Model 3 &:1,05, p<0,01). It was also found that in PHSR interactions, small business owner groups ( $\beta$  = -0,77, t=-2,35, p<0,05) and student groups ( $\beta$  = -1,56, t=4,72, p<0,01) were affected more negatively than the group aged over 65 years.

**Conclusion:** Our study has demonstrated that PHSR effectively enhances individuals' psychological resilience.

**Keywords:** COVID-19, Psychological Resilience, Health Systems, community, Resilience, Regression analysis, Risk groups

**Correspondence:** Prof. Dr., Gamze Çan, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Departmen of Public Health, Çanakkale, Türkiye. **E-mail:** gcanktu@yahoo.com

**Cite This Article:** Çan G, Kartal H, Toraman Ç, Bakar C. The Relationship Between Public Health System Resilience And Psychological Resilience: Multilevel Regression Study. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 1-10.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing*.



Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>.

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NO NO International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

The word resilience denotes a person's adaptation to the difficulties positive experienced and maintaining and reclaiming their mental health<sup>1</sup>. Community resilience is defined as the presence, development, and participation of community members and resources that enable the community to flourish in an environment characterized by change, uncertainty, unpredictability, and surprises<sup>2</sup>. The UNDRR (United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction) describes social resilience as "the ability of a system, community or society exposed to hazards to resist, absorb, accommodate, adapt to, transform and recover from the effects of a hazard in a timely and efficient manner"<sup>3</sup>. Disasters, pandemics, wars, and other public health-threatening catastrophes burden the public health system with significant needs and can affect social resilience. For this reason, past tragedies enhance the learning capacity for future protection and improvement of risk reduction measures.

As stated on the data page published and daily updated by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health, the first COVID-19 case in Turkey was discovered on March 11, 2020. From the discovery of the first case until November 27, 2022, there were 17,042,722 cases in total, and 101,492 people have died due to the COVID-19 disease<sup>4</sup>. In the COVID-19 pandemic, both the characteristics of the virus and the measures taken by the authorities to prevent its spread affected some groups in several ways. In Turkey, those over 65 years of age were banned from going out of their homes on March 22, 2020, with the circular "Curfew for Those Aged 65 and Over and Those with Chronic Disease"<sup>5</sup>. On March 16,

2020, just after the emergence of the first cases, schools were shut down for a week and then closed to face-to-face education from March 23, 2020, to September 21, 2020, and a transition was made to an online education system<sup>6</sup>. A complete lockdown was imposed between April 29 and May 19, 2020, and freelance small business owners were banned from going out<sup>7</sup>. While the measures taken to prevent the spread of the disease affected the whole society, older people aged over 65, freelance small business owners, and young people of school age were affected most<sup>8-10</sup>.

The older population was the most vulnerable group to the disease in the COVID-19 pandemic. Not only the disease itself but also the isolation measures taken could lead to the aggravation of some disorders already present in the older population, such as phobia, anxiety problems, and obsessive-compulsive disorder<sup>11</sup>. In addition to older adults, the COVID-19 pandemic was also reported to have had alarming effects on mental health in student groups<sup>12</sup>. Suspending face-to-face education and adopting online education to prevent the spread of the pandemic had a psychological impact such as anxiety, fear, and worries<sup>13</sup>. The imposition of curfews and people's avoidance of physical contact during the fast-spreading period of COVID-19 forced people to shop on the Internet instead of buying goods from shops<sup>14</sup>. This caused small businesses such as barbers, restaurants, and other local small business owners to incur significant losses. A qualitative study of the challenges experienced by small business owners during the COVID-19 pandemic has stressed that small business owners experienced both economic and psychological adversities<sup>10</sup>.

This study aims to examine the impact of Public Health System Resilience (PHSR) on psychological resilience at the individual level. Using multilevel regression analysis, we explore how PHSR scores influence psychological resilience among high-risk groups (elderly, small business owners, and students) during the COVID-19 pandemic in Çanakkale. The study seeks to provide empirical evidence on the role of public health resilience in mitigating psychological distress in crisis situations.

# **METHODS**

Population; Over 65, small business owner and students, who are thought to be more negatively affected due to the measures taken during the pandemic process

Exsposure; Correlation between public health systems resilience and the individual

resilience of some individuals.

Comparison; With vs. without the correlates

Outcome PHSR effectively increases individuals' psychological resilience

This research that tries to predict the variability of psychological resilience with data from different level variables (e.g. level 1 district, level 2 occupation, age).

The field data of the study were collected in the Merkez, Ayvacık and Bayramiç districts between March and August 2022. small business owners were included through small business owner's union, elderly people were included through municipality officers, and students were included from permitted schools. Focus group interviews were held in September 2022.The characteristics of the districts chosen are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. Character	ristics of chosen dis	stricts		
Town	Population	F/M	<b>Healthcare Institution</b>	Characteristic
Merkez	197,841 49.6% M		University Hospital	University campus and
		50.4% F	State Hospital	students are present
			Oral Health Center	
			Private Hospital	
Bayramiç	28,952	49.5% M	State Hospital	In a mountainous area
		50.5% F		away from the center, Agricultural region
Ayvacık	34,549	50.8% M	State Hospital	Touristic region
		49.2% F		

#### Model;

Multilevel regression performs multiple modeling to combine variables from different levels. It is expected that the total explanatory power in the initial model will be low and the intercepts or slopes will overlap. While the total explanatoryness is low in the initial model, increases as different level variables are added to the model. This was exactly the case in the multilevel regression performed in this research.

The study model using a Hierarchical Linear Model (Multilevel Regression) analysis is summarized in Figure 1. The characteristics, effects are intended to be explored in the study, have been individually analyzed using the hierarchical linear model. In Model 1, only the impact of the public health system resilience score was considered to explain psychological resilience. Model 2 considered the effect of being an older person over 65,being a small business owner, or being a student. In Model 3, the impact of being in different groups was considered as an interaction with the public health system resilience score. In group interactions, as the COVID-19 disease primarily affected individuals in the older population, the most urgent and rigid measures were taken for this group. For this reason, the group of people over 65 was taken as a reference when assessing intergroup differences in the model.



**Figure 1**. The HLM model, where the effect of public health system resilience and the effect of being in different district groups on psychological resilience were explored

#### Stages;

To apply these models, data were collected in several stages. For the levels specified in the modeling, the 1st stage involved focal group interviews held with the representatives of the Governor's Office of Çanakkale, Central Municipality of Çanakkale, Provincial Health Directorate of Çanakkale, Public Health Directorate of Canakkale, and Provincial Disaster and First Aid Directorate of Çanakkale to find the PHR scores. Expert opinion was obtained based on the information and documents from the interviews with the agency representatives, from an independent academic group based on the information and documents from the interviews with the agency representatives. The points on the scorecard corresponding to each question were marked, and the scores obtained from these interviews were used as the Public Health

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

System Resilience Score. In the second stage, a questionnaire and the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) were administered to the small business owners, individuals over 65 years of age, and students in the districts from which Public Health System Resilience scores were obtained (Merkez, Ayvacık, and Yenice-Bayramiç) to assess psychological resilience.

#### Tools;

For Public Health System Resilience, the Disaster Resilience Report Card for Urban Areas was used in this study along and the Public Health System Resilience Addendum Scorecard Essentials, which was developed by UNDRR. The scorecard has ten essentials for assessing public health resilience<sup>15</sup> (Table 2).

The scorecard has a total of 23 items. Each item is scored between 0 and 5. The maximum

score obtainable is 115, and the minimum is 0. Since each of the ten essentials on the scorecard has a different number of questions, the minimum and maximum scores obtainable from each essential can be different<sup>15</sup>. None of the districts obtained a "0" from any essential. The scoring was made by getting opinions of the stakeholders attending the expert view meetings.

Table 2. Public Health System Resilience Addendum						
Scorec	Scorecard Essentials					
Items	Score card Essentials	Min-Max				
1	Integration of public health and governance (Essential 1)	0-5				
2	Integration of public health and disaster scenarios (Essential 2)	0-15				
3	Integration of public health and finances (Essential 3)	0-5				
4	Integration of public health and land use/building codes (Essential 4)	0-5				
5	Management of ecosystem services that affect public health (Essential 5)	0-5				
6	Integration of public health and institutional capacity (Essential 6)	0-20				
7	Integration of public health and societal capacity (Essential 7)	0-15				
8	Integration of public health and infrastructure resilience (Essential 8)	0-15				
9	Integration of public health and disaster response (Essential 9)	0-20				
10	Integration of public health and recovery/building back better (Essential 10)	0-10				

Developed by Connor and Davidson (2003), the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale/ CD-RISC was used to determine the psychological resilience levels of adult individuals<sup>16</sup>. The investigators made the payment required for the use of the scale and subsequently, the permission for use was obtained. Consisting of 25 items in total, the scale has a 5-point Likert-type scoring. The scale is scored using (0) for 'not true at all, (1) for 'rarely true,' (2) for 'sometimes true,' (3) for 'often true', and (4) for 'true all the time.' The lowest score obtainable from the scale is 0, and the highest is 100. It is stated that the 25 items of the scale can be taken as a whole, and a single total score obtained from the whole ranking can be used for analysis. Higher scores obtained from the scale show higher psychological resilience. The scale's Cronbach Alpha coefficient was 0.91 <sup>16</sup>. Its Turkish validity and reliability study was performed by Karaırmak (2010). The scale's Cronbach's Alpha internal consistency coefficient is 0.92<sup>17</sup>.

#### Sampling;

It is stated inIn Mass and Hox regression, it is stated that to calculate the sample size, the independent variables intended to be used to calculate the sample size need more than 50 people for each group<sup>18</sup>. Accordingly, it was planned to contact up to a total of 180 people through the improbable (non-probabilistic) sampling method up to a total of 180 people for the Merkez province, 180 for the Ayvacık district, and 180 for the Bayramic and Yenice districts. This sampling is composed of 60 people, with a 20% excess for each group (students, older people over 65, and small business owners). The number of people to be included in the study was planned to bewas to be 540. A total of 510 people could be contacted in the survey. Non-random participation consistent with the sample was achieved from all districts and groups. There was no missing data.

# Variable and Statistical analysis;

The variables of our study are the Public Health System Resilience Score, which was developed by UNDRR, and the psychological resilience levels obtained with the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale/CD-RISC.

In statistical analysis, numbers and

percentages were used to present definitional data. Multilevel regression modelling was used to study the factors affecting individual psychological resilience on the Jamovi 2.3 application.

Permission was obtained for the study from Çanakkale University Clinical Trials Ethics Committee with their decision numbered 2022-05 and dated 22/03/2022.

# RESULTS

For this study, 510 people were interviewed in the Merkez province of Çanakkale and Bayramiç and Ayvacık districts.

After the structured meetings to obtain public health system resilience scores, the Merkez province received 96 points, Bayramiç 85 points, and Ayvacık 86 points. These scores were included as public health resilience scores in the multilevel regression models used to explain psychological resilience. The genders and samples included in the study are shown in Table 3.

		0						
			Grou	ps				
Characteristic	Older Pe	ople over 65	Small Bus	siness Owners	Stu	udents	Т	otal
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)
Gender n=510								
Female	85	(51.8)	60	(35.1)	117	(66.9)	262	(51.4)
Male	79	(48.2)	111	(64.9)	58	(33.1)	248	(48.6)
Region								
Merkez	60	(36.6)	61	(35.7)	59	(33.7)	180	(35.3)
Bayramiç	53	(32.3)	50	(29.2)	57	(32.6)	160	(31.4)
Ayvacık	51	(31.1)	60	(35.1)	59	(33.7)	170	(33.3)

**Table 3.** Genders and COVID Knowledge of Participants by their Groups, Çanakkale 2022

n: number %: column percentage

It was seen in Model 1 that the Public Health System Resilience Score was a significant explanatory or predictor variable in explaining psychological resilience (F:4,07 p<0,05). As the PHR score increased, the Psychological resilience score also increased  $(\beta=0.29, t=2,02, p<0,05)$ . The explanatoriness of the PHR score in explaining psychological resilience alone was 0.7% (Table 4). In Model 2, the model set up with the group variable to explain psychological resilience was found to fit (F:32,18 p<0.01). The general explanatoriness of Model 2, which was set up with the group variable, was found to be 11.9%. The explanatoriness (explanatory or predictor variable) of being over 65 Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

years of age in psychological resilience was found statistically significant compared to being a small business owner ( $\beta$ = 0,25, t=0,148, p>0,05). Being in the student group was associated with a lower psychological resilience score than being in the over 65 years of age group ( $\beta$ = -11,53, t=-6,80, p<0.01) (Table 4).

In Model 3, the effect of the Public Health System Resilience score and group interactions on the psychological resilience scores of individuals were analyzed. The goodness of fit tests of Model 3 showed that the model was appropriate (F:11,18, p<0,01). The explanatoriness of Model 3 in the psychological resilience of individuals went up to 15.6%. As Public Health System Resilience score increased, the Psychological resilience score also increased ( $\beta$ =1.05, t=4,48, p<0,01). Students had a lower psychological resilience score than those in the over 65 years of age group ( $\beta$ = -11,54, t=-6,94, p<0,01). There was no significant difference between the psychological resilience scores of small business owners and those of the over 65 ( $\beta$ =0,37, t=0,22, p=0,82) (Table 4).

In the interaction of the Public Health System Resilience score, the psychological resilience score of small business owners was lower than that of the older people over 65 ( $\beta$ = -0,77, t=-2,35, p<0,05). Similarly, in the interaction of the PHR score, students had a lower psychological resilience score than those over 65 ( $\beta$ = -1,56, t=4,72, p<0,01). The level of students' being affected negatively seemed to decrease in Public Health System Resilience interaction ( $\beta$ = -11,54,  $\beta$ =-1,56) (Table 4).

Table 4. Multilevel Regression Analysis in Explaining Psychological Resilience, Çanakkale*, 2022						
Predictor variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3			
Public Health Resilience Score (PHR) β	0.29	0.26	1.05			
Group 1 (65 +1-Small Business Owners) β		0.25	0.37			
Group 2 (65 + <sup>1</sup> -Students) β		-11.53**	-11.54**			
PHRS*Group-1 (65 +1-Small Business Owners)			-0.77*			
PHRS*Group 2 (65 +1-Students)			-1.56**			
R <sup>2</sup>	0.007	0.119	0.156			
ANOVA values (F) for model fit for the models set up	4.07*	32.18**	11.18**			

\*\*p<0.05; \*\*\* p<0.01 <sup>1</sup>: reference group

\* Table 4 presents the results of the multilevel regression analysis. In Model 1, only the Public Health System Resilience Score is included as a predictor of psychological resilience, revealing a significant positive effect. Model 2 introduces the group membership variable, showing that students and small business owners exhibit lower psychological resilience scores compared to the reference group (65+ individuals). Model 3 incorporates interaction effects, demonstrating that the negative impact on psychological resilience is more pronounced for students and small business owners when public health system resilience is considered. These findings suggest that different risk groups respond differently to public health system resilience, highlighting the need for targeted intervention

# DISCUSSION

There is no definite evidence in the literature regarding what type of interaction exists between the Public Health System Resilience Essentials and psychological resilience. The data suggest that psychological strength increases community resilience<sup>19,20</sup>. The psychological resilience of individuals is evaluated within the framework of social capital, which is a part of social resilience. However, no studies demonstrate the effect of social resilience on the psychological resilience of individuals. This represents a novel aspect of the study we have conducted.

The Public Health System Resilience score is evaluated with some essential questions.

How these evaluation principles reflect on society has not been evaluated in this study. The Public Health System Resilience score of the city was obtained with the opinions of representatives of institutions that are influential in the provincial administration, and the relationship between this score and the resilience of individuals was examined.

The Public Health System Resilience score positively affected psychological resilience in the Multilevel Regression analysis model, which included all the data (Table 4). In their meta-analysis in 2013 on the factors affecting psychological resilience, Lee et al. concluded that the factors affecting psychological resilience most were self-sufficiency, selfconfidence, positive mood, optimism, and social support<sup>21</sup>. The CD-RISC 25 Psychological Resilience Scale used in our study consists of items measuring various aspects of psychological resilience, namely, hardiness, adaptability/flexibility, meaningfulness/ purpose, optimism, regulation of emotions and cognition, and self-efficacy.

Community resources that will reduce the impact of disasters are dependent on individual resources<sup>22,23</sup>. According to the protection of resources theory<sup>23</sup>, threats to or loss of important objects (e.g., home, property), energies (e.g., income, access to economic resources), personal resources (e.g., security, hope, meaning), and social resources (e.g., friends, family, non-governmental organizations) are the most robust precursors of psychosocial difficulties<sup>24,25</sup>. It is thought that a portion of the above-mentioned social resources has been significantly affected during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Abramson et al. described the components affecting the activation of resilience and its conceptual framework in their 2015 study <sup>22</sup>. The proposed conceptual framework is based on the ability to activate better the resilience aspects of social resources, which is essential for sustaining psychological vitality, stability, cognitive health, as well as satisfactory physical health and well-being. Under the definition of urban resilience of communities a high level of Public Health System Resilience contributes to the communities in cities by having more resources, incurring less damage, and achieving faster recovery in chaotic circumstances caused by disasters or pandemics.

According to the multilevel regression analysis results, small business owners and students *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*  were affected more negatively than those older than 65 years (Table 3, Model 2). In Model 3, being older than 65 years was associated with a higher Psychological Resilience score in PHR interaction compared to the student and small business owner groups (Table 4, Model 3). A complete lockdown was imposed in Turkey between April 29 and May 19 as part of COVID-19 pandemic measures, and going out was forbidden except for the personnel who carried out essential work<sup>11</sup>. Isolation measures are known to considerably increase the risk of general psychological disorders, anxiety, and low morale<sup>26</sup>. Again, due to the actions taken for the pandemic, schools stopped face-to-face education between March 16 and September 21 and adopted a distance education system. The closure of schools to moderate the effects of the pandemic resulted in the loss of a large portion of daily living activities for the students. Restrictions on going out alongside school closures may explain why students had a lower Psychological Resilience score than the other groups.

Although some of the effects reflected on people's public health resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic, presented in the evaluation on the essentials, were decisions made countrywide, they are felt in society as the strength and resilience of the central administration.

# **CONCLUSION**

Unlike the existing studies showing that psychological resilience increases social resilience, this study demonstrated that public health system resilience was effective in Psychological Resilience using the example of the COVID-19 pandemic that was experienced recently. However, it does not explain how Public Health System Resilience reflects on society and how it increases psychological resilience. Since the study was planned to demonstrate the relationship between social and individual resilience, a representative sample of the society was not targeted. The results of this study cannot be generalized due to fact that the sample is not representative of the society. There is a need for detailed and in-depth studies on this subject.

It can be said in our study that both the measures taken and the process itself went favorably for individuals aged over 65. However, the psychological resilience of the student and small business owner groups was affected more negatively than that of those over 65. Since both the suspension of education and impairment of the social atmosphere may have produced these results for the students and economic interactions for the small business owners, it will be appropriate to consider these points when taking measures in possible future pandemics.

The results obtained will serve as a guideline for decision-makers by defining the role of public health resilience in improving the psychological resilience of individuals in groups susceptible to potential problems in future disaster.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

**Concflict of Interest:** The authors report no declarations of interest.

**Financial Support:** No support has been received for this study.

EthicalDeclaration:PermissionwasobtainedforthestudyfromÇanakkaleUniversityClinicalTrialsEthicsCommitteewiththeirdecisionnumbered2022-05anddated22/03/2022.

**Author Contrubition:** Concept: GÇ, Design: GÇ, HK, ÇT, CB, Supervising: GÇ, HK, Data collection and entry: GÇ, HK, ÇT Literature search: GÇ, HK, CB Writing: GÇ, HK, CB Critical review: GÇ, HK, ÇT, CB,

# **REFERENCES**

- 1. Herrman H, Stewart DE, Diaz-Granados N, Berger EL, Jackson B, Yuen T. What is Resilience? The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. 2011;56(5):258-265. doi:10.1177/070674371105600504
- Berkes E, Ross H. Community Resilience: Toward an Integrated Approach, Society & Natural Resources. 2021; 26:1, 5-20, DOI:10.1080/08941920.2 012.736605
- United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR). Resilience. Available online: https:// www.preventionweb.net/terminology/view/501
- 4. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı. Covid-19 Bilgilendirme Platformu. (https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/) Erişim Tari-hi: 03.10.2023. (In Turkish)
- T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı. 65 Yaş ve Üstü ile Kronik Rahatsızlığı Olanlara Sokağa Çıkma Yasağı Ek Genel-gesi. 2020. (https://www.icisleri.gov. tr/65-yas-ve-ustu-ile-kronik-rahatsizligi-olanlarasokaga-cikma-yasagi-ek-genelgesi) Erişim Tarihi: 08.10.2023 (In Turkish)
- Çiftçi, S. Covid-19 Pandemi Dönemi Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı'nın İlkokullara İlişkin Politika ve Uygulamalarının Değerlendirilmesi, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat Üniversitesi, 2022 (In Turkish)
- T.C. İçişleri Bakanlığı. (2020). https://www.icisleri. gov.tr/81-il-valiligine-tam-kapanma-tedbirlerigenelgesi-gonderildi (Access date:24 September 2023). (In Turkish)
- 8. UNICEF. Preventing a lost decade. Urgent action to reverse the devastating impact of COVID-19 on children and young people. December 2021. https://www.unicef.org/reports/unicef-75preventing-a-lost-decade
- Yildirim H, Işik K, Aylaz R, The effect of anxiety levels of elderly people in quarantine on depression during covid-19 pandemic, Social Work in Public Health 2021; 36:2, 194-204, DOI: 10.1080/19371918.2020.1868372
- İnce, C. Küresel Afetin Yerel Yansımaları: Covid-19'un Bitlis Esnafı Üzerindeki Etkileri. Avrasya Sos-yal ve Ekonomi Araştırmaları Dergisi 2020, 7 (8), 130-145. (In Turkish)
- 11. Girdhar, R., Srivastava, V., & Sethi, S. (2020). Managing mental health issues among elderly

during COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of geriatric care and research, 7(1), 32-35.

- 12. Wang X, Hegde S, Son C, Keller B, Smith A, Sasangohar F Investigating Mental Health of US College Students During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Cross-Sectional Survey Study J Med Internet Res 2020;22(9):e22817
- 13. Lischer, S. Safi, N. Dickson, C. Remote learning and students' mental health during the Covid-19 pandemic: A mixed-method enquiry. Prospects 2022;51, 589–599.
- 14. Güven H. Covid-19 pandemik krizi sürecinde e-ticarette meydana gelen değişimler. Avrasya Sosyal ve Ekonomi Araştırmaları Dergisi. 2020 May 5;7(5):251-68. (In Turkish)
- 15. Disaster Resilience Scorecard For Cities. Public Health System Resilience Addendum. 2020. (https://mcr2030.undrr.org/sites/default/ files/2021-06/UNDRR\_Public%20Health%20 Scorecard%20Addendum%20v2.0\_English-Jan2021.pdf). Erişim Tarihi: 07.10.2023
- Connor, KM. Davidson, JR. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor–Davidson resilience scale (CD-RISC). Depress Anxiety. 2003;18(2):76– 82.
- 17. Karaırmak, Ö. (2010). Establishing the psychometric qualities of the Connor–Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC) using exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis in a trauma survivor sample. Psychiatry research, 179(3), 350-356. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2009.09.012
- Maas C. J. M. Hox J. J. Sufficient Sample Sizes for Multilevel Modeling. Methodology: European Journal of Research Methods for the Behavioral and Social Sciences 2005; 1(3), 86–92

- 19. Courtney CA, Ahmed AK, Jackson R, McKinnie D, Rubinoff P, Stein A, et al. Coastal community resi-lience in the indian ocean region: a unifying framework, assessment, and lessons learned.2008.
- Bisri, M. Pangandaran Village Resiliency Level Due to Earthquake and Tsunami Risk 2011;. 293 - 298. 10.1109/ISPAW.2011.64.
- Lee JH, Nam SK, Kim AR, Kim B, Lee MY, Lee SM. Resilience: a meta-analytic approach. Journal of counseling & development. 2013 Jul;91(3):269-79.
- 22. Abramson DM, Grattan LM, Mayer B, Colten CE, Arosemena FA, Bedimo-Rung A, Lichtveld M. The resilience activation framework: a conceptual model of how access to social resources promotes adaptation and rapid recovery in postdisaster settings. J Behav Health Serv Res. 2015 Jan;42(1):42-57.
- 23. Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. Ame-rican Psychologist, 44, 513-524.
- 24. Norris FH, Stevens SP, Pfefferbaum B, Wyche KF, Pfefferbaum RL. Community resilience as a metaphor, theory, set of capacities, and strategy for disaster readiness. American Journal of Community Psychology. 2008;41(1–2):127–150.
- Gil-Rivas, V., & Kilmer, R. P. (2016). Building Community Capacity and Fostering Disaster Resilience. Journal of clinical psychology, 72(12), 1318–1332. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22281
- 26. Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, Rubin GJ. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. The lancet. 2020 Mar 14;395(10227):912-20.

**ORIGINAL ARTICLE** 

# Assessing ChatGPT's accuracy and reliability in medical education: a cross-sectional study

A Ra Vishal<sup>1</sup>,
 A S Harshitha <sup>1</sup>,
 Venkatesh Sindhu <sup>1</sup>,
 R Abhivanth <sup>1</sup>,
 MB Pavithra <sup>2</sup>,
 Suwarna Madhukumar<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Student, M.V.J Medical College and Research Hospital, Bangalore, India <sup>2</sup> MD, M.V.J Medical College and Research Hospital, Department of Community Medicine, Bangalore, India

Received: 02.09.2024, Accepted: 29.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** Artificial intelligence (AI), specifically ChatGPT, developed by Open AI provides humanlike understanding and answers to a variety of domain questions and has the potential to transform medical education. However, its reliability in providing accurate clinical information is highly uncertain. This study is aimed at evaluating the accuracy and reliability of ChatGPT in answering multiple-choice questions (MCQs) and protocol-based questions in the field of medicine.

**Methods:** This cross-sectional study was conducted using mixed methods at MVJ Medical College and Research Hospital (April 2024), Hoskote, India, i.e. MCQs (n=228) and protocol-based questions (n=10) from all 19 MBBS Subjects from standard medical literature were used to test ChatGPT. Subject experts checked the responses for accuracy. Statistical analysis, by chi-square test, was performed using IBM SPSS Version 20.0 for Windows.

**Results:** The study findings stated that ChatGPT in easy and simple MCOs, had good accuracy, but its performance lowered with more complex questions, and overall answered about 57.02% of MCQs correctly. Protocol-based questions were given average scores, i.e. 6.35/10 for textbook accurate knowledge and 5.75/10 for real-life application.

**Conclusion:** ChatGPT shows potential as a tool for medical education, especially in recalling basic facts but, it should not be relied upon as a sole source of information, instead used in conjunction with traditional methods to ensure a comprehensive understanding of medical concepts.

Keywords: Application, ChatGPT, Knowledge, MCQS, Reliability

Correspondence: MD, Pavithra M B, M.V.J Medical College and Research Hospital, Department of Community Medicine, Bangalore, India. E-mail: pavi mb@vahoo.co.in

Cite This Article: Vishal AR, Harshitha AS, Sindhu V, Abhivanth R, Pavithra MB, Madhukumar S. Assessing ChatGPT's Accuracy and Reliability in Medical Education: A Cross-Sectional Study. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 11-17.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.

(\$)

Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk | Public Health 2025;23(1)

Vishal AR. et al.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Artificial Intelligence (AI) emerged in 1955, with John McCarthy coining the term<sup>1</sup>. Since then, great progress has been made in AI, because of advances in machine learning (ML) and its subdisciplines. AI in healthcare is transforming diagnostic approaches and clinical decision-making, expanding its reach across all medical specialties <sup>2,3</sup>.

Despite the growing interest in the application of AI in medical education, there is a notable gap in understanding the reliability of AI models, especially ChatGPT, i.e. Chat Generative Pre-trained Transformer<sup>4</sup> in this context although there is a considerable discourse about the potential of AI's ability to enhance the learning experience and limited empirical evidence of its effectiveness and accuracy for delivering educational content<sup>5,6</sup>. Given the growing use of AI models such as ChatGPT in the medical field, it is essential to investigate and systematically review their reliability to address the existing knowledge gap.

As medical research and study increase, the knowledge and database also increase over a wide area<sup>7</sup>. ChatGPT offers an opportunity to access all this data and give guidance immediately<sup>8</sup>. But, before such technology is embraced, it is important to ensure its accuracy and suitability for medical education<sup>9</sup>.

AI-generated educational risks content misinformation due to probabilistic generation, leading text to occasional inaccuracies<sup>13</sup>. Over-reliance of AI can affect clinical reasoning and impair critical thinking. Complex medical issues are difficult for AI to handle, which emphasises the necessity of thorough testing before broad use in medical The main objective of this study is to evaluate the accuracy and reliability of ChatGPT (GPT-3.5, free version, accessed via OpenAI's web interface, April 2024) in handling both multiple-choice questions (MCQs) and Protocol-based questions from standard medical literature on a variety of topics, and also to make recommendations on integrating ChatGPT and similar AI technologies in medical education. Prior studies, such as Jin et al<sup>10</sup>. and Han et al<sup>11</sup>., examined AI performance on USMLE-style MCQs. This study expands on their findings by including protocol-based questions, assessing ChatGPT's accuracy, reliability, and error patterns across medical domains. It also addresses a key gap by recommending optimizations for medical education, an underexplored area.

# **METHOD**

The cross-sectional study was conducted at MVJ Medical College and Research Hospital, Hoskote, Bangalore, focusing on evaluating the reliability of the ChatGPT to answer medically relevant questions. Before doing the study, ethical clearance was obtained from the institutional ethical committee.

The study used a mixed-methods approach, including multiple-choice questions (MCQs) and protocol-based questions to assess the general reliability of the ChatGPT.

ChatGPT (GPT-3.5, free version, accessed via OpenAl's web interface, April 2024) was used in this study. As the free version does not allow user-controlled parameter adjustments (such as temperature or penalty settings), responses were generated under default system settings. All responses were recorded in a controlled academic environment to maintain consistency across multiple runs.

A total of 228 MCQs were made, with 12 questions for each of the 19 subjects of the Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery syllabus, and were classified equally according to difficulty, i.e. 4 easy, 4 medium, and 4 hard questions in each subject, from recognized medical literature, such as standard medical textbooks (e.g., Harrison's Internal Medicine<sup>14</sup>, Bailey & Love's Surgery<sup>15</sup>), reputed journals ensuring that it had a diverse and representative set of questions. The MCQs were and reviewed by subject matter experts of their respective disciplines for validity. This sample size was chosen to balance statistical robustness and feasibility while covering a wide range of medical topics for a comprehensive analysis of the performance of ChatGPT in various contexts, increasing the generality of the findings.

In addition, 10 protocol-based questions were developed to assess understanding of ChatGPT theoretically and as applied to practical matters and define grading criteria for subject matter experts to evaluate responses provided by ChatGPT.

These questions were designed to evaluate real-world application, and while a larger sample could improve reliability, this number was determined based on expert feasibility and the complexity of evaluating long-form responses. Future studies may expand this dataset for greater generalizability.

A standardized interaction protocol was followed to maintain consistency. ChatGPT was given each question without additional context beyond what a student would receive. Each question was presented as a standalone prompt to ChatGPT with no additional contextual information. For MCQs, ChatGPT was instructed: 'Select only one correct answer and provide no explanation', then a MCQ question with four options A, B, C, D. The response was noted, compared with the premade key and graded subject-wise and difficulty-wise. For protocol-based questions, prompts were structured as: 'Provide a detailed response based on standard clinical guidelines', then the problem statement was given and the response was noted. Each protocol-based response was graded by two independent subject matter experts (Professors/Associate Professors in relevant medical disciplines) using a structured rubric. The rubric assessed two aspects: (i) 'Textbook Knowledge Accuracy' (factual correctness, alignment with standard medical texts). (ii) 'Real-Life Applicability' (practicality of response, alignment with clinical guidelines). Scores were assigned on a 10-point scale, and inter-expert discrepancies were resolved through discussion.

Ensuring reproducibility in studies involving large language models is crucial, as AI-generated responses can vary due to updates and underlying model parameters. Prior research has proposed structured benchmarking frameworks to improve the reliability of AI assessments in public health and medical applications<sup>16</sup>.

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Version 20.0 for Windows. A chi-square test was used to determine statistical significance in MCQ accuracy across difficulty levels and subjects. For protocol-based questions, mean scores and standard deviations were calculated to assess variability in responses. Confidence intervals (CI) for ChatGPT's accuracy were not explicitly calculated in this study but should be explored in future research.

#### RESULTS

The study findings indicate ChatGPT's performance levels in various aspects of medical education. In Table I, when tested with multiple-choice questions, ChatGPT proved to be relatively more accurate on easy questions (n=54/76; 71.05%), and less on hard questions (n=29/76; 38.16%). Overall ChatGPT answered about 57.02% of all MCQs correctly (p: 0.0004), this shows that there is a statistically significant relationship between difficulty level and the agreement between standard reference books and ChatGPT responses.

Table 1. Performance of ChatGPT on Multiple-Choice					
Questions (	(MCQs) of Varying D	ifficulty Levels			
No. of Correct					
Difficulty	No of Questions	Responses			
Easy	76	54 (71.1%)			
Medium	76	47 (61.8%)			
Hard 76 29 (38.2%)		29 (38.2%)			
Total 228 130 (57.0%)					

Chi-Square Value: 17.86, DF: 2, P Value: 0.0004

In Table II, MCQ responses vary across medical disciplines, where high accuracy is observed in Radiology, Surgery, Anatomy, Pathology. Subjects like Dermatology (41.67%) and Community Medicine (41.67%) had lower accuracy, possibly due to the complexity of diagnostic reasoning required and the variability in treatment guidelines across different geographic regions, which may not be well-represented in ChatGPT's training data.

In Table III ChatGPT's responsiveness to protocol-based questionnaires was examined and graded in categories of textbook accurate knowledge and real-life applicability of that knowledge out of a score of 10 each by experts in the concerned topic. The average score for all questions was 6.35/10 for knowledge and 5.75/10 for application, i.e. there wasn't much difference in the scores of knowledge and application (P Value: 0.7837). While ChatGPT performed well on structured management protocols (e.g., CPR steps: 80% accuracy), its accuracy declined in decision-heavy scenarios (e.g., triage: 60%, hospital waste management: 35%). This suggests that AI performs better in well-defined protocols but struggles with contextual decision-making, possibly due to a lack of real-world clinical experience.

Table 2. Distribution of Multiple Choice Question (MCQ)
Response Accuracy Across Medical Disciplines

Subject	No of	No. of Correct
Subject	Questions	Responses
Anaesthesia	12	8 (66.7%)
Dermatology	12	5 (41.7%)
ENT	12	6 (50.0%)
Medicine	12	5 (41.7%)
Ob&G	12	8 (66.7%)
Ophthalmology	12	6 (50.0%)
Orthopaedics	12	6 (50.0%)
Paediatrics	12	6 (50.0%)
Psychiatry	12	7 (58.3%)
Radiology	12	10 (83.3%)
Surgery	12	9 (75.0%)
Anatomy	12	9 (75.0%)
Biochemistry	12	8 (66.7%)
Physiology	12	6 (50.0%)
Microbiology	12	4 (33.3%)
Pathology	12	9 (75.0%)
Pharmacology	12	6 (50.0%)
Community	10	E (41 704)
Medicine	12	5 (41.7%)
Forensic	12	7 (58 3%)
Medicine	14	/ [30.370]
Total	228	130 (57.0%)

Chi-Square Value: 17.18, DF: 18, P Value: 0.5107

Table 3. Expert Evaluation of ChatGPT's Responsiveness to Protocol-Based Questionnaires						
Sl No	Question	Knowledge	Application	P Value		
1	Management of Organophosphate Poisoning	08.0	07.0	0.6056		
2	Management of Snake Bite	06.0	06.0	1.0000		
3	Steps of CPR	08.0	08.0	1.0000		
4	Triage in Disaster Management	09.0	06.0	0.1213		
5	Treatment of Diarrhoea (Plan B)	07.0	05.0	0.3613		
6	Hospital Waste Management	03.5	03.5	1.0000		
7	Management of Heat Stroke	05.0	07.0	0.6594		
8	Treatment of Haemorrhagic Shock	06.5	06.5	1.0000		
9	Treatment of Anaphylactic Shock	03.5	03.5	1.0000		
10	Management of Myocardial Infarction	07.0	05.0	0.3613		
Average		06.35	05.75	0.7837		

# DISCUSSION

In this study, the reliability of the ChatGPT was assessed by answering multiple-choice medical questions (MCQs) and protocolbased questions. For MCQs, ChatGPT gave high accuracy for easy questions, but lowered accuracy for medium and hard questions, just over half of the MCQs were answered correctly. The questions performed well in subjects such as radiology, surgery, pathology, anatomy, etc while their accuracy was lower in dermatology, medicine, and community medicine. Although its performance on the MCQs was moderate, its ability to answer protocol-based questions accurately and appropriately was not consistent where ChatGPT got only an average score. This suggests that although ChatGPT may be useful in some tasks, such as recalling basic facts, it may not be reliable in more complex clinical situations that require clinical consideration.

A similar study done by Jin et al <sup>10</sup> used 12723 MCQ questions and got 36.7% correct responses, while another by Han et al <sup>11</sup>, got 29% on using 454 USMLE MCQ questions. Our study found a higher MCQ accuracy (57.02%), which may be due to differences in question complexity and dataset selection. Unlike these studies, our work also includes protocol-based questions, providing insights into ChatGPT's clinical reasoning abilities beyond factual recall.

The strength of this study is its methodical technique used in this study to evaluate the performance of the ChatGPT across a range of clinical topics and questions. Comprehensive assessment across all 19 MBBS subjects, unlike previous studies focusing only on USMLE MCQs. Mixed-methods approach, incorporating both MCQs and protocol-based questions. Use of standardized grading rubrics for protocol-based questions to enhance consistency.

Limitations of the study include the small sample of protocol-based questions of only 10 cases limit generalizability. Given the complexity of protocol-based questions, a larger sample size was not feasible for detailed expert grading. Future studies should expand this dataset for greater generalizability. Increasing the sample size would enhance statistical robustness. And reliance on subjective grading by subject matter experts may introduce a potential bias. Future studies should use inter-rater reliability scores. Moreover, the study of the performance of ChatGPT was examined only in a controlled setting and did not assess its usefulness in a real-world clinical setting. Since ChatGPT is continuously updated, responses may vary over time. This study represents a snapshot of its performance and highlights the need for ongoing validation as AI models evolve.

# CONCLUSION

Based on the findings, it can be concluded that although ChatGPT shows potential as a complementary tool for medical education, it should not be relied upon as the sole source of information. AI tools such as ChatGPT should be approached with a lot of caution by medical students and professionals and used along with traditional teaching methods to ensure a proper understanding of correct medical concepts.

Further research is required to further investigate the validity and reliability of ChatGPT, and its limitations in medical education, and to explore the integration of other AI tools into existing medical curricula and clinical practice to determine its practical benefits and impact on patient care. AI tools should be used as supplementary aids, not as standalone sources of medical knowledge. Institutions could incorporate AI-generated MCQs for self-assessment, with faculty moderation to correct misinformation. Future studies should compare ChatGPT's performance with other LLMs (e.g., GPT-4, Claude, Med-PaLM) using a standardized evaluation framework.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENT

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Financial support:** The authors received no financial support for this article's research, authorship and /or publiscation.

**Ethical Declaration:** The research/study approved by the Institutional Review Board of the relevant college , number MVJMC&RH/IEC-125/2024, dated 14-02-24

**Author Contribution:** ARV, ASH, AVS, AR, PMB, SM: Conception and design of paper. ARV, ASH, AVS, AR, PMB, SM: Data Collection, analysis and interpretation. ARV: Draft Manuscript. ARV, ASH, AVS, AR, PMB, SM: Critical Revision of Article. ARV, ASH, AVS, AR, PMB, SM: Final Approval of the version intended for publication.

**Thanks:** Mr Suresha, Statistician for his valuable insight.

# REFERENCES

- McCarthy, J., Minsky, M.L., Rochester, N. and Shannon, C.E. 2006. A Proposal for the Dartmouth Summer Research Project on Artificial Intelligence, August 31, 1955. *AI Magazine*. 27, 4 (Dec. 2006), 12. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1609/aimag.v27i4.1904.
- Chen J. Playing to our human strengths to prepare medical students for the future. *Korean J Med Educ*. 2017;29(3):193-197. doi:10.3946/kjme.2017.65
- Meskó B, Hetényi G, Győrffy Z. Will artificial intelligence solve the human resource crisis in healthcare? *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2018;18(1):545. Published 2018 Jul 13. doi:10.1186/s12913-018-3359-4
- 4. OpenAI. ChatGPT [Internet]. OpenAI API; 2022
- Savery M, Abacha AB, Gayen S, Demner-Fushman D. Question-driven summarization of answers to consumer health questions. *Sci Data*. 2020;7(1):322. Published 2020 Oct 2. doi:10.1038/ s41597-020-00667-z
- 6. Gutiérrez BJ, McNeal N, Washington C, Chen Y, Li L, Sun H, et al. Thinking about GPT-3 in-context learning for biomedical IE? Think again. arXiv.

Preprint posted online on November 5, 2022. [doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2203.08410]

- 7. Kolachalama, V. B., & Garg, P. S. (2018). Machine learning and medical education. *NPJ digital medicine*, *1*(1), 54.
- 8. Zarei M, Mamaghani HE, Abbasi A, Hosseini M. Application of artificial intelligence in medical education: A review of benefits, challenges, and solutions. Medicina Clínica Práctica. doi:10.1016/j. mcpsp.2023.100422
- Sun L, Yin C, Xu Q, Zhao W. Artificial intelligence for healthcare and medical education: a systematic review. *Am J Transl Res.* 2023;15(7):4820-4828. Published 2023 Jul 15
- Jin, Di & Pan, Eileen & Oufattole, Nassim & Weng, Wei-Hung & Fang, Hanyi & Szolovits, Peter. (2021). What Disease Does This Patient Have? A Large-Scale Open Domain Question Answering Dataset from Medical Exams. Applied Sciences. 11. 6421. 10.3390/app11146421.
- Ha LA, Yaneva V. Automatic question answering for medical MCQs: can it go further than information retrieval? In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Recent Advances in Natural Language Processing (RANLP 2019). 2019 Presented at RANLP 2019; September 2-4, 2019; Varna, Bulgaria p. 418-422. [doi: 10.26615/978-954-452-056-4\_049

- 12. Xu X, Chen Y, Miao J. Opportunities, challenges, and future directions of large language models, including ChatGPT in medical education: a systematic scoping review. J Educ Eval Health Prof [Internet]. 2024;21:6. [doi: 10.3352/ jeehp.2024.21.6]
- Mackey BP, Garabet R, Maule L, Tadesse A, Cross J, Weingarten M. Evaluating ChatGPT-4 in medical education: an assessment of subject exam performance reveals limitations in clinical curriculum support for students. Discov Artif Intell [Internet]. 2024;4(1). [doi: 10.1007/s44163-024-00135-2]
- 14. Harrison TR, Braunwald E. Harrison's principles of internal medicine. 15th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; 2002
- O'Connell PR, McCaskie AW, Sayers RD, editors. Bailey & love's short practice of surgery - 28th edition. 28th ed. London, England: CRC Press; 2023.
- Espinosa L, Salathé M. Use of large language models as a scalable approach to understanding public health discourse. PLOS Digit Health [Internet]. 2024;3(10):e0000631 [doi: 10.1371/journal. pdig.0000631]

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Screening of cervical cancer using Smart scope at a Rural Health Training Centre, Pune, India: A cross-sectional study

Deetu Choudhary<sup>1</sup>, D Manju Talathi<sup>2</sup>, Arvinder Pal Singh Narula<sup>1</sup>, D Sujata Murarkar<sup>1</sup>,

<sup>1</sup>MD, Bharati Vidyapeeth Deemed University Medical College, Pune, India <sup>2</sup> PhD, Bharati Vidyapeeth Deemed University Medical College, Pune, India <sup>3</sup> BAMS, Bharati Vidyapeeth Deemed University Medical College, Pune, India

Received: 18.07.2024, Accepted: 26.02.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** To screen women for cervical cancer using Smart scope at a Rural Health Training Center, Pune, India.

**Methods:** The present study analyzed available screening data using a cross-sectional design. A private medical college's rural health training center provides screening services to women above 30 years of age as per the Government of India's guidelines. The guidelines include visual inspection after applying acetic acid (VIA). The study included data from June 2019 to January 2020, when a principal investigator was posted in a rural health training center. The study participants were married women. We screened all women giving consent. The authors used a Smart scope (image capturing and transmitting device), Cusco's speculum, and acetic acid. The images were immediately transmitted to faculty from the Obstetrics and Gynecology department for prompt opinion.

**Results:** Out of 1,232 women, 179 consented. The mean age was 37.7 years. (SD=8.62). Eightythree women showed cervical pathologies, and 14 were VIA positive. The majority of the women had vaginal discharge. The most common pathological lesion was cervical erosion (32.12%). The study found no association between age and parity with cervical pathological findings.

**Conclusion:** Smart scope helps prompt diagnosis of the condition of the cervix. Visualizing the photo of cervical pathology by the women enhances the patient's health care seeking. It is a feasible and cost-effective process that overcomes the limitations of VIA.

Keywords: Cervical Screening, Smart Scope, Cervical Cancer, Cervical Pathologies

**Correspondence:** M.D., D.N.B., Ph.D., Prakash Doke, Bharati Vidyapeeth Deemed University Medical College, Pune, India **E-mail:** prakash.doke@gmail.com

**Cite This Article:** Choudhary N, Talathi M, Narula APS, Murarkar S, Sancheti S, Doke P. Screening of cervical cancer using Smart scope at a Rural Health Training Centre, Pune, India: a cross-sectional study. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 18-24.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.* 



Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/.

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NO NO International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

Cervical cancer is an important cause of mortality among women and is an increasing health problem across the globe. Worldwide, cervical cancer is the fourth most frequent cancer in women with an estimated 660,000 new cases and 350,000 deaths in 2022. Out of total deaths 94% occur in low- and middleincome countries.<sup>1</sup> In developed countries the incidence has decreased after using Papanicolaou smear (Pap smear).<sup>2</sup>

Cervical cancer ranks as the 2nd most frequent cancer among women in India and third number among causes of cancer deaths. About 5.0% of women in the general population are estimated to harbor cervical HPV-16/18 infection at a given time, and 83.2% of invasive cervical cancers are attributed to HPVs 16 or 18.<sup>3</sup>

There is a difference in the incidence of cervical cancer in developing and developed countries. This is because of the better screening facility and knowledge in the developed countries due to which the cases have been significantly reduced while the developing countries like India, which lacks the screening facility and knowledge, the burden of cervical cancer is still high. According to the World Cancer statistics, >80% of all cervical cancer cases are found in developing and low-income countries, because of a lack of awareness and difficulty in running cytology-based screening programs.<sup>4</sup> India's National Cancer Control Program emphasizes the importance of early detection and treatment, but the country has no organized screening program, and many Indian women lack both awareness about the disease and access to prevention and treatment facilities.<sup>5</sup> Even if women from rural settings can reach distant clinics to get Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

their Pap smear, the test takes four to five days to be processed. As a result, many women do not return for follow-up because they cannot afford to take another day off from work.<sup>6</sup> In India, the guidelines for communitybased cervical screening programs based on visual inspection by acetic acid (VIA) were formulated in the year 2005.7 Sensitivity and specificity of VIA were reported to be in the range of 67% to 79% and 49% to 86% respectively and those for Visual Inspection after Lugol Iodine were 77.8% to 98%, and 73% to 91.3%, respectively.8 Government of India has advised screening of all women above 30 years using VIA. However, visual screening tests have limitations like extreme subjectivity in interpreting tests, lack of permanent records, low reproducibility, overestimation, and overtreatment.9 Hence telemedicine (image transmission) component was started in Rural Health Training Center. With the help of Smart scope and visual inspection by VIA pathological assessment can be conducted. It saves images that may be transmitted for the opinion of gynecologists.<sup>10</sup> Early detection and appropriate treatment are possible if robust screening is implemented. Therefore, the use of Smart scope in the rural area serves the purpose of screening cervical pathology as the process is easy, feasible, and cost-effective. Smart scope aids in visual screening methods for the detection of various cervical lesions. This study aimed at the Screening of cervical cancer using Smart scope at a Rural Health Training Centre, Pune, India.

# **Objectives**

To identify the types of cervical pathologies using Smart scope

To estimate the prevalence of cervical pathologies

To assess the association of age with cervical pathologies

To assess the association of parity with cervical pathologies

#### **METHODS**

It was a cross-sectional study conducted in the rural field practice area of a private medical college in 2019-20. Field practice area of the center consists of 23 villages having a population of about 52,000. The population and services are comparable to a primary health center. Study participants were women, attending the outpatient department. The inclusion criteria were any woman above the age of 18 years, married and who were sexually active. The exclusion criteria were woman having diagnoses cancer cervix or history of treatment of cervical cancer. All women fulfilling the inclusion and exclusion criteria and agreeing to the cervical screening were included. They were counseled first before actual the screening test. Research tools used for detection of cervical pathologies were a Smart scope (A probe with the camera, tablet, and internet connection), Cusco's speculum, and Acetic acid. Apart from the device, disposables and cleaning agent is required for smooth functioning. The total cost per year was about \$4,000. The cost It facilitates close examination and magnified visualization of the cervix thereby enables identification of abnormalities or precancerous changes at an early stage. It helps keep track of the cervical health of an individual patient over many years.<sup>11</sup> The females coming to general outpatient department (OPD) or outreach camps of Rural Health and Training Center, of a private Medical College were counselled to go for cervical screening. Consent was taken from the study participant before

the examination. After taking the consent, females were examined maintaining full privacy. The vagina and cervix were examined with the help of Cusco's speculum and Smart scope. The photographs were clicked. Then visual inspection was done after one minute of application of 5% acetic acid and again we took photographs.

The photographs from the tab were taken post application of 5% acetic acid. The images were also shown to women. The photographs were immediately sent by the app to the senior faculty of the Obstetrics and Gynecology Department of the Medical College Hospital. If any pre-cancerous lesions/cancer/ any pathology was suspected by the specialist, then the participants were referred for further investigations. The pictures of cervical pathologies were shown to the participant women. Data were entered into an excel sheet and analyzed using SPSS version 28. The authors applied one-way ANOVA test to assess significance between means.

# RESULTS

We counseled 1232 women; only 179 consented and had undergone cervical screening. The mean age of screened women was 37.7 years (SD=8.62). The mean parity was 2.34. Most of the women attended OPD as they were having some symptoms. Many women complained having more than one symptom. Figure 1 gives the proportion of women having symptoms. Majority women had vaginal discharge. Only five percent women came for routine check-up. Many women were having multiple symptoms.



**Figure 1.** Distribution of women according to symptoms

Figure 2 gives details of women enrolled, consented for screening, VIA and cervical pathologies confirmed by Smart scope.

The majority of the women i.e. 53.63% displayed healthy cervix. Commonest

pathological lesion was cervical erosion (32.12%). Table 1 provides information about all pathologies observed as well association of age and parity according to the cervical pathology.



**Figure 2.** Classification of visual inspection after acetic acid application

Table 1. Association of age and parity with cervical pathologies						
Pathology	Frequ	iency(%)	Mean age (SD)	Mean parity (SD)		
Healthy	96	(53.6)	38.50 (9.3)	2.33 (0.1)		
Erosion	62	(34.6)	37.27 (7.2)	2.37 (0.1)		
Mixed infection	15	(8.4)	38.57 (6.6)	2.17 (0.2)		
Polyp	6	(3.4)	41.33 (6.8)	2.67 (0.5)		
Total		179	37.77 (8.6)	2.34 (0.5)		
			p=0.57	p=0.77		

The examples of the typical appearance and clarity of transferred images of cervix and which were shown to the participants are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Images of cervical pathologies

# DISCUSSION

In the present study after counseling 1232 females, very few women agreed upon the

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

screening of cervical cancer. Alyse et al. observed that only 14.3% participants had at least one-lifetime pelvic exam and 7.1% had undergone cervical screening.<sup>12</sup> The less acceptance for screening has origin in lack of knowledge about cancer cervix and screening procedure. Married young women from a higher socioeconomic status were more likely to be screened. Concerning knowledge of cervical cancer, 84.6% of women had poor knowledge, 10.3% had moderate knowledge, and 5.1% had good knowledge.<sup>12</sup> Charity Binka et al. also mentioned in their study that low level of knowledge about the disease and screening services, personal or psychological convictions, and cost of screening and treatment coupled

with a low level of income were the barriers at the individual level.<sup>13</sup> A number of studies have come out with similar findings. For instance, it was established that in the low and middleincome countries, especially in rural areas, knowledge and awareness of cervical cancer screening are very low, and this is one of the main factors that constrain women's uptake of cervical cancer screening initiatives.<sup>14-16</sup> In the present study maximum women presented with vaginal discharge as one of the symptoms. Similar findings were revealed by Magdi et. al.<sup>17</sup> Amos et al. observed in their study that the majority of participants attributed initial symptoms of vaginal discharge and itching to Sexually Transmitted Diseases including syphilis and/ or gonorrhea.<sup>18</sup> A study conducted on diagnosis and management of cancer of cervix presented abnormal vaginal bleeding, vaginal discharge and lower abdominal pain as the most common first symptoms reported by participants.19 A study conducted on diagnosis and management of cancer of cervix presented abnormal vaginal bleeding, vaginal discharge and lower abdominal pain as the most common first symptoms reported by participants.<sup>19</sup> A study conducted in population of Goa among women aged 18-50 years, observed that 53% of their study population were found to have infections causing their discharges, the figure is considerably higher than the 14.5%.<sup>20</sup>particularly among women in Asia. Although presumed to be caused by reproductive tract infections (RTIs Present study showed that there is no association of age and parity with cervical outcomes. The results are supported by another study by Acharya et al. who mentioned that age, parity, perceived susceptibility, perceived benefits, and perceived barriers had no significant association with cervical cancer whereas, in contrast.<sup>21</sup> A study by Nubia et al. found a direct association between the number of full-term pregnancies and squamous-cell cancer risk: the odds ratio for seven fullterm pregnancies or more was 3.8 (95% Cl  $2 \cdot 7 - 5 \cdot 5$ ) compared with nulliparous women, and  $2 \cdot 3$  ( $1 \cdot 6 - 3 \cdot 2$ ) compared with women who had one or two full-term pregnancies. There was no significant association between the risk of adenocarcinoma or adenosquamous carcinoma and the number of full-term pregnancies.<sup>22</sup> A comparative study between age and parity with cervical cancer reported that there is no relation between squamous intraepithelial lesions incidence and increasing age but a correlation with increasing parity. There is the rise in squamous intraepithelial lesions incidence was seen with increasing parity in adult women between 21-40 years.<sup>23</sup> Multiparity as risk factor of cervical cancer has also been stressed in their rural findings by Rajput et al, Das Gupta et al. <sup>24,25</sup> Green et al. in their study have correlated early age at the first sexual intercourse and subsequent child birth with risk of carcinoma cervix.<sup>26</sup> The greatest advantage of the study was the participant women seen photos of their cervical lesion which improve their compliance to referral. In some areas of outreach camps including our institution, the real-time transmission was not possible due to poor connectivity.

# **CONCLUSION**

The study concluded that the positivity among symptomatic was about 16% whereas, among non-symptomatic, it was about 1 %, indicating mandatory screening among symptomatic. The use of Smart scope may play a promising role in combating all the barriers and help in detection of the condition of the cervix, providing prompt diagnosis and advice to the patient. With marginal one time increase in resources; it can be used by private practitioners and health centers.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors sincerely thank Principal of Bharati Vidyapeeth Deemed University Medical College, Pune, Dr. Mandar Karmarkar. We also thank Dr. J.S. Gothankar, Professor and Head Department of Community Medicine. We thank all the women who have undergone screening procedure.

# Conflict of interest: Nil

**Financial Support:** The study did not receive any financial support.

**Ethical considerations**: Approval was obtained from the institutional ethics committee prior to the study.

**Authors Contributions:** Concept: PD, APSN, MT, Data collection: NC, MT, APSN, SS, Supervision: PD, SM, MT, APSN, Analysis and interpretation: NC, PD, Literature search: NC, PD, Manuscript writing: NC, PD, SM, Critical review: PD, MT. All authors have approved final manuscript.

# REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Cervical cancer. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/cervical-cancer. Published 2024. Accessed June 23, 2024.
- 2. Canavan TP, Doshi NR. Cervical Cancer. 2000;61(5):1369-1376.
- 3. ICO/IARC Information Centre on HPV and Cancer. India Human Papillomavirus and Related Cancers, II. Complementary data on cervical cancer prevention. 2023;2023:1-2. www.hpvcentre.net.
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: Sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136(5):E359-E386. doi:10.1002/ ijc.29210.

- 5. July O, Pashi A. Rural Indian Women Face Heightened Cervical Cancer Risks. 2019;(November 2004):1-9.
- Health Policy Watch. Cervical Health For A Lifetime

   The Indian Smart Scope Innovation As A Key Tool
   For Early Cancer Detection Health Policy Watch.
   15/11/2020.
- Raamamoorthy K. Guidelines for Cervical Cancer Screening Programme. 2006;(November 2005):1-42.
- Sankaranarayanan R, Basu P, Wesley RS, et al. Accuracy of visual screening for cervical neoplasia: Results from an IARC multicentre study in India and Africa. Int J Cancer. 2004;110(6):907-913. doi:10.1002/ijc.20190.
- Rahatgaonkar V, Uchale P, Oka G. Comparative Study of Smart Scope® Visual Screening Test with Naked Eye Visual Screening and Pap Test. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2020;21(12):3509. doi:10.31557/ APJCP.2020.21.12.3509.
- 10. Poli UR, Bidinger PD, Gowrishankar S. Visual Inspection with Acetic Acid (VIA) Screening Program: 7 Years Experience in Early Detection of Cervical Cancer and Pre-Cancers in Rural South India. Indian J Community Med. 2015;40(3):203. doi:10.4103/0970-0218.158873.
- 11. SMART SCOPE A trans-vaginal digital imaging device for single-visit cervical screening test. BIRAC 3i Portal. https://birac.nic.in/productdetail.php?product=169. Accessed July 4, 2024.
- Reichheld A, Mukherjee PK, Rahman SM, David K V., Pricilla RA. Prevalence of Cervical Cancer Screening and Awareness among Women in an Urban Community in South India—A Cross Sectional Study. Ann Glob Heal. 2020;86(1). doi:10.5334/AOGH.2735.
- 13. Binka C, Nyarko SH, Awusabo-Asare K, Doku DT. Barriers to the Uptake of Cervical Cancer Screening and Treatment among Rural Women in Ghana. Biomed Res Int. 2019;2019. doi:10.1155/2019/6320938.
- 14. McFarland DM. Cervical cancer and Pap smear screening in Botswana: knowledge and perceptions. Int Nurs Rev. 2003;50(3):167-175. doi:10.1046/J.1466-7657.2003.00195.X.
- 15. Markovic M, Kesic V, Topic L, Matejic B. Barriers to cervical cancer screening: A qualitative study with women in Serbia. Soc Sci Med. 2005;61(12):2528-2535. doi:10.1016/J.SOCSCIMED.2005.05.001.
- Fort VK, Makin MS, Siegler AJ, Ault K, Rochat R. Barriers to cervical cancer screening in Mulanje, Malawi: a qualitative study. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2011;5:125-131. doi:10.2147/PPA. S17317.

- Salih M, Alhag F, Khalifa M, El Nabi A. Cervical cytopathological changes among women with vaginal discharge attending teaching hospital. J Cytol. 2017;34(2):90. doi:10.4103/JOC. JOC\_214\_15.
- 18. Mwaka AD, Okello ES, Wabinga H, Walter FM. Symptomatic presentation with cervical cancer in Uganda: a qualitative study assessing the pathways to diagnosis in a low-income country. BMC Womens Health. 2015;15(1). doi:10.1186/S12905-015-0167-4.
- Petignat P, Roy M. Diagnosis and management of cervical cancer. Br Med J. 2007;335(7623):765-768. doi:10.1136/bmj.39337.615197.80.
- Patel V, Pednekar S, Weiss H, et al. Why do women complain of vaginal discharge? A population survey of infectious and pyschosocial risk factors in a South Asian community. Int J Epidemiol. 2005;34(4):853-862. doi:10.1093/ije/dyi072.
- 21. Acharya A, Varkey LC, Menezes L, et al. Acharya et al. Respond. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(7):e1. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302725.
- 22. Muñoz N, Franceschi S, Bosetti C, et al. Role of parity and human papillomavirus in cervical cancer: the IARC multicentric case-control study. Lancet. 2002;359(9312):1093-1101. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(02)08151-5.

- 23. Misra JS, Srivastava AN, Zaidi ZH. Comparative Assessment of Age and parity as risk factors of Cervical Cancer in Rural women population of Lucknow, India. Innov J Med Heal Sci. 2020;10(08):1217-1221. doi:10.15520/IJMHS. V10I08.3077.
- 24. Dasgupta P, Aitken JF, Condon J, et al. Temporal and area-level variation in prevalence of high-grade histologically confirmed cervical abnormalities among Indigenous and non-Indigenous women, Queensland, Australia, 2008–2017: https://doi. org/101177/0969141320984199. January 2021. doi:10.1177/0969141320984199.
- Rajput N, Verma YS, Ahirwar G. 'Detection of Abnormal Cervical Cytology By Pap'S Smear and Comparison Between Rural and Urban Women.' J Evol Med Dent Sci. 2013;2(41):7923-7930. doi:10.14260/jemds/1396.
- 26. Green JA, Kirwan JM, Tierney JF, et al. Survival and recurrence after concomitant chemotherapy and radiotherapy for cancer of the uterine cervix: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet (London, England). 2001;358(9284):781-786. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05965-7.

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Effect of green tea and wheat bran on professional drivers with metabolic syndrome: A controlled clinical trial

ம Mohammad Reza Behboudi1, ம Mohammad Hossein Ebrahimi2, ம Majid Mirmohammadkhani3,

ம Mohammad Amin Pour¹, மRohangiz Basati⁴, ம Mina Shayestefar⁵

<sup>1</sup>Student Research Committee, Semnan University of Medical Sciences, Semnan, Iran

<sup>2</sup> Assoc. Prof., Environmental and Occupational Health Research Center, Shahroud University of Medical Sciences, Shahroud, Iran

<sup>3</sup> Prof. Dr., Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Semnan University of Medical Sciences, Semnan, Iran <sup>4</sup>M.Sc., Clinical Research Development Center, Imam Reza Hospital, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah. Iran

<sup>5</sup> Ph.D. Candidate, Sorkheh School of Allied Medical Sciences, Semnan University of Medical Sciences, Semnan, Iran Received: 29.07.2024, Accepted: 13.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** The present study aims to investigate the effect of Green Tea (GT) and Wheat Bran (WB) on Metabolic Syndrome in male drivers.

**Methods:** A controlled clinical trial was conducted with two intervention groups (GT and WB) and a control group on ninety male drivers with metabolic syndrome. Random allocation was done using permuted block randomization. Before the intervention, parametric measurements (height, weight, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and abdominal circumference) and blood tests (fasting blood sugar (FBS), triglycerides (TG), high-density lipoprotein (HDL)) were checked. The GT group consumed three cups of GT tea bags (1gr) daily, and the WB group received 3.5 grams of WB powder daily. After two months, measurements and tests were repeated.

**Results:** There were no significant differences in blood pressure among the groups (p>0.05). The GT group showed a decrease in weight, FBS, and TG, as well as an increase in HDL. The WB group also exhibited a decrease in FBS and TG and an increase in HDL. A significant increase was found in the HDL level in the GT group before and after the intervention (p < 0.05).

**Conclusion:** Consumption of green tea has been effective in reducing the number of patients with metabolic syndrome, and consumption of green tea and wheat bran can positively increase HDL. Also, green tea can be effective in reducing weight, FBS, and TG in male drivers suffering from metabolic syndrome.

Keywords: Metabolic Syndrome, Clinical Trial, Green Tea, Wheat Bran

Correspondence: Ph.D. Candidate, Mina Shayestefar, Sorkheh School of Allied Medical Sciences, Semnan University of Medical Sciences, Semnan, Iran E-mail: m.shavestefar@semums.ac.ir

Cite This Article: Behboudi MR, Ebrahimi MH, Mirmohammadkhani M, Pour MA, Basati R, Shayestefar M. Effect of green tea and wheat bran on professional drivers with metabolic syndrome: A controlled clinical trial. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 25-34.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.

(=) (S)

Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk | Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) is a multifactorial metabolic disorder characterized by hypertension, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and impaired glucose homeostasis <sup>1</sup>. MetS is a set of physiological and biochemical abnormalities that affects about 20-25% of adults in developing countries <sup>2</sup>. MetS and its components are the most important health

problems in the 21st century and have a growing trend in developed and developing countries <sup>3</sup>. MetS is estimated to affect 27.46% to 33.7% of Iranian adults <sup>4</sup>. This syndrome directly increases atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases <sup>5</sup>. Based on the ATP III definition, cardiovascular diseases are the first consequence of MetS <sup>3</sup>.

MetS based on the ATP III and IDF definitions is shown in the following table.

Table 1. Definitions of metabolic syndrome					
	Modified NCEP ATP III 27, 28, 29	<b>IDF</b> <sup>26</sup>			
Absolutely required	None	Central obesity (waist circumference) ≥ 94 cm			
Criteria	Any three of the five criteria below	Obesity, plus two of the four criteria below			
Obesity	Waist circumference: >40 inches (102 cm)	Central obesity already required			
Hyperglycemia	Fasting glucose $\geq 100 \text{ mg/dl or Rx}^*$	Fasting glucose≥ 100 mg/dl or Rx			
Plasma triglycerides	TG ≥150 mg/dl or Rx	$TG \ge 150 \text{ mg/dl or } Rx$			
HDL cholesterol	<40 mg/dl or Rx	<40 mg/dl or Rx			
Hypertension	>130 mmHg systolic or >85 mmHg diastolic or Rx	>130 mmHg systolic or >85 mmHg diastolic or Rx			

NCEP: ATP III: National Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III.

IDF: International Diabetes Federation.

\* Rx, pharmacologic treatment.

Most people with MetS are elderly, inactive, obese, and have some degree of insulin resistance. The most important risk factors include genetic history, obesity, especially abdominal obesity, lifestyle, inactivity, stress, smoking, etc. <sup>3</sup>.

Obesity is one of the factors that can cause MetS and is rapidly becoming a major threat in developing countries <sup>6</sup>. In the cohort study of 10,086 people aged 35 to 65 in western Iran, Najafi et al. (2018) reported that 26.7% of the study population was obese <sup>7</sup> Also, in a study of 2818 citizens of East Azerbaijan, Tabrizi et al. (2018) reported the prevalence of overweight, obesity, and abdominal obesity at 39.6%, 24%, and 76.4%, respectively <sup>8</sup>.

Green tea (GT) (Camellia sinensis) is one of the oldest beverages in the world and also *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*  one of the most studied beverages, especially its role in the prevention of coronary heart disease. Clinical and epidemiological evidence shows that GT consumption is associated with an improved lipid profile and body weight loss <sup>9, 10, 11</sup>. Due to the presence of its catechins, GT is effective in breaking down fats into triglycerides, suppressing adipogenesis, increasing metabolism through thermogenesis, and excreting fecal lipids <sup>12</sup>.

Wheat bran (WB) (residue of milled wheat grain<sup>13</sup>) is also associated with improved gastrointestinal health and reduced risk of colorectal cancer, cardiovascular disease, and metabolic disorders.

These benefits are likely mediated by a combination of mechanisms, including colonic fermentation of WB fiber, stool

bulking, and prevention of oxidative damage due to its antioxidant capacities <sup>14</sup>. Shortterm consumption of breakfasts containing insoluble WB improves health, digestive feeling status, and intestinal function <sup>15</sup>. The distribution of WB components as measured by dry matter is 55-60% non-starch carbohydrates, 14-25% starch, 13-18% protein, 3-8% minerals, and 3-4% fat <sup>16</sup>.

WB and GT are two accessible substances with different beneficial effects on body systems, which can be a suitable choice for research on metabolic syndrome. Today, considering the effects of MetS on the cardiovascular system, the high prevalence of this syndrome, and the importance of the health of drivers on the individual and society, as well as the few studies of the effects of consuming GT and WB to control it, researchers decided to investigate impacts of GT and WB in controlling this MetS in drivers based on the ATP III definition due to the nature of the driving job.

# **METHODS**

The current study is a controlled clinical trial with two intervention groups of GT, WT, and one control group, implemented from March to November 2023. Of all the male professional drivers with MetS in Shahroud who had electronic health records at Kasra Specialized Center for Occupational Medicine, 90 patients in the age group of 40-50 years old due to the higher probability of onset of MetS in middle age, higher cooperation and the possibility of better education were selected. A total of 30 participants were allocated to each of the three groups (intervention group 1, intervention group 2, and control group), resulting in 90 participants in total. This sample size was chosen to ensure adequate statistical power (80%) to detect meaningful differences between groups, considering an alpha level of 0.05 and a medium effect size. The sample size for each group (considering three groups in total) was calculated using appropriate statistical software, such as G\*Power.

Drivers who had 3 out of 5 indicators for MetS based on the ATP III definition were considered to have metabolic syndrome. The total number of drivers was 948, and based on this definition of metabolic syndrome, 392 drivers were affected. A total of 90 people from all patients were selected to participate in the study using convenience sampling. Inclusion criteria included age 40-50 years, good cooperation, and easy accessibility. Exclusion criteria also included drivers with a history of gastrointestinal disease, a history of gastrointestinal liver disease, being treated with corticosteroid drugs (which causes excess weight due to peripheral edema), and unwillingness to continue participation in the study.

Then, the random allocation was carried out using permuted block randomization, and the participants were entered into two intervention groups; GT and WB (n=30, in each group) and one control group (n=30).

Before the study, written informed consent was obtained from participants. The study objectives and methodology were clarified for each participant, and they were assured that if they requested, they would be accepted to withdraw from the research project. After explaining the contents of the informed consent and obtaining it, the active participation of the participants during the study was requested. All participants were assured that all the information provided by them would be kept confidential by the researcher. The participants were also reminded that participation in the study is completely voluntary and they are allowed to decide whether to continue or stop cooperating with the researcher at any stage of the study.

To participate in the study, the participants completed the demographic information questionnaire. Before the intervention, parametric measurements (height, weight, systolic, diastolic blood pressure, and abdominal circumference) and blood tests (FBS, TG, HDL) were checked by two nurses.

A calibrated digital weighing scale (10gram precision) and a wall-mounted height rod were used. Also, blood pressure measurements for all participants were conducted on the right arm using a validated oscillometric sphygmomanometer (Brisk Model PG-800B16, Germany). Each participant's blood pressure was recorded at least twice, with a minimum five-minute between measurements, interval while seated and after a rest period of at least five minutes. To ensure accurate readings, the procedure followed the American Heart Association guidelines, which recommend that participants remain seated and relaxed for at least five minutes before measurement. avoid smoking, coffee, or tea consumption, use a cuff that fits the arm circumference properly, and refrain from speaking during the measurement process. The tests were performed using the microplate ELISA reader and the kits of Parsazmun company and with the specificity, and sensitivity values specified in the table below.

Table 2. Specifications of blood tests and laboratory kits						
Test	Unit	Sensitivity	Normal range	company	Year	Method
HDL-C	mg/dL	1 mg/dL	$\geq$ 35 mg/dL	Parsazmun kit	2023	600 nm
TG	mg/dL	1 mg/dL	<200 mg/dL	Parsazmun kit	2023	546 nm
FBS	mg/dL	5 mg/dL	70-115 mg/dL	Parsazmun kit	2023	546 nm

The GT group received three cups of sugarfree or milk-free GT bags (1gr) daily <sup>17</sup>, and the WB group also received 3.5 grams of WB powder <sup>15</sup> daily orally and according to the individual's taste in combination with yogurt or rice with hygienic packaging and standard logo. Daily consumption of 3 cups of water was suggested for the control group. The literature review showed no side effects for these two substances at these two suggested amounts. There were also two similar articles suggesting 3 cups and 4 cups of GT, which due to the prevention of possible harmful effects, the lower amount (3 cups) was chosen <sup>17</sup>. The control group received their previous dietary regimen but without both green tea and wheat bran, allowing for a clearer comparison of the

specific effects of each intervention. Also, it was mentioned to all the participants that if any new dietary or treatment regimens started, it should be informed to the researchers.

To ensure participants' adherence to the study protocol or monitor probability digestive problems, they were called every two weeks.

After the completion of the present study (two months), tests and parametric measurements were repeated. Throughout the study period, all samples were monitored and followed up by the project executive. Then, the changes in the definition items of MetS based on ATP were measured again.

Before the study, the code of ethics was

received from Semnan University of Medical Sciences (IR.SEMUMS.REC.1398.274) and the present research project was registered in the Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials with the code IRCT20200217046524N1. Then permission to conduct the study was obtained from Semnan University of Medical Sciences. Finally, the collected data were analyzed using descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation) and inferential statistical tests (correlation, t-student, ANOVA, and regression) in SPSS ver. 23. Values of p < 0.05were considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

There were 25 individuals in the GT group, 23 in the WB group, and 26 in the control

group. Dropout reasons were participants' withdrawal and digestive problems during the study. The mean  $\pm$  SD age of each group was 49.04  $\pm$ 7.62, 48.52  $\pm$  7.72, and 47.26  $\pm$  8.36, respectively, and the overall age range was 48.25  $\pm$  7.85 years.

Initially, all the participants in all three groups had metabolic syndrome, but after the intervention, this syndrome was not reported in 7 cases from the GT group and 3 from the WB group based on the ATP III definition, and this reduction in the GT group was statistically significant (p<0.05).

The mean  $\pm$  SD of metabolic syndrome variables before and after the intervention in all groups is shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Mean ±SD of Metabolic syndrome variables before and after the intervention in three groups					
Variable	Crown	Mean ±SD			
	Group	Before the intervention	After the intervention		
	Green tea	131.64±10.72	129.20±10.91		
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Wheat bran	135.34±11.89	136.78±16.56		
	Control	$138.42{\pm}16.68$	133.84±16.31		
	Green tea	82.68±7.56	$80.60 \pm 7.68$		
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Wheat bran	81.17±9.06	85.17±12.61		
	Control	84.19±10.29	83.50±7.42		
	Green tea	113.20±41.01	116.28±42.64		
FBS (mg/dL)	Wheat bran	118.56±40.56	116.56±39.13		
	Control	117.38±42.51	116.03±37.04		
TG (mg/dL)	Green tea	243.60±69.43	233.24±122.16		
- (g,)	Wheat bran	237.04±108.78	204.30±62.00		
	Control	219.38±66.36	199.46±63.75		
	Green tea	35.84±2.85	37.84±5.01		
HDL (mg/dL)	Wheat bran	36.82±2.05	38.13±2.78		
	Control	36.00±2.48	37.11±3.43		
	Green tea	105.08±11.20	105.24±9.72		
Abdominal circumference (cm)	Wheat bran	103.73±10.01	101.82±10.34		
	Control	104.26±12.13	102.50±12.42		

It was found that there was no significant difference between the interventions in terms of their effectiveness on the Systolic and Diastolic blood pressure, FBS, TG, HDL, and abdominal circumference of the participants in all three groups (p>0.05) (Table 4).

Table 4. Comparison of mean variables (after the interventions) across three groups										
Variable		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	p-value				
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Between Groups	706.05	2	353.02	1.61	0.20				
	Within Groups	15555.29	71	219.08						
	Total	16261.35	73							
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	Between Groups	259.07	2	129.53	1.46	0.23				
	Within Groups	6297.80	71	88.70						
	Total	6556.87	73							
FBS (mg/dL)	Between Groups	3.38	2	1.69	0.01	0.99				
	Within Groups	111653.65	71	1572.58						
	Total	111657.04	73							
TG (mg/dL)	Between Groups	16717.51	2	8358.75	1.09	0.34				
	Within Groups	544421.89	71	7667.91						
	Total	561139.40	73							
HDL (mg/dL)	Between Groups	13.59	2	6.79	0.45	0.63				
	Within Groups	1068.62	71	15.05						
	Total	1082.21	73							
Abdominal circumference (cm)	Between Groups	160.17	2	80.08	0.67	0.51				
	Within Groups	8480.36	71	119.44						
	Total	8640.54	73							

The comparisons of variables in the green tea group before and after the interventions are shown in the table below. The results revealed significant changes in the HDL levels of the participants in the GT group before and after the intervention (p<0.05).

Table 5. Comparison of variables in the green tea group after vs before the intervention											
	Paired Differences										
Paired variables	Mean De	Std.	Std. Error Mean –	95% Confidence Interval of the Difference		t	df	p-value			
		Deviation		Lower	Upper						
HDL (mg/dL)	2.00	4.28	0.85	0.23	3.76	2.33	24	0.02			
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-2.08	10.02	2.00	-6.21	2.05	-1.03	24	0.31			
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	-2.44	10.54	2.10	-6.79	1.91	-1.15	24	0.25			
FBS (mg/dL)	3.08	41.93	8.38	-14.22	20.38	0.36	24	0.71			
TG (mg/dL)	-10.36	103.23	20.64	-52.97	32.25	-0.50	24	0.62			
Abdominal circumference (cm)	0.16	5.30	1.06	-2.02	2.34	0.15	24	0.88			
Also, the comparisons of variables in the wheat

are shown in the table below. The results

Table 6. Comparison of varia	bles in th	e wheat brai	n group befoi	re and after th	e intervention	1		
			Paired Diffe	rences				
Paired variables	Mean	Std.	Std. Error	95% Confide of the Di	ence Interval ifference	t	df	p-value
		Deviation	Witan	Lower	Upper			
HDL (mg/dL)	1.30	3.21	0.66	-0.08	2.69	1.94	22	0.06
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	4.00	12.42	2.59	-1.37	9.37	1.54	22	0.13
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1.43	14.89	3.10	-5.00	7.87	0.46	22	0.64
FBS (mg/dL)	-2.00	28.30	5.90	-14.24	10.24	-0.33	22	0.73
TG (mg/dL)	-32.73	85.79	17.88	-69.83	4.36	-1.83	22	0.08
Abdominal circumference (cm)	-1.91	5.17	1.07	-4.15	0.32	-1.77	22	0.09

bran group before and after the interventions

revealed no significant changes (p>0.05).

Based on the regression analysis, HDL level Changes have a significant effect on being affected by Metabolic Syndrome ( $\beta$ =0.33, p<0.05).

Table 7. Relationship between changes in Metabolic Syndrome variables and post-intervention Metabolic Syndrome

Variable	Unstandardiz	ed Coefficients	Standardized Coefficients	t	p-value
	В	Std. Error	β		
Systolic blood pressure.Changes	-0.006	0.003	-0.23	-1.85	0.06
Diastolic blood pressure.Changes	-0.003	0.004	-0.09	-0.78	0.43
FBS.Changes	< 0.001	0.001	0.03	0.36	0.72
TG.Changes	-0.001	0.000	-0.21	-1.93	0.05
Abdominal.circumference.Changes	0.01	0.008	0.13	1.24	0.21
HDL.Changes	0.02	0.009	0.33	3.18	< 0.01

# DISCUSSION

There was no significant difference between WB and GT interventions in terms of their effect on the systolic and diastolic blood pressure of the participants in all three groups. Also, in a randomized controlled trial (RCT) by Rasmus Fuglsang-Nielsen et al. (2020), it was found that WB dietary fiber did not affect 24-hour blood pressure (BP) compared to low dietary fiber <sup>18</sup>, which may require higher WB level or a longer intervention.

A decrease in FBS and TG and an increase in HDL were observed in the GT and WB groups. In this regard, Li et al. (2023) performed a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials regarding the effect of green tea on the lipid profile of obese women. It was concluded that GT reduces the concentration of LDL-C and total cholesterol. The decrease in TG level was significant especially in overweight patients with hypertriglyceridemia at baseline beginning. Besides, a significant increase in HDL-C was observed in obese subjects following GT consumption <sup>19</sup>. In a review study by Budhwar et al. (2020), it was stated that wheat bran and rice can be used to control chronic diseases. especially diabetes <sup>20</sup>.

A reduction in body weight was observed in the GT group with metabolic syndrome. Similarly, a series of RCTs on GT (4 cups/day)

and GTE (2 capsules/day) drinks for 8 weeks in 35 obese subjects with MetS, serum plasma amyloid alpha (an independent risk factor for cardiovascular diseases), BW, BMI, and lipid peroxidation were significantly reduced <sup>21, 22,</sup> <sup>23</sup>. In another interventional study, Sanger et al. concluded that a 60-day consumption of three cups of GT (as 1-gram bags) reduced weight, BMI, and waist circumference in 45 elderly people with metabolic syndrome. However, it did not change their lipid profile and glycemia <sup>17</sup>.

Overall, GT had a significant effect on the reduction of people with metabolic syndrome, and it was also effective on four variables of metabolic syndrome, including body weight, FBS, TG, and HDL, which can indicate a favorable effect on these people. Similarly, in an epidemiological study of 15,568 Korean population aged 19-65, Kim et al. (2016) showed that regular GT consumption was inversely associated with metabolic syndrome <sup>24</sup>. Also, in another RCT of 70 women with a confirmed MetS, Mortazavi et al. (2019) found a significant improvement in anthropometric indices, i.e., BP, BG, and lipid profile after drinking 200 ml of GT 3 times a day for eight weeks <sup>25</sup>.

## **Study Strengths**

The present study is a clinical trial on participants with Metabolic syndrome which is a common problem. Also, two intervention groups consumed wheat bran and green tea which are two accessible substances. The objective, inclusion, and exclusion criteria were clearly stated. The authors stated that there was no conflict of interest.

## **Study limitations**

During the implementation phase, green *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)* 

tea and wheat bran produce some digestive problems, leading to the participants dropping out. Also, the potential effects of concomitant medications and comorbidities cannot be excluded. In addition, blood pressure was measured in an occupational medicine clinic, where anxiety could have led to an increase in the readings.

# **CONCLUSION**

Consumption of green tea has effectively reduced the number of patients with metabolic syndrome, and consumption of green tea and wheat bran can positively increase HDL. Also, green tea can be effective in reducing weight, FBS, and TG in male drivers suffering from metabolic syndrome. Considering their impact on HDL and some variables of metabolic syndrome, green tea can replace black tea as a drink during the day, especially in these groups, and wheat bran can also be added to their diet, which of course requires more information about MetS and to make changes in lifestyle and benefit from the beneficial effects of green tea and wheat bran on the cardiovascular system.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENT

**Conflict of interest:** The authors of this article declare no conflict of interest in writing and publishing this article.

**Financial Support:** The study did not receive any financial support.

**Ethical considerations**: This article is the result of a research project with the ethics code IR.SEMUMS.REC.1398.274 in the Vice Chancellor for Research of Semnan University of Medical Sciences. Also, this study has been approved by Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials (IRCT) with registration reference IRCT20200217046524N1.

The authors would like to appreciate the Deputy for Research and Technology of Semnan University of Medical Sciences who sponsored the study and also the participants in this study. We are grateful to the Kasra Occupational Medicine Specialist Center for providing data and their continuing commitment to the study.

**Authors Contributions:** Concept: PD, APSN, MT, Data collection: NC, MT, APSN, SS, Supervision: PD, SM, MT, APSN, Analysis and interpretation: NC, PD, Literature search: NC, PD, Manuscript writing: NC, PD, SM, Critical review: PD, MT. All authors have approved final manuscript.

### Data availability statement

The datasets generated during and analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

## **REFERENCES**

- 1. Alauddin, M., et al., Fermented rice bran supplementation mitigates metabolic syndrome in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. BMC Complement Altern Med, 2016. 16(1): p. 1-11.
- Kumari, R., S. Kumar, and R. Kant, An update on metabolic syndrome: Metabolic risk markers and adi-pokines in the development of metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Metab Syndr, 2019. 13(4): p. 2409-2417.
- 3. Grundy, S.M., et al., Definition of metabolic syndrome: report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute/American Heart Association conference on scientific issues related to definition. Circulation, 2004. 109(3): p. 433-438.
- Azizi, F., et al., Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in an urban population: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2003. 61(1): p. 29-37.
- Zhu, B., et al., Association between eating speed and metabolic syndrome in a three-year populationbased cohort study. Int J Epidemiol, 2015. 25(4): p. 332-336.
- 6. James, P.T., et al., The obesity epidemic, metabolic syndrome and future prevention strategies. Eur J

Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil, 2004. 11(1): p. 3-8.

- Najafi, F., et al., Measuring and decomposing socioeconomic inequalities in adult obesity in Western Iran. J Prev Med Public Health, 2018. 51(6): p. 289.
- Tabrizi, J.S., et al., Prevalence and associated factors of overweight or obesity and abdominal obesity in Iranian population: a population-based study of northwestern Iran. Iranian journal of public health, 2018. 47(10): p. 1583.
- 9. Chowdhury, A., et al., Protective role of epigallocatechin-3-gallate in health and disease: a perspec-tive. Biomed Pharmacother, 2016. 78: p. 50-59.
- 10. Janssens, P.L., R. Hursel, and M.S. Westerterp-Plantenga, Nutraceuticals for body-weight manage-ment: The role of green tea catechins. Physiol Behav, 2016. 162: p. 83-87.
- Nagao, T., T. Hase, and I. Tokimitsu, A green tea extract high in catechins reduces body fat and cardio-vascular risks in humans. Obesity, 2007. 15(6): p. 1473-1483.
- Chantre, P. and D. Lairon, Recent findings of green tea extract AR25 (Exolise) and its activity for the treatment of obesity. Phytomedicine, 2002. 9(1): p. 3-8.
- 13. Chalamacharla, R., et al., Wheat bran-composition and nutritional quality: a review. Adv Biotech & Micro, 2018. 9(1): p. 0021-0027.
- 14. Deroover, L., et al., Modifying wheat bran to improve its health benefits. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr, 2020. 60(7): p. 1104-1122.
- 15. Lawton, C.L., et al., Short term (14 days) consumption of insoluble wheat bran fibre-containing break-fast cereals improves subjective digestive feelings, general wellbeing and bowel function in a dose de-pendent manner. Nutrients, 2013. 5(4): p. 1436-1455.
- Hell, J., et al., Analytical techniques for the elucidation of wheat bran constituents and their structural features with emphasis on dietary fiber-A review. Trends Food Sci Technol, 2014. 35(2): p. 102-113.
- 17. Vieira Senger, A., et al., Effect of green tea (Camellia sinensis) consumption on the components of metabolic syndrome in elderly. J Nutr Health Aging 2012. 16: p. 738-742.
- Fuglsang-Nielsen, R., et al., Effects of whey protein and dietary fiber intake on insulin sensitivity, body composition, energy expenditure, blood pressure, and appetite in subjects with abdominal obesity. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2021. 75(4): p. 611-619.
- 19. Li, A., et al., Effects of green tea on lipid profile in

overweight and obese women: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Vitam Nutr Res, 2023.

- Budhwar, S., et al., Antidiabetic properties of rice and wheat bran—A review. J Food Biochem, 2020. 44(10): p. e13424.
- 21. Basu, A., et al., Green tea minimally affects biomarkers of inflammation in obese subjects with meta-bolic syndrome. Nutrition, 2011. 27(2): p. 206-213.
- 22. Basu, A., M. Du, and K. Sanchez, Nutrition: green tea minimally affects biomarkers of inflammation in obese subjects with metabolic syndrome. Altern Med Rev, 2010. 15(4): p. 375-376.
- 23. Basu, A., et al., Green tea supplementation increases glutathione and plasma antioxidant capacity in adults with the metabolic syndrome. Nutr Res, 2013. 33(3): p. 180-187.
- 24. Kim, E., et al., Green tea but not coffee consumption is inversely associated with metabolic syndrome; An epidemiological study in Korean adults. Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2016. 1(120): p. S85.

- 25. Mortazavi, F., Z. Paknahad, and A. Hasanzadeh, Effect of green tea consumption on the metabolic syndrome indices in women: a clinical trial study. Nutr Food Sci, 2018. 49(1): p. 32-46.
- Alberti, K.G.M.M., P. Zimmet, and J. Shaw, Metabolic syndrome—a new world-wide definition. A consensus statement from the international diabetes federation. Diabet Med, 2006. 23(5): p. 469-480.
- 27. Hwang, J.H., et al., Incidence of metabolic syndrome and relative importance of five components as a predictor of metabolic syndrome: 5-year follow-up study in Korea. Journal of Korean medical science, 2013. 28(12): p. 1768-1773.
- Huang, P.L., A comprehensive definition for metabolic syndrome. Disease models & mechanisms, 2009. 2(5-6): p. 231-237.
- 29. Li, Y., et al., Incidence of metabolic syndrome according to combinations of lifestyle factors among middle-aged Japanese male workers. Prev Med, 2010. 51(2): p. 118-122.

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Medical students' awareness of infodemic and their infodemic management capacity: A descriptive study from Türkiye

Dilek Aslan<sup>1</sup>, <sup>(D)</sup> Kervin Raymond<sup>2</sup>, <sup>(D)</sup> Ercüment Altıntaş<sup>3</sup>, <sup>(D)</sup> Gülsen Güneş<sup>4</sup>, DMeltem Şengelen<sup>5</sup>, D Banu Buruk<sup>6</sup>, Ferda Özyurda<sup>7</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Prof. Dr., Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health. Ankara, Türkiye

<sup>2</sup> MPH, Hacettepe University, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

<sup>3</sup> Dr., Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

<sup>4</sup> Prof. Dr., Lokman Hekim University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

<sup>5</sup> Lecturer Dr., Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

<sup>6</sup>Assist. Prof. Dr., Radboud University, Donders Institute of Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, School of Artificial Intelligence, Nijmegen, Netherlands

<sup>7</sup> Prof. Dr., TOBB ETÜ, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye

Received: 01.08.2024, Accepted: 29.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** The aim of the study is to determine the medical students' awareness of infodemic and their infodemic management capacity at three different medical faculties in Türkiye.

**Method:** Conducted as a descriptive study, an online survey via Google Forms<sup>®</sup> was distributed to students from three medical faculties throughout 2023-2024 academic year. The survey aimed to evaluate students' knowledge, attitudes, and perceived readiness concerning infodemic management.

**Results:** The participants were predominantly female (58.2%) with a mean age of 21.2 years, and all were single. Notably, 67.9% of the students had not previously heard of infodemic. However, a significant majority recognized the infodemic as a global threat (92.5%), beyond Coronavirus Disease-2019 (99.3%), with negative health impacts (93.3%), including fatalities (70.9%). Despite this, only 55.9% believed that infodemics are preventable. Importantly, 94.8% acknowledged the role of doctors in managing infodemics.

**Conclusion:** The study highlights a gap in the medical curriculum regarding infodemic management training, as transparency and the importance of managing infodemics are not fully appreciated by all students. These findings suggest the necessity of integrating infodemic management training into medical education to better equip future healthcare professionals. This research adds to the limited scientific literature on infodemic management and underscores the need for enhanced proficiency among medical students in this emerging field.

Keywords: Infodemic, Education, Medical, Students, Medical, Türkiye

Correspondence: MPH, Kervin Raymond, Hacettepe University, Institution of Health Sciences, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Türkiye. E-mail: zimkervin@gmail.com

Cite This Article: Aslan D, Raymond K, Altıntaş E, Günes G, Sengelen M, Buruk B, Özyurda F. Medical students' awareness and infodemic management capacity: a descriptive study from Türkiye. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 35-43.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.

(\$)

Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

An infodemic is defined as an abundance of information with a wide range of manifestations, such as misinformation, disinformation, rumor, information voids, and conspiracy theory, that prevents individuals from turning to the right health behaviors in times of crisis, such as outbreaks, disasters, etc. Due to infodemics, individuals are unable to adopt the correct behaviors and are therefore negatively affected.<sup>1,2,3</sup>

The onset of the Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in early 2020 starkly illuminated the global scale and profound impact of infodemics. As the virus rapidly spread across continents, so too did a deluge of misinformation, disinformation theories, and conspiracy complicating public understanding and response efforts.<sup>3</sup> Director-General of the World Health Organization (WHO) highlighted the criticality of addressing this infodemic alongside the pandemic itself, emphasizing the need for a cohesive global strategy to counteract the rampant dissemination of false and misleading information.4

Infodemic occurs at mainly four different levels including science, policy and practice, news media, and social media according to Eyesenbach's "*the wedding cake model*"<sup>5</sup>. Information is generated and flows withing these four levels. Although all levels have the potential to produce infodemic, the largest segment of the model "social media" represents the vast amount in the model.<sup>5</sup>

The possible consequences of an infodemic include the misunderstanding of health information, a tendency towards risk-taking behavior, and increased anxiety, stress, and depression. At both individual and societal levels, this can lead to distrust in health authorities, science, experts, public health professionals, and public institutions. Additionally, it can result in longer and more difficult crisis management, hate speech, social segregation, labeling, and stigmatization.<sup>2,6,7</sup>

Infodemics affect communities and health systems, as well as individuals. Therefore, infodemic management should be done at the right time and with the right methods. Infodemic management (IM) is the systematic use of risk (and evidence-based) analysis and approaches to reduce the adverse effects of infodemic on health behaviors during health emergencies. Infodemic management involves four main actions: listening to community concerns and questions, improving understanding of risks and recommendations from health professionals, building resilience against misinformation, and engaging and empowering communities for positive action.<sup>1,2</sup> This capacity needs to be developed among relevant professionals. Health professionals are among the professionals who need capacity building on IM. However, there healthcare are gaps between professionals' basic knowledge of infodemic and their capacity in IM, and therefore, it would be appropriate to address these gaps. Among health professionals, physicians are particularly important as a source of accurate information for both individuals and society.8 They have a critical role in communication and building trust.9 Such missions and roles should be given to physicians from the very beginning, as they start medical education. Research on the issue might be helpful to understand and develop the competencies of future healthcare professionals in dealing with infodemic scenarios effectively.

Based on all these background information, the aim of the study is to determine the medical students' awareness of infodemic and their infodemic management capacity at three different medical faculties in Türkiye.

# METHOD

# Participants

Participants of the study were medical students from three faculties in Ankara, Türkiye. These faculties were selected based on their offering of both Turkish and English programs, catering to diverse student population including а international enrollees. Total students in three faculties were 3912 [(2938 in HU University (H), 235 in **TOBB-ETU** University (TE), 739 in YIU University (YIU)]. Despite multiple reminders, a total of 134 students participated in (YIU)). the study across the three faculties.

# Data collection and the questionnaire

In this descriptive study, an online survey using Google Forms<sup>®</sup> was used. The questionnaire was developed bv the research team in five sections. Section I included 4 multiple choice questions about faculty and information. phase multiple choice Section II included 5 questions socio-demographic about characteristics. Ш included 6 Section open-ended multiple choice and about health/disease profiles. questions Section IV included 3 questions about awareness on infodemic and IM capacity. To understand the awareness on the term "infodemics", participants were asked if they know the term or not. After this question, definition of the term "infodemic" was given in the questionnaire. The students were not allowed to move forward without reading the definition in the questionnaire. The following questions included views of the

students on infodemic-related statements and their routines on selected IM competencies. Five-level Likert questions starting from "completely agree" to "completely disagree" was used. Ten level self-assessment questions were used to understand the students' selfassessment IM capacity and the importance of medical education in improving IM capacity (from 1 to 10; 1 worst and 10 best). Section V included 3 questions defining the students' motivation on contributing the IM studies at the faculties. To enhance data standardization, the questionnaire underwent pilot testing among a small group of students to refine question clarity and relevance.

The questionnaire was administered to students between the 2023 and 2024 academic years.

# Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using SPSS version 23.0. Frequency distributions are displayed using the frequency tables.

# Ethics and permissions

Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the relevant ethical board at each of the three universities involved in this study. Additionally, official permissions from the faculty administrations were secured prior to distributing the survey to ensure compliance with institutional guidelines and regulations regarding research involving human subjects.

# RESULTS

The majority of the students were females (n = 78, 58.2%); all were single (n = 134, 100%). The mean age of the students was 21.2 years (SD = 2.0). Half of the participants stayed in dormitories (n = 67, 50.0%) (Table 1).

Table 1. Socio-demographic f	Table 1. Socio-demographic features of the students						
Feature	n	%					
Age (year) (n=132)*							
18-24	123	93.2					
25 and over	9	6.8					
Mean (SD)	21.2 (2.0)						
Median	21						
Gender (n=134)							
Male	56	41.8					
Female	78	58.2					
Marital status (n=134)							
Not married	134	100.0					
Live in (n=134)							
Dormitory	67	50.0					
House	67	50.0					

\*Two participants did not answer the question about their ages.

In Table 2, the health and disease profiles of the students are presented. The majority of the students perceived their health status as "healthy" (n = 116, 86.5%). Thirty-eight students had а selfreported diagnosed disease (28.4%)and twenty-one students used medicine prescribed by a doctor (16.5%). Most of the students stated that they had no diagnosed COVID-19 history (60.4%). Seven students did not receive COVID-19 vaccines (5.2%).

Table 2. Self-perceived health stat	us and	medical
history of participating students (n=	134).	
Feature	n	%
Health status		
Healthy	116	86.5
Do not have an idea	13	9.7
Unhealthy	5	3.8
Disease diagnosed by doctor		
No	96	71.6
Yes	38	28.4
Use medicine prescribed by a doctor	(n=133)	*
No	112	83.5
Yes	21	16.5
Diagnosed COVID-19 disease history	y (self-re	ported)
No	81	60.4
Yes	53	39.6
COVID-19 vaccination		
No	7	5.2
Yes	127	94.8

\*One student used medicine without a doctor's prescription.

In Table 3, students' awareness on the term "infodemic" is presented. Most of the students stated that they had heard "infodemic" for the first time (n=91, 67.9%).

Table 3. Awareness of the term "info	demic	" among
participating students (n=134)		
Awareness of the term "infodemic"	n	%
Did not hear the term before	91	67.9
Know the term	43	32.1
Total	134	100.0

In Table 4, the students' views on a number of infodemic-related statements are presented. Before collecting students' views, the definition of "infodemic" was provided to them.

The majority of the students agreed that "infodemic is a global threat (92.5%)", "infodemic is a national threat (87.3%)", "infodemic is not limited to COVID-19 (99.3%)", "infodemic is not limited to health consequences (98.5%)", "people have been affected by the negative health consequences of infodemic (93.3%)", "people have died because of infodemic (70.9%)", "infodemic (55.9%)", is preventable transparency essential for infodemic management is (88.8%)", "health workers have roles in infodemic management (94.8%)", "doctors have roles in infodemic management (94.8%)", "teachers have roles in infodemic management (94.8%)", and "journalists have roles in infodemic management (97.1%)". Students majorly disagreed that "infodemic is only experienced online (92.5%)", and "infodemic does not affect trust (91.0%).

Table 4. Views of the students on infodemic-rel	ated stateme	nts (%)			
Statement	Strongly agree	Agree	Undecided	Do not agree	Strongly disagree
Infodemic is a global threat.	60.4	32.1	6.0	0.7	0.7
Infodemic is a national threat.	56.0	31.3	9.7	2.2	0.7
Infodemic is only experienced online.	2.2	2.2	3.0	52.2	40.3
Infodemic is not limited to COVID-19.	73.9	25.4	0.7	-	-
Infodemic is not limited to health consequences.	69.4	29.1	0.7	0.7	-
People have been affected by the negative health consequences of infodemic.	56.7	36.6	4.5	0.7	1.5
People have died because of infodemic.	40.3	30.6	25.4	3.0	0.7
Infodemic does not affect trust.	1.5	1.5	6.0	38.8	52.2
Infodemic is preventable.	14.9	41.0	28.4	14.2	1.5
Transparency is essential for IM.	42.5	46.3	6.7	3.0	1.5
Health workers have roles in IM.	47.8	47.0	5.2	-	-
Doctors have roles in IM.	47.8	47.0	4.5	0.7	-
Teachers have roles IM.	47.8	47.0	3.7	1.5	-
Journalists have roles in IM.	57.5	39.6	3.0	-	-

In Table 5, routines of the students on selected IM competencies are presented. Definition of IM is given to the students before taking their routines.

The majority of the students agreed with the personal experiences as "I confirm the health-related information I access through online (digital) media from the scientific literature (79.8%)", "I verify the healthrelated information I access through physical environments from the scientific literature (79.9%)", verify the health-related "I information I access through online (digital) media from scientific literature before sharing it with others (78.4%)", "I verify the healthrelated information I access through physical media from scientific literature before sharing it with others (77.7%)", "I prefer to use information on digital platforms with .edu extension (71.7%)", "websites of wellestablished international organizations such as the World Health Organization are among the information sources I use to be informed about health-related issues (78.2%)", "the website of the Ministry of Health is a source of information that I use to update my knowledge on health-related issues (57.4%)", "I use the websites of health professional organizations to update my knowledge on health-related issues (65.7%)". Almost half of the students could not decide on using information on digital platforms with .com extension (47.8%). Students largely disagreed on the given experiences; "the extensions of digital platforms do not affect my intention to read the content (53.8%)", and "the extensions of digital platforms do not affect my intention to share the content with others (53.7%)".

Table 5. Routines of the students on selected IM competence	ies (%)				
Experience	Strongly agree	Agree	Undecided	Do not agree	Strongly disagree
I confirm the health-related information I access through online (digital) media from scientific literature.	24.6	55.2	11.9	7.5	0.7
I verify the health-related information I access through physical environments from scientific literature.	23.9	56.0	10.4	9.0	0.7
I verify the health-related information I access through online (digital) media from scientific literature before sharing it with others.	29.9	48.5	16.4	4.5	0.7
I verify the health-related information I access through physical media from scientific literature before sharing it with others.	29.9	47.8	15.7	6.0	0.7
I prefer to use information on digital platforms with .edu extension.	26.9	44.8	20.9	6.7	0.7
I prefer to use information on digital platforms with .com extension.	3.7	22.4	47.8	19.4	6.7
The extensions of digital platforms do not affect my intention to read the content.	8.2	23.1	14.9	46.3	7.5
The extensions of digital platforms do not affect my intention to share the content with others.	6.0	20.9	19.4	41.8	11.9
Websites of well-established international organizations such as the World Health Organization are among the information sources I use to be informed about health-related issues.	31.2	47.0	9.0	9.0	3.0
The website of the Ministry of Health is a source of information that I use to update my knowledge on health- related issues.	20.1	37.3	19.4	14.2	9.0
I use the websites of health professional organizations to update my knowledge on health-related issues.	15.7	50.0	17.9	10.4	6.0

Table 6 shows the students' self-assessment on IM capacity and the importance of medical education in improving IM capacity. Students' scores for the importance of medical education to improve IM capacity were higher than their scores given for their current IM capacity.

**Table 6.** Students' self-assessment of IM capacity and the importance of medical education in improving IM capacity (%)

Students' self-assessment				Score	(1 wors	and 1	0 best)			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
IM capacity	1.5	1.5	6.7	8.2	11.9	14.2	26.9	20.1	6.7	2.2
Mean (SD)					6.3	(1.9)				
Median					,	7				
Importance of medical education in	0.7	1.5	0.7	0.7	6.0	2.2	14.9	23.9	20.9	28.4
improvement of IM capacity										
Mean (SD)					8.2	(1.8)				
Median						8				

# DISCUSSION

Medical students are expected to gain competencies to prevent and manage global health challenges.<sup>10</sup> They should react to protect individuals and communities in emerging and re-emerging crises, as well as their routine competencies. Although infodemics are an ongoing threat, their burden peaks during times of crisis. The COVID-19 pandemic is a recent devastating example that the world has experienced. As medical professionals, including students, are among the most important and accurate information sources in the community, their IM capacity is expected to be improved.<sup>11</sup> In the same way, medical education is a good opportunity to improve IM capacity. Capacity development needs to be aware of the content. Nevertheless, students' awareness about infodemic is limited. In the research group, the majority of the students stated that they had heard of "infodemic" for the first time (n = 91, 67.9%). To fulfill this missed opportunity, faculties are recommended to integrate IM into their curricula. One of the faculties has already integrated the IM theme into its firstyear curriculum in 2024 following the analysis of the data in this study.<sup>12</sup>

In the research questionnaire prepared for the students, after taking their response on their level of information about infodemics, the official "infodemic" definition of WHO1 was given to them. Learning the definition of the term seems to help the students to make theory-based connections between the issues. For example, the majority of the students agreed that "infodemic is a global threat (92.5%)", "infodemic is a national threat (87.3%)", "infodemic is not limited to COVID-19 (99.3%)", "infodemic is not limited to health consequences (98.5%)", and "people have been affected by the negative health consequences of infodemics (93.3%)" (Table 4). The awareness of health professionals is thought to be helpful in taking relevant action in infodemic management.

Students agree that "transparency is essential for infodemic management (88.8%)".

Transparency is among the requirements of IM.<sup>13</sup> Although the majority of the students thought similarly, there are students who do not agree with the importance of transparency for IM. In the same way, it is unfortunate that only 55.9% of the students believe in the preventable feature of infodemics. However, infodemic management strategies are built to prevent infodemics.<sup>14</sup>

Potential for the spread of infodemic through online and offline channels<sup>16, 17</sup> and health workers' crucial role in IM as the first point of contact in health systems<sup>15</sup> are confirmed by the students.

The participants of our research have gaps in using evidence-based scientific literature, selecting the correct information sources, sharing accurate information sources with others, etc. Medical education might be a good opportunity to meet and strengthen the students in this regard.

Our study has strengths and limitations. First, our results are thought to reflect the situation of medical students in a "new" study field, as there is limited scientific literature on the issue. Although participation numbers are limited, efforts to gather data from three different faculties have been important. The results of our study are expected to give faculties the opportunity to integrate IM activities into their curricula. There are limitations to our study. In the first place, the number of participants does not give us the opportunity to conduct detailed statistical analysis or generalize the results to university students. Secondly, the answers are selfreported by the students. Self-reported data on knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors might be influenced by recall or social desirability bias, potentially leading to overestimating

participants' capacities or the perceived importance attributed to medical education. Thirdly, students who responded might have had a particular interest or greater awareness of infodemic issues than non-respondents. Lastly, although pilot testing of the survey was conducted, the questionnaire was specifically developed for this research and may require further validation to confirm its reliability and generalizability across different contexts or populations.

# CONCLUSION

Our study has emphasized the possible lacking points in IM among medical students. Medical education curriculum assessment from the IM perspective might give us the opportunity to think on the issue and plan further detailed studies to be prepared for the possible future crises in health.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Results of this research was presented in the 26th National Public Health Congress organized by HASUDER (December 2024). Abstract of the presentation can be accessed via https://uhsk.org/2024/dosya/kongre\_ kitabi.pdf

**Conflict of Interest:** All authors declare no conflicts of interest.

**Financial Support:** No funding was received for conducting this study.

**Ethical Statement:** Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the relevant ethical board at each of the three universities involved in this study. Additionally, official permissions from the faculty administrations were secured prior to distributing the survey to ensure compliance with institutional guidelines and regulations regarding research involving human subjects.

**Author Contribution:** Concept: DA, KR, EA, GG, MŞ, BB, FÖ, Design: DA, KR, EA, GG, MŞ, BB, FÖ, Writing: DA, KR, EA, GG, MŞ, BB, FÖ, Data collection: DA, KR, EA, GG, MŞ, BB, FÖ, Data analysis: DA, KR, EA, GG, MŞ, BB, FÖ, Revising the manuscript critically: DA, KR, EA, GG, MŞ, BB, FÖ, Final approval: DA, KR, EA, GG, MŞ, BB, FÖ.

# REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Infodemic [online]. Available at: https://www.who.int/health-topics/ infodemic#tab=tab\_1. Accessed June 15, 2024.
- 2. Aslan D. Halk Sağlığı Bakış Açısıyla İnfodemi Yönetimi. Hipokrat Yayıncılık; 2022.
- 3. Torpan S, Hansson S, Rhinard M, Ewing M. Handling false information in emergency management: A cross-national comparative study of European practices. Int J Disaster Risk Reduct. 2021;57:102151.
- 4. Zarocostas J. How to fight an infodemic. Lancet. 2020;395(10225):676.
- 5. Eysenbach G. How to fight an infodemic: The four pillars of infodemi management. J Med Internet Res. 2020;22(6):e21820.
- 6. Jakovljevic M, Bjedov S, Mustac F, Jakovljevic I. COVID-19 infodemic and public trust from the perspective of public and global mental health. Psychiatr Danub. 2020;32(3-4):449-457.
- Dubey S, Biswas P, Ghosh R, Chatterjee S, Dubey MJ, Chatterjee S, et al. Psychosocial impact of COVID-19. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2020;14(5):779-788.
- 8. Scott J. Managing the infodemic about COVID-19: Strategies for clinicians and researchers. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2021;143(5):377-379.
- 9. Canavera K. Rebuilding trust. Patient Educ Couns. 2021;104(5):996-997.
- UÇEP. Ulusal Çekirdek Eğitim Programı [online]. Available at https://www.yok.gov.tr/Documents/ Kurumsal/egitim\_ogretim\_dairesi/Ulusalcekirdek-egitimi-programlari/mezuniyetoncesi-tip-egitimi-cekirdek-egitimi-programi.pdf Accessed June 15, 2024.
- 11. Choi S. The coronavirus disease 2019 infodemic: a concept analysis. Front Public Health. 2024 Apr 25;12:1362009. doi: 10.3389/ fpubh.2024.1362009. PMID: 38726229; PMCID:

#### PMC11081101

- 12. HUMF. Learning to be a physician program, social responsibility program. Phase I, Hacettepe [online] Available at: https://medinfo.hacettepe.edu.tr/en/menu/undergraduate\_education-27 Accessed June 15, 2024.
- 13. Zhou Y, Zhang A, Liu X, Tan X, Miao R, Zhang Y, Wang J. Protecting public's wellbeing against COVID-19 infodemic: The role of trust in information sources and rapid dissemination and transparency of information over time. Front Public Health. 2023;11:1142230.
- 14. World Health Organization. Infodemic management courses. [online] Available at: https://openwho. org/channels/infodemic-management Accessed June 15, 2024.
- 15. Briand S, Hess S, Nguyen T, et al. Infodemic Management in the Twenty-First Century. 2023 May 10. In: Purnat TD, Nguyen T, Briand S, editors. Managing Infodemics in the 21st Century: Addressing New Public Health Challenges in the

Information Ecosystem [Internet]. Cham (CH): Springer; 2023. Chapter 1. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK609021/ doi: 10.1007/978-3-031-27789-4\_1.

- Bin Naeem S, Kamel Boulos MN. COVID-19 misinformation online and health literacy: A brief overview. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(15):8091.
- 17. Chiou H, Voegeli C, Wilhelm E, Kolis J, Brookmeyer K, Prybylski D. The future of infodemic surveillance as public health surveillance. Emerg Infect Dis. 2022;28(13):S121-S128.
- 18. De Angelis L, Baglivo F, Arzilli G, Privitera GP, Ferragina P, Tozzi AE, Rizzo C. ChatGPT and the rise of large language models: The new AI-driven infodemic threat in public health. Front Public Health. 2023;11:1166120.

**ORIGINAL ARTICLE** 

# Feminization of poverty among the elderly: based on national data in Türkiye

💼 Kübra Ecem Turgutkaya¹, 💼 Filiz Abacıgil², 💼 Pınar Okyay³

<sup>1</sup> Research Assistant, Aydin Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health Aydin, Türkiye

<sup>2</sup> Prof. Dr., Aydin Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health Aydin, Türkiye

<sup>3</sup> The General Secretariat of Izmir Metropolitan Municipality, İzmir, Türkiye

Received: 19.08.2024, Accepted: 27.01.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** The number and proportion of people aged 65 and older in the world is increasing. The impoverishment of elderly women in Türkiye is becoming more visible, particularly due to gender inequalities.

This study aims to examine the effect of gender on sociodemographic characteristics and poverty among individuals aged 65 and over in Türkiye.

**Method:** This descriptive study, which is a secondary analysis of the 2018 Türkiye Demographic and Health Survey data, includes 4,263 Turkish citizens aged 65 and older.

**Results:** Elderly women have a higher median age (M=71; F=72), are less likely to be married/ living together (M=85.0%; F=48.2%), and more likely to live alone (M=6.6%; F=17.0%) compared to men (p<0.05). They also have lower educational levels (no education/less than primary: M=29.6%; F=68.3%) and a higher proportion have no monthly income (M=8.7%; F=42.1%). However, there was no difference in welfare level between elderly women and men.

**Conclusion:** The low educational attainment, income insecurity, and living alone of elderly women in Türkiye, associated with gender inequalities, indicate that the impoverishment of women in old age is a significant problem that is likely to increase in the future. Ensuring nationwide gender equality and developing social policies and services to prevent the impoverishment of elderly women are crucial.

Keywords: Elderly, Women, Poverty, Gender Inequity

**Correspondence:** Research Assistant, Aydin Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health Aydin, Türkiye **E-mail:** kturgutkaya@adu.edu.tr

**Cite This Article:** Turgutkaya KE, Abacıgil F, Okyay P. Feminization of poverty among the elderly: based on national data in Türkiye. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 44-53.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.* 

Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access <u>http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/</u>. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

There has been an increase in the number and proportion of elderly people in almost every country in the world <sup>1</sup>. It is projected that the proportion of people aged 65 and over, which was 10% in 2022, will reach 16% globally by 2050 <sup>2</sup>. According to the Address-Based Population Registration System Results announced by the Turkish Statistical Institute (TURKSTAT), the proportion of the population aged 65 and over in Türkiye increased from 7.1% in 2007 to 10.2% in 2023 <sup>3</sup>.

Following the first presentation of the world's aging trend at the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development, the Vienna Plan was adopted at the first World Assembly held in 1982, focusing on welfareoriented policies on aging. The key problem areas identified in this plan were employment and income security, health, housing, education, and social welfare<sup>4</sup>. Poverty can be defined as the lack of opportunity for people to meet their basic needs and the absence of a minimum standard of living they can enjoy. According to the United Nations Development Program (UNDP), poverty encompasses not only lack of income but also a range of factors that prevent people from living a life of human dignity, such as lack of education, lack of access to healthcare services, unemployment, social exclusion, political powerlessness, and various other social and economic constraints 5

The first of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) determined by the UNDP in 2015, "ending poverty in all its forms everywhere," aimed to overcome the biggest global challenge <sup>6</sup>. As the target year of 2030 approaches, a series of challenges faced globally, such as widespread inequality, *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*  political instability and conflict, climate crisis, the COVID-19 pandemic process, and the rising cost of living, are hindering the fight against poverty <sup>6</sup>.

Türkiye's aging population and the accompanying demographic changes have also brought new problems. According to TURKSTAT data, in 2023, 44.5% of the elderly population was male and 55.5% was female<sup>3</sup>. Elderly women face various challenges in areas such as retirement, access to healthcare services, care, and family support <sup>7</sup>. Especially the loss of their economic independence makes them more vulnerable, making it difficult for elderly women to meet their basic needs such as food, housing, and healthcare services<sup>8</sup>.

In our country, the late establishment of the social security system compared to other countries and the delay in ensuring its effectiveness have resulted in the income security of the elderly population not being provided, which has led to an increase in the poverty rate <sup>9</sup>.

The effects of poverty in old age are multidimensional. During this period, the capacity to cope with problems due to higher morbidity, living alone, and lower income is reduced. Particularly due to the lack of income security and health insurance, difficulties in accessing health services may be experienced. Old age can lead to the impoverishment of individuals or the chronicity of existing poverty <sup>10</sup>.

According to the 2023 TURKSTAT data, the poverty rate calculated based on 60% of the median equivalent household disposable income, as determined by the Income and Living Conditions Survey, is 30.7% in the general population, 23.1% in the elderly population, 21.5% in elderly men, and 24.3% in elderly women <sup>11</sup>.

Although poverty is addressed today with its multifaceted dimensions, it is difficult to clearly define its conceptual boundaries. The difficulties in defining and measuring poverty become more apparent when it comes to women's poverty. Women experience poverty differently from men in the context of gender norms. The unequal access of women to education, health services, and employment shows the importance of the gender perspective in understanding poverty <sup>12</sup>.

Women's labor force participation rates in Türkiye have historically been low. Women either do not work at all or are employed as unpaid family workers in agriculture sector. With the migration from rural to urban areas in the last 40 years, women who could not find jobs in the formal sector in the cities due to their lack of qualifications have had to work under irregular and insecure conditions <sup>13</sup>.

The concept of the "feminization of poverty" emerged in the late 1970s in the United States with the increase in the number of female household heads and gained prominence at the 1995 Beijing Women's Conference, becoming an important agenda item for international organizations <sup>14,15</sup>. This concept shows that women are poorer than men, but the reasons are complex. Women's poverty is related to gender inequalities, intrahousehold inequalities, economic crises, and structural adjustment policies <sup>14</sup>.

In this study, it is aimed to examine the effect of gender on sociodemographic characteristics and poverty among the elderly in Türkiye by re-analyzing the data from the 2018 Türkiye Demographic and Health Survey (TDHS).

## **METHODS**

This study is a secondary analysis of the 2018 TDHS which is a cross-sectional nationwide study primarily focused on maternal and child health in Türkiye. In the TDHS household survey, all variables related to individuals aged 65 and older included in the database have been incorporated into the study.

### Participants

The study analyzed 4,263 individuals aged 65 and above who were part of the TDHS survey. The participants were Turkish citizens.

### Measurements

The independent variables included in this study were age, marital status(never married, married or cohabiting, widowed, separated, and unknown), living alone(living alone or not living alone), birthplace(Türkiye and other countries), region of residence(west, south, central, north, and east), rural or urban residence, education level(no education/ less than primary, primary, secondary, high school and above, and unknown), receipt of a monthly income(receiving a monthly income or not receiving a monthly income), wealth index(richest, richer, middle, poorer, and poorest), type of home heating (modern and traditional heating methods), source of drinking water(improved and unimproved sources), and location of the toilet.

A wealth index score was assigned to each household based on the number and variety of durable consumer goods owned, as well as household characteristics such as source of drinking water, toilet facilities, and floor material <sup>16</sup>. The household scores were then assigned to household members, who were ranked within the household population. Five equal wealth categories were created - richest, richer, middle, poorer, and poorest - with 20% of the population in each category <sup>16</sup>.

Types of home heating were examined in two categories: modern and traditional heating methods (stoves). Central heating (natural gas, oil, coal), floor heating, natural gas, diesel/ gas, electric heaters, and air conditioning were considered modern heating methods. The toilet was categorized as inside the dwelling and outside the dwelling.

The sources of drinking water were examined in two categories: improved and unimproved sources. Piped water, public tap, boreholes, protected well or spring, and bottled or delivered water were considered improved sources, while unprotected wells, unprotected spring, surface water, and other sources were categorized as unimproved.

## **Data Source**

The 2018 TDHS is a nationally representative survey conducted by the Hacettepe University Institute of Population Studies (HIPS) as part of a global research Project <sup>16</sup>. This study is repeated every five years. The data, which focuses on maternal and child health, is used by the Ministry of Health and many other major public institutions for healthcare service planning and resource allocation. The TDHS is a national data that can provide a reliable analysis of the living conditions of the elderly population. A weighted, multistage, stratified cluster sampling method was used to determine the survey sample. Clusters were selected from each stratum as the primary sampling units, and the total number of clusters was found to be 754. In the second stage, 21 households were selected

from each cluster using systematic random sampling, resulting in a total of 15,775 households. With a response rate of 79.2%, data was collected from 11,056 households and 38,628 individuals <sup>16</sup>. For the purpose of this study, the data of 4,263 individuals aged 65 and above who participated in the survey were analyzed.

# **Ethical and Official Considerations**

The 2018 TDHS was reviewed and approved by the Hacettepe University Ethics Committee. A data usage request was made through the Hacettepe University website, and approval was received via email. All methods in the study were carried out in accordance with the relevant directives and regulations.

## Data Analysis

The research data was evaluated using the SPSS 25.0 statistical software program. Descriptive findings for categorical variables are presented as frequency and percentage distributions, and for continuous variables as mean±standard deviation (min-max). To determine if there were differences between categorical variables, the Chi-Square Test was used. For the comparison of continuous data, normality analyses were first performed, and since the data did not conform to a normal distribution, group comparisons were carried out using the Mann-Whitney U Test. The type I error level (alpha) was set at 0.05.

# RESULTS

The 2018 TDHS had a total of 37,897 participants. Among the 11,056 households included in the study, 4,263 (11.2%) individuals aged 65 and above were identified.

The mean age of the elderly population was  $73.45 \pm 7.19$  (65-95), and 53.8% were female.

86.6% of the elderly had primary education or less, and 12.2% were living alone. Table-1

shows the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants.

Table 1. Sociodemographic Chara	acteristics of the Participants			
Sociodemographic Characteristics of the Participants		Το	al	
		n	%	
Gender	Female	2,292	53.8	
	Male	1,971	46.2	
Marital Status	Never Married	29	0.7	
	Married or Cohabiting	2,781	65.2	
	Widowed	1,380	32.4	
	Separated	19	0.4	
	Unknown	1	0.02	
Living Alone	Lives Alone	521	12.2	
	Doesn't Live Alone	3,742	87.8	
Birthplace	Türkiye	4,144	97.2	
	Other Countries	119	2.8	
Region of Residence	West	1,351	31.7	
	South	503	11.8	
	Central	868	20.4	
	North	886	20.8	
	East	655	15.4	
Rural/Urban	Rural	1,932	45.3	
	Urban	2,331	54.7	
Education Level	No Education/Less than Primary	2,130	50.0	
	Primary Graduate	1,561	36.6	
	Secondary Graduate	335	7.9	
	High School and Above	194	4.6	
	Unknown	43	1.0	
<b>Receiving Monthly Income</b>	Receives Monthly Income	3,128	73.4	
	No Monthly Income	1,135	26.6	
Wealth Index	Richest	398	9.3	
	Richer	594	13.9	
	Middle	786	18.4	
	Poorer	942	22.1	
	Poorest	1,543	36.2	
Home Heating	Modern Heating Methods	1,736	40.7	
	Traditional Heating Methods	2,527	59.3	
Drinking Water Source	Improved Source	4,161	97.6	
	Unimproved Source	102	2.4	
Toilet	Inside the Dwelling	3,795	89.0	
	Outside the Dwelling	461	10.8	
	Unknown	7	0.2	

The sociodemographic and housing characteristics of the elderly by gender are presented in Table 2. According to these results, the median age of elderly women was higher than that of men (M=71; F=72), a lower proportion of women were married

or cohabiting (M=85.0%; F=48.2%), a higher proportion of women lived alone (M=6.6%; F=17.0%), the education level was lower (No Education/Less than Primary rate M=29.6%; F=68.3%), and a higher proportion of women did not receive a monthly income (M=8.7%; F=42.1%).

Table 2. Sociodemographic and Housing Characteristics of the Elderly by Gender									
		W	omen	l	Men	X <sup>2</sup> or Z	р		
		(N	=2292)	(N	=1971)				
		n	(%)	n	(%)				
Age [Median (min-	-max)]	72	(65-95)	71	(65-95)	-2.090	0.037		
Marital Status	Married or Cohabiting	1,105	(%48.2)	1,676	(%85.0)	632.824	< 0.001		
	Other (Widowed)	1,186	(%51.8)	295	(%15.0)				
Living Alone	Lives Alone	390	(%17.0)	131	(%6.6)	106.213	< 0.001		
	Doesn't Live Alone	1,902	(%83.0)	1,840	(%93.4)				
Birthplace	Türkiye	2,219	(%96.8)	1,925	(%97.7)	2.829	0.093		
	Other Countries	73	(%3.2)	46	(%2.3)				
Region of	West	731	(%31.9)	620	(%31.5)	5.316	0.256		
Residence	South	278	(%12.1)	225	(%11.4)				
	Central	449	(%20.4)	419	(%21.3)				
	North	497	(%21.7)	389	(%19.7)				
	East	337	(%14.7)	318	(%16.1)				
Rural/Urban	Rural	1,030	(%44.9)	902	(%45.8)	0.291	0.590		
	Urban	1,262	(%55.1)	1,069	(%54.2)				
<b>Education Level</b>	No Education/Less than	1,555	(%68.3)	575	(%29.6)	642.617	< 0.001		
	Primary								
	Primary Graduate	582	(%25.5)	979	(%50.4)				
	Secondary Graduate	91	(%4.0)	244	(%12.6)				
	High School and Above	50	(%2.2)	144	(%7.4)				
Receiving	Receives Monthly Income	1,328	(%57.9)	1,800	(%91.3)	604.531	< 0.001		
Monthly Income	No Monthly Income	964	(%42.1)	171	(%8.7)				
Wealth Index	Richest	209	(%9.1)	189	(%9.6)	1,877	0,758		
	Richer	326	(%14.2)	268	(%13.6)				
	Middle	413	(%18,0)	373	(%18.9)				
	Poorer	499	(%21.8)	443	(%22.5)				
	Poorest	845	(%36.9)	698	(%35.4)				
Home Heating	Modern Heating Methods	936	(%40.8)	800	(%40.6)	0.027	0.869		
	Traditional Heating Methods	1,356	(%59.2)	1,171	(%59.4)				
Drinking Water	Improved Source	2,237	(%97.6)	1,924	(%97.6)	0.001	0.974		
Source	Unimproved Source	55	(%2.4)	47	(%2.4)				
Toilet	Inside the Dwelling	2,042	(%89.2)	1,753	(%89.1)	0.033	0.856		
	Outside the Dwelling	246	(%10.8)	215	(%10.9)				

The percentage distribution of elderly women and men living alone by region is shown in Figure 1. It was found that a higher percentage of women lived alone compared to men in all regions of Türkiye (p<0.05).



**Figure 1.** Distribution of Elderly Women and Men Living Alone by Region (%)

The percentage distribution of elderly women and men receiving monthly income by region is shown in Figure 2. It was found that a lower percentage of women received monthly income compared to men in all regions of Türkiye (p<0.05).



**Figure 2.** Distribution of Elderly Women and Men Receiving Monthly Income by Region (%)

In Türkiye, the percentage of men classified as poor and poorest according to the wealth index is 57.9%, while this rate for women is 58.6% (p=0.621). The percentage distribution of elderly women and men categorized as poor and poorest by region according to the wealth index is shown in Figure 3.



**Figure 3.** Distribution of the Percentages of Elderly Women and Men by Wealth Index: Poorer and Poorest by Region (%)

### **DISCUSSION**

This study found that among the elderly in Türkiye, women had a higher age compared to men, lived alone more often, had a lower rate of marriage, had a higher rate of being uneducated, and had a lack of monthly income. According to TurkStat data, the life expectancy at birth is 77.5 years for the overall population, 74.8 years for men, and 80.3 years for women <sup>3</sup>. Since women have a 5.5-year longer life expectancy than men, it is expected that the average age of elderly women would be higher in our study.

According to the TDHS study, a significantly lower proportion of elderly women (48.2% married or cohabiting) were married/ cohabiting compared to elderly men (85.0% married or cohabiting). TurkStat 2023 data also shows that 1.4% of the elderly male population has never married, 83.7% are officially married, 3.9% are divorced, and 11.1% are widowed, while 2.8% of the elderly female population has never married, 46.4% are officially married, 4.4% are divorced, and 46.4% are widowed <sup>3</sup>.

In this study, 42.1% of women had not a monthly income, while this rate was 8.7% for men. This situation is important in terms of

showing the extent of the income insecurity among elderly women. A study examining the relationship between gender inequalities in old age and marital status indicates that women who have lost their spouses or divorced, and lack regular income, are at an increased risk of poverty <sup>8</sup>.

Historically, before the elderly period, women have consistently faced higher unemployment rates than men. The disparity in female and male unemployment is highest in the cultural pattern of Middle East and North Africa region<sup>9</sup>. In terms of economic participation and opportunities, Türkiye ranks 129th out of 146 countries indicating a significant gender gap<sup>17</sup>. In our country, looking at the labor force participation data by gender for November 2024, the participation rate for men is 67.4%, while for women it is 32.8% <sup>18</sup>. This situation places women at a greater disadvantage in terms of poverty during the elderly period.

Women and men experience poverty differently, and the process of poverty affects them in different ways. One of the distinguishing features of women's poverty is inequalities in the labor market. Parallel to the low participation in the labor force and the inability to benefit from educational opportunities, the condition of being a woman shaped by gender roles, being raised with the traditional female role model, and the lack of time for women to generate income bring about the situation. Discriminatory attitudes of the labor market towards women also increase women's poverty.

The United Nations Women report states that in 51% of countries, there is at least one restriction preventing women from doing the same jobs as men. Globally, women spend 2.5 times as many hours a day on unpaid care and domestic work as men, including 3.1 times in sub-Saharan Africa and 4.9 times in Northern Africa and Western Asia<sup>19</sup>. In Türkiye, the proportion of time spent on unpaid domestic and care work is 19.2% for women and 3.7 % for men<sup>17</sup>.

The strategy to reduce women's poverty envisages focusing more on eliminating gender inequalities rather than just poverty <sup>9</sup>.

In the study by Karadeniz and Öztepe in 2013<sup>13</sup>, it was emphasized that the inability of women to be involved in working life, the interruption of their working lives, and receiving less compensation in their retirement period; the fact that women have less access to education, land, and property brings economic inequalities; and the unpaid work of women in the agricultural sector, the obstacles faced by migrant women from rural to urban areas, and the low-paid, insecure jobs of women who have to work and have a low level of education can be the reasons for poverty in old age <sup>13</sup>. Similarly, in this study, the education level of elderly women was found to be lower. While 68.3% of women have not received education or have dropped out of primary school, this rate is 29.6% for men.

In the 2009 article by Gillen and Kim <sup>20</sup>, the reasons for poverty among elderly women living in the USA were examined, and the emphasis was placed on the decrease in income sources, especially for widowed elderly women <sup>20</sup>. Elderly women with a low level of education receive monthly income at a lower rate and live alone or together at a lower rate. Elderly women with all these disadvantages are actually in a poorer situation.

Although the welfare level criterion used

in our study consists of a score based on the number and variety of many durable consumer goods owned, from television to cars, as well as housing characteristics such as the source of drinking water, toilet facilities, and floor material, the distinctiveness of the groups formed should be discussed. No statistically significant difference in distribution between genders was found in the five-class classification from the richest to the poorest. Since TDHS data was used in the study, some evaluations can be made based on the collected data. It is unknown whether the elderly have sufficient self-reliance under the social security umbrella, or whether the stated welfare level opportunities are provided within their own means or with the support of a spouse, children, etc.

The strength of the study is that the research was conducted using data from a nationwide, community-based survey.

The limitation is that the findings are based solely on the data collected in the TDHS. Since the TDHS focuses specifically on the health of women aged 15-49, the data related to the elderly in this study is quite limited. Various criteria can be used to determine impoverishment. In this study, poverty determination has been evaluated only in terms of having or not having a monthly income and wealth index. We do not know if there are other sources of income entering the household besides these two parameters. Women's spouses may have passed away and they may be indirectly receiving spousal income. Alternatively, they may be receiving financial support from their close circle. All these uncertainties may represent a limitation of the study.

# CONCLUSION

As the population in Türkiye ages over the years and the life expectancy at birth is longer for women, elderly women have become more visible in society. The fact that elderly women have lower education levels, live alone at a higher rate, and have higher economic dependency puts them in a more vulnerable position. The impoverishment of elderly women in Türkiye has now become an important social problem, and the development of social policies and services for elderly women is of critical importance.

Policy recommendations based on these findings:

1. Education and Awareness Programs: Developing specialized programs to increase the education levels of girls/women can help enhance their economic independence.

2. Income Security: Social protection policies for elderly women can be developed such as regular minimum income and other benefits. Making the pension system more inclusive could play a critical role in preventing poverty.

3. Gender Equality: Ensuring gender equality in general will also improve the quality of life for elderly women. It is essential to implement policies that promote gender equality.

These recommendations can contribute to the combat against poverty for elderly women in Türkiye and help elevate their living standards. It is crucial for policymakers to consider these findings and develop strategies to alleviate the challenges faced by elderly women.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

**Conflict of Interest:** All authors declare no conflicts of interest.

**Financial Support:** No funding was received for conducting this study.

**Ethical Statement:** This is a cross-sectional study that involves the secondary analysis of the 2018 Türkiye Demographic and Health Survey (TDHS) national data. The 2018 TDHS was reviewed and approved by the Hacettepe University Ethics Committee. Permission to use the TDHS data was obtained from HÜNEE. All methods in the study were carried out in accordance with the relevant directives and regulations.

**Author Contribution:** Concept: FA, PO, Design: FA, PO, Writing: KET, FA, Data collection: KET, FA, PO, Data analysis: KET, FA, PO, Revising the manuscript critically: FA, PO, Final approval: FA, PO,

# REFERENCES

- 1. United Nations. Ageing [online]. Available at: https:// www.un.org/en/global-issues/ageing Accessed 20.05.2024
- United Nations. United Nation World Population Prospects 2022 [online]. Available at: https://www. un.org/development/desa/pd/sites/www.un.org. development.desa.pd/files/wpp2022\_summary\_of\_ results.pdf Accessed 20.05.2024
- 3. TURKSTAT. Elderly Statistics, 2023 [online]. Available at: https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Elderly-Statistics-2023-53710&dil=2 Accessed 02.01.2025
- 4. Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Aile ve Sosyal Hizmetler Bakanlığı. Yaşlanma Vizyon Belgesi [online]. Available at: https://www.aile.gov.tr/media/133623/ yaslanma\_vizyon\_belgesi.pdf Accessed 20.05.2024
- UNDP. UNDP and the Concept and Measurement of Poverty. Issue Brief (October): 4 [online]. Available at: https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/ zskgke326/files/publications/ISSUE%20BRIEF%20 -UNDP%20and%20the%20concept%20and%20 measurement%20of%20poverty%20pc%20V2.pdf Accessed 21.05.2024
- 6. UNDP. Unstacking Global Poverty: Data for High Impact Action. Global Multi-dimensional Poverty Index 2023: 1-2 [online]. Available at: https://www. un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789210028325/ read Accessed 21.05.2024
- 7. Eryigit Günler O. Social Inequality in Aging. Current

Perspectives in Social Sciences 2022; 26(4): 350-360.

- 8. Buz S. Toplumsal Cinsiyet ve Yoksulluk Odağında Yaşlılık Olgusu. Hacettepe Üniversitesi Sosyolojik Araştırmalar E-Dergisi 2015; 1304: 1-10.
- Gönülaçan A, Umutlu S. Türkiye'de Yaşlı Yoksulluğu ve Yaşlı Kadınların Yoksullukla Mücadelesi: Pazarda Çalışma Örneği. Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Oğuzhan Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi 2020; 2(1): 73-83.
- Ak M, Közleme O. Yaşlı Yoksulluğu. Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi (AEÜSBED) 2017; 3(2): 197-208.
- 11. TURKSTAT. Poverty and Living Conditions Statistics, 2023 (Corrected) [online]. Available at: https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Povertyand-Living-Conditions-Statistics-2023-53841&dil=2#:~:text=Relative%20poverty%20 rate%20was%2013.5%25&text=The%20 at%2Drisk%2Dof%2D,0.9%20points%20 compared%20to%202022. Accessed 02.01.2025
- 12. Uçar C. T.C. Başbakanlık Kadının Statüsü Genel Müdürlüğü Kadın Yoksulluğu İle Mücadelede Sosyal Politika Araçları ve Etkinlikleri [online]. Available at: https://www.aile.gov.tr/media/2527/cerenucar.pdf Accessed 23.05.2024
- 13. Karadeniz O, Durusoy Öztepe N. Türkiye'de Yaşlı Yoksulluğu. Çalışma ve Toplum 2013; 3(38): 77-102.
- 14. Moghadam VM. The Feminization of Poverty in International Perspective. The Brown Journal of World Affairs 1998; 5(2): 225-249.
- 15. Chant S. The 'Feminisation of Poverty' and the 'Feminisation' of Anti-Poverty Programmes: Room for Revision? Journal of Development Studies 2008; 44(2): 165-197.
- 16. TDHS. 2018 Türkiye Demography and Health Survey [online]. Available at: https://dhsprogram.com/ pubs/pdf/FR372/FR372.pdf Accessed 02.01.2025
- 17. World Economic Forum. Global Gender Gap Report, 2023. [online]. Available at: https://www3.weforum. org/docs/WEF\_GGGR\_2023.pdf Accessed 06.12.2024
- TURKSTAT. Labour Force Statistics, October 2024 [online]. Available at: https://data.tuik. gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Labour-Force-Statistics-October-2024-53516 Accessed 02.01.2025
- 19. UNWOMEN. Progress On the Sustainable Development Goals the Gender Snapshot, 2024 [online]. Available at: www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2024-09/ progress-on-the-sustainable-development-goals-thegender-snapshot-2024-en.pdf Accessed 06.12.2024
- Gillen M, Hyungsoo K. Older Women and Poverty Transition. Journal of Applied Gerontology 2009; 28(3): 320-41.

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Knowledge, attitude and practice on nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students



<sup>1</sup>MPH, All Nations University, Nursing Department, Koforidua, Ghana <sup>2</sup> MSc, All Nations University, Nursing Department, Koforidua, Ghana

Received: 19.08.2024, Accepted: 27.01.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** This study aimed to assess the knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students.

Method: A quantitative cross-sectional survey was conducted between August 2023 and November 2023. The study included 180 nursing students from various academic levels. Data were collected using structured questionnaires and analyzed using descriptive and inferential statistics.

**Results:** The findings revealed that the overall knowledge level of the participants on nutrition was moderate, with a mean score of 3.152±0.297 on a five-point Likert scale. Attitudes towards nutrition varied, with distinct dietary patterns identified among participants. Principal component analysis revealed four dietary patterns, each associated with different food consumption habits. While some dietary patterns were associated with healthier attitudes, others showed mixed correlations. Dietary practices among nursing students indicated varying levels of adherence to healthy behaviours. For example, approximately half of the participants reported regular exercise, while less than half consumed breakfast daily. Additionally, only 46.1% of participants reported daily vegetable consumption, while 28.3% reported daily fruit consumption.

**Conclusion:** This study highlights the importance of targeted interventions to improve nutrition knowledge and promote healthier dietary behaviours among nursing students.

Keywords: Nursing Students, Nutrition Education, Diet

Correspondence: Prince Chikwere, MPH, All Nations University, Nursing Department, Koforidua, Ghana E-mail: uc.princechik@gmail.com

Cite This Article: Chikwere P, Asirifi IG. Knowledge, attitude and practice on nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 54-68.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.

(=) (\$)

Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk | Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INRODUCTION**

Nutrition is a fundamental component of healthcare, influencing individuals' overall health and well-being. Adequate nutrition supports optimal growth and development, strengthens immune function, and reduces the risk of chronic diseases.<sup>1</sup> Conversely, poor dietary habits characterized by inadequate nutrient intake, excessive consumption of unhealthy foods, and erratic eating patterns contribute to the burden of malnutrition and diet-related NCDs globally. Ghana, like many sub-Saharan African countries, grapples with the double burden of malnutrition, with persisting issues of undernutrition coexisting with the rising prevalence of obesity and diet-related NCDs.<sup>2</sup> Nursing education plays a pivotal role in shaping the knowledge, attitudes, and practices of future nurses regarding nutrition, thereby influencing their ability to address nutritional needs effectively. Optimal nutrition can aid in the management and prevention of various health conditions, improve patient recovery and rehabilitation, and enhance quality of life.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, nutrition interventions have been shown to reduce healthcare costs and alleviate the strain on healthcare systems by preventing and managing diet-related chronic diseases.<sup>4</sup> Nurses are uniquely positioned to play a central role in promoting nutrition and healthy dietary habits among individuals, families, and communities.

In the context of nursing education, the knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) regarding nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students play a pivotal role in shaping their competence as future healthcare professionals.<sup>5</sup> Moreover, nurses serve as advocates for nutrition-related policies and

programs, working collaboratively with interdisciplinary teams to promote evidencebased nutrition practices and address systemic barriers to healthy eating.<sup>6</sup> Nutrition education equips nursing students with the knowledge, skills, and attitudes necessary to address the nutritional needs of diverse populations effectively. It encompasses a wide range of topics, including basic nutrition principles, dietary assessment techniques, nutritional interventions for various health conditions, and strategies for promoting behaviour change.7 Within the curriculum of nursing programs, nutrition education plays a vital role in preparing students to integrate nutritional assessment, counselling, and intervention into their clinical practice.8 However, the effectiveness of nutrition education efforts hinges on nursing students' KAP regarding nutrition and dietary habits. A conceptual framework is shown in Figure 1.

Understanding the nutrition-related KAP of nursing students at All Nations University in Koforidua, Ghana, is particularly relevant due to the country's unique health challenges and cultural context. Despite the importance of nutrition education in nursing, little is known about the knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) regarding nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students in Ghana and especially, Koforidua. The extent of nutrition knowledge among nursing students remains unclear, raising concerns about their preparedness to provide effective nutritional counselling. This study aimed to address these gaps by assessing KAP regarding nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students, informing targeted interventions to promote healthier lifestyles.

### **METHOD**

#### Study design

The study was a descriptive cross-sectional survey.

#### Study population and sample

study involved university nursing The students enrolled at the Nursing Department, All Nations University, situated in Koforidua, Ghana as participants. At the time of the study, the Nursing Department had a student population of 328 individuals. This diverse cohort comprised students from various educational backgrounds, including holders of West African Senior School Certificate (WASSC), certificate holders with designations such as Registered Nurse Assistant Clinical (RNAC), Registered Health Assistant Clinical (RHAC), and Registered Nurse Assistant Preventive (RNAP), as well as diploma holders recognized as Registered General Nurses (RGN). Notably, a significant proportion of the student body consisted of weekend students who concurrently worked in healthcare roles, serving either as registered general nurses or enrolled nurses.

The sample size (n) was determined to be 180, using Yamane's formula for calculating samples with a known population (328) as follows:

 $n = N/1 + (N \times e^2) = 328/1 + (328 \times 0.05^2)$ 

The calculation was based on a 95% confidence level and a 5% margin of error (e). To account for potential variations in knowledge, attitudes, and practices attributed to different stages of nursing education, the population was stratified based on academic year cohorts, including first year, second year, third year, and fourth year students. The final

sample consisted 55% of each year group. A summary of the sampling procedure is demonstrated in Figure 2.



**Figure 1.** Conceptual framework on KAP on nutrition and dietary habits





#### **Data collection instrument**

The data collection process involved a selfadministered structured questionnaire. The first section collected biodata/socio-economic characteristics of the study participants such as age, gender, admission type, economic status, ailments from chronic diseases, and lifestyle (exercise, cigarette smoking and alcohol drinking). The second section was a food frequency questionnaire consisting of one closed question having fourteen sub questions with "Daily", "3-5 times Per week", "Weekly (1-2 times)", "Monthly", "Occasionally", and "Never", as alternative answers. The fourteen sub questions are made of food groups and the section assessed frequency of intakes of the food groups. The third section of the questionnaire assessed the knowledge of respondents on twenty nutrition-related statements with a 5-point Likert scale – "Strongly disagree", "Disagree", "Neither or disagree", "Agree", and "Strongly agree".

The questionnaire was pretested among fifteen (15) student nurses in All Nations University. The second section (food frequency questionnaire) was pretested in a focus group discussion that involved seven (7) persons: five student nurses, the researcher, and a recorder. The draft questionnaire was reviewed by a nutritionist and a nurse.

The participants were assisted to take their anthropometric (weight and height) measurements. The weight and height were used to calculate body mass index (BMI) in kilograms per squared meter. The BMI measurements were used as health outcome measures since they have implications for nutrition.

## **Data Processing and Analysis**

Data was analysed by the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 20.0 software. Descriptive statistics, such as means, frequencies, and percentages, were used to summarize demographic characteristics and key variables related to KAP on nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students. Means and standard deviations for continuous variables were computed and compared by one-way ANOVA. Nutritional knowledge was analysed using a Likert scale where a ratio scale numbered, 1-5, was formulated. For true nutrition statements, "1 = Strongly disagree", "2 = Disagree", "3 = Neither or disagree", "4 = Agree", and "5= Strongly agree". For false nutrition statements, "1 = Strongly agree", "2 = Agree", "3 = Neither or disagree", "4 = Disagree", and "5= Strongly disagree". These coding allowed for the computation of the overall mean response as well as mean responses for the individual statements. The means derived from the Likert scale calculations were used to evaluate the level of knowledge on nutrition of the participants. For the purposes of this research, means from the Likert scale less/equal to 3 ( $\leq$  3) was interpreted as "bad" nutrition knowledge, means 3.1 to 3.6 were interpreted as "satisfactory", means 3.6 to 4.0 were interpreted as "good", means 4.1 to 4.5 were interpreted as "very good", and means 4.6 to 5.0 were interpreted as "excellent". Means of 3.05 were approximated to 3.1 and means of 3.55 were approximated to 3.6, for easy interpretation. Chi-square (X2) was used to assess demographic data. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was used to find the dietary patterns from the food frequency questionnaire by coded input variables, "1 = Daily", "2 = 3-5 times per week", "3 = Weekly (1-2 times)", "4 = Monthly", "5 = Occasionally", "6 = Never". Factor loadings were obtained for each of the foods in correlations with the components which were identified as dietary patterns. The foods within a pattern, with the highest factor loadings were used to characterize the dietary pattern. Pearson correlation (r) was used to determine the relationship between nutritional knowledge level and dietary patterns. The level of significance was at 0.05.

# RESULTS

# Demographic and other characteristics of participants by gender

The study involved a total of 180 participants, comprising 156 (86.9 %) females and 24 (13.1 %) males. The mean age of the participants was 29.78±5.51, mean BMI 27.35±5.30, mean SBP 113.69±8.63, and mean DBP 72.32±8.82. Table 1 presents the demographic data of participants.

More than half (111; 61.7 %) of the participants were certificate nurses (enrolled nurses). Most of the respondents (129; 71.7 %) got their nutrition information from either a health practitioner or nutrition lecturer.

Table 1. Demographic and other characteristic	cs of participants b	y gende	r			
Variable	Participants	Femal	e	Male		p-value
	N=180	(n=15	6)	(n=2	4)	
		n	%	n	%	
Educational level						0.756
Diploma Nursing	22	19	12.2	3	12.5	
Diploma/Degree other than Nursing	3	2	1.3	1	4.2	
HAC/NAC/NAP	111	99	63.5	12	50.0	
WASSCE	44	36	23.1	8	33.3	
Academic level						0.011*
Level 100	34	26	16.7	8	33.3	
Level 200	66	59	37.8	7	29.2	
Level 300	60	54	34.6	6	25.0	
Level 400	20	17	10.9	3	12.1	
Economic status (self-reported)						0.139
Bad	8	7	4.5	1	4.2	
Good	38	37	23.7	1	4.2	
Moderate	134	112	71.8	22	91.7	
Chronic disease in self						0.335
No	170	148	94.9	22	91.7	
Yes	10	8	5.1	2	8.3	
Regular exercise						0.349
No	90	81	51.9	9	37.5	
Yes	90	75	48.1	15	62.5	
Smoking						
No	180	156	100	24	100	
Yes	0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
Alcohol drinking						0.171
Ex-drinker	2	2	1.3	0	0.0	
No	172	150	96.2	22	91.7	
Yes	6	4	2.6	2	8.3	

#### Chikwere P. et al.

Variable	Participants	Female		Male		p-value
	N=180	(n=156)		(n=24)		
		n(%)		n(%)		
		n	%	n	%	
Nutrition knowledge source						0.024*
Blogs, internet forum, discussion	11	11	7.1	0	0.0	
Family and friends	23	20	12.8	3	12.5	
Nutritionist/nutrition tutor/	129	111	71.2	18	75.0	
physician/nurse						
Press and news website	2	2	1.3	0	0.0	
Radio and television	6	3	1.9	3	12.5	
Social media e.g. Facebook	9	9	5.8	0	0.0	
Breakfast Always	70	61	39.1	9	37.5	0.578
Always	70	61	39.1	9	37.5	
	3	2	1.3	1	4.2	
Sometimes	107	93	59.6	14	58.3	0 (50
	0	0	F 1	1	4.2	0.658
	9	8 	5.1	1	4.2	
Une	2	2	1.3	0	0.0	
Inree	90	<u>کې</u>	54.5	11	45.8	
	/3	61	39.1	12	50.0	0.607
Ever received professional diet						0.637
No	111	0.0	62.0	12	E4 2	
Vac	40	70 E0	02.0	10	154.2	
ICS What informs food shoise	07	30	57.2	11	43.0	0.025*
Adventigement	7		2.2	ົ ງ	0.2	0.025*
Auverusement	/	<u>э</u> эо	3.2	<u> </u>	0.0	
Excitement to eat	20	20	21.9	4	167	
Friends and family	0	54 E	21.0 2.2	4	16.7	
Filenus and failing	7	<u>Э</u>	5.2	4	10./	

N is total number of participants; n is the number of males or females in a category; percentages are in parentheses; \*significant difference

between variables at p<0.05

# Knowledge on nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students

The overall knowledge of the participants on nutrition as estimated by the mean of the responses on the nutrition knowledge was  $3.152\pm0.297$ . Sixty-eight participants (37.5 %) had score  $\leq 3.0$ , ninety-two participants (51.3 %) had scores 3.1 to 3.5, nineteen participants (10.6 %) had scores 3.6 to 4.0, and only one participant (0.6 %) had scores between 4.1 to 4.5. None of the participants had scores between 4.6 to 5.0. The levels of nutrition knowledge on the various test items are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Knowledge level of nutrition and dietary habits among participants							
S/No	Nutrition knowledge test items	Mean response					
	Fat is always bad for your health; you should therefore avoid it as much as	3.14					
	possible						
	If you have eaten high-fat foods, you can reverse the effects by eating apples	3.31					
	A balanced diet implies eating all foods in the same amounts	3.33					
	For a healthy nutrition, dairy products should be consumed in the same amounts	3.19					
	as fruit and vegetables						
	Brown sugar is much healthier than white sugar	2.69					
	To eat healthily, you should eat less fat. Whether you also eat more fruit and	3.38					
	vegetables does not matter						
	Oily fish (salmon, mackerel) contain healthier fats than red meat	3.55					
	Meat sausage contains more salt than cream cheese	2.99					
	Skimmed milk (low fat) contains fewer minerals than full-fat milk	3.00					
	The health benefit of fruit and vegetables lies alone in the supply of vitamins and	2.86					
	minerals						
	Dairy products contain more saturated fats (fatty acids) than vegetable oils	3.32					
	If cream is whipped (to solid) it contains less calories than in its liquid form	3.13					
	Fat contains fewer calories than the same amount of fiber	3.26					
	The same amount of sugar and fat contains equally many calories	3.11					
	Malnutrition can be reversed at any point with appropriate diets	2.26					
	When a pregnant woman is undernourished, she is at risk of having a low-birth-	3.84					
	weight baby						
	When taken during meals, Vitamin-C-rich foods such as fresh citrus fruits, help	3.74					
	the body absorb and use iron.						
	Palm oil does not contain unsaturated fats	3.01					
	Whole-grain bread has a higher vitamin and mineral content	3.30					
	Plantain is a major source of iron	2.63					

For the statements, "When a pregnant woman is undernourished, she is at risk of having a low-birth-weight baby" and "When taken during meals, Vitamin-C-rich foods such as fresh citrus fruits, help the body absorb and use iron", participants had good knowledge level with scores of 3.84 and 3.74 respectively. Bad level of knowledge was recorded for the statements, "The health benefit of fruit and vegetables lies alone in the supply of vitamins and minerals" (2.86), "Brown sugar is much healthier than white sugar" (2.69), "Plantain is a major source of iron" (2.63), and "Malnutrition can be reversed at

any point with appropriate diets" (2.26). Table 3 illustrates the prevalence of participants' knowledge according to their academic level.

# Attitudes on nutrition and dietary habits among Nursing students

Four components were derived from the principal component analysis with Eigenvalues of 4.285, 1.910, 1.302, and 1.084 for Pattern I, Pattern II, Pattern III, and Pattern IV respectively (Table 3). The percentage of variance for the identified patterns were respectively 30.608 %, 13.645 %, 9.300 %, and 7.743 %.

Table 3. Factor loadings of extracted components							
	Dietary patterns						
Foods	Ι	II	III	IV			
Cereals & Grains and their products	0.374	0.166	0.481	0.072			
	1						
Starchy Roots and Tubers and their products	0.389	0.304	-0.305	0.587			
Legumes and Legume Products	0.508	0.421	-0.381	0.168			
Nuts & Seeds and their products	0.642	0.369	-0.352	-0.066			
Meat, Eggs & Game and their products	0.587	-0.025	0.404	0.141			
Sea Foods/Freshwater fishes and their products	0.482	0.309	0.258	0.139			
Milk and Milk Products	0.694	-0.240	0.196	-0.120			
Fats and Oils (e.g. cooking oils, fried foods)	0.526	-0.382	0.384	0.335			
Processed Foods and fast foods	0.625	-0.416	-0.128	0.174			
Salty Foods (e.g. momoni, koobi)	0.619	-0.295	-0.315	0.076			
Fruits (e.g. orange, pawpaw. Mango)	0.591	0.527	-0.045	-0.301			
Vegetables (e.g. garden eggs, leafy vegetables)	0.538	0.420	0.315	-0.347			
Beverages and Non-Sugar Alcohols (e.g. tea, coffee, cocoa beverages)	0.510	-0.288	-0.206	-0.525			
Sugary drinks	0.562	-0.615	-0.184	-0.115			

Values are factor loadings or correlations of each food with components identified. A positive factor loading indicates the food sample is positively associated with the dietary pattern, while a negative factor loading indicates an inverse association with the dietary pattern.

Pattern I is characterized by more frequent intakes of nuts & seeds, milk and milk products, processed foods and fast foods, and salty foods. Pattern II was characterized by more frequent intakes of legumes and legume products, fruits and vegetables and less frequent intakes of sugary drinks, processed foods and fast foods. Pattern III is characterized by more frequent intakes of cereals & Grains and meat, eggs & game. Pattern IV is characterized by more frequent intakes of starchy roots and tubers and less frequent intakes of beverages and non-sugar alcohols.

The overall level of nutrition of participants was negatively correlated with Dietary pattern II (p<0.05) and Dietary patten III (p<0.01) (Table 4).

Table 4. Relation of the dietary pattern to the overall knowledge of the participants									
Variable	Dietary patterns								
	PATTERN I	PATTERN II	PATTERN III	PATTERN IV					
Overall nutrition knowledge	0.040	-0.148*	-0.196**	-0.028					

\*Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed). \*\*Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (1-tailed).

# Practices on nutrition and dietary habits among Nursing students

About half (46.1 %) of the participants took vegetables daily and another 27.2 % consumed vegetables 3-5 times per week (Table 5). Only 28.3 % took fruits daily and another 28.9

%, 3-5 times per week. Occasionally, 8.3 % had intakes of fruits. About one-third of the participants (32.8 %) took processed foods 1-2 times per week. Only 7 % and 8.9 % of the participants claimed never to have consumed beverages (such as coffee) and sugary drinks respectively (Table 5).

Table 5. Frequency of consumption of various food groups and types												
Food group/type		Frequency of consumption										
	Daily		3-5 times		1-2 times		Monthly		Occasionally		Never	
			per week		per week							
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Cereals & Grains	66	36.7	84	46.7	24	13.3	1	0.6	5	2.7	0	0.0
Starchy Roots and Tubers	39	21.7	63	35.0	66	36.7	2	1.1	8	4.4	2	1.1
Legumes	25	13.9	68	37.7	53	29.4	18	10.0	16	8.9	0	0.0
Nuts & Seeds	23	12.8	41	22.8	62	34.4	21	11.7	31	17.2	2	1.1
Meat, Eggs & Game		40.6	56	31.1	34	18.9	11	6.1	5	2.7	1	0.6
Sea Foods/Freshwater fishes	64	35.6	51	28.3	42	23.3	9	5.0	13	7.2	1	0.6
Milk	47	26.1	59	32.8	48	26.7	9	5.0	16	8.9	1	0.6
Fats and Oils (e.g. cooking oils,		39.4	59	32.8	34	18.8	8	4.4	8	4.4	0	0.0
fried foods)												
Processed Foods and fast foods	16	8.8	47	26.1	59	32.8	19	10.6	36	20.0	3	1.7
Salty Foods	15	8.3	29	16.1	75	41.7	21	11.7	30	16.7	8	4.4
Fruits	51	28.3	52	28.9	45	25.0	17	9.4	15	8.3	0	0.0
Vegetables	83	46.1	49	27.2	37	20.5	7	3.9	4	2.2	0	0.0
<b>Beverages and Non-Sugar</b>	34	18.9	44	24.4	62	34.4	9	5.0	24	13.3	7	3.9
Alcohols												
Sugary drinks		10.5	33	18.3	53	29.4	16	8.9	43	23.9	16	8.9

# DISCUSSION

The study sought to assess knowledge, attitude, and practice on nutrition and dietary habits among nursing students of All Nations University, Koforidua. In recent times, the significant rise in non-communicable diseases (NCDs) related to diet has been associated with environments that encourage the overconsumption of unhealthy foods and restrict opportunities for physical activity.<sup>9,10</sup> For this purpose, it is crucially essential to educate the public about nutrition and to execute intervention tactics aimed at elevating the degree of nutritional literacy.<sup>11</sup> It is crucial *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*  to provide training to nurses, who play a significant role in executing public health enhancement strategies and decision-making, to enhance their understanding of nutrition and nutrition literacy. A previous study proposed that this training should commence during their undergraduate education.<sup>8</sup> Consequently, nursing students with a robust grasp of nutrition and nutrition literacy will be equipped to effectively advise society as future nurses before completing their studies.

The level of knowledge of the participants was low (with the score of 3.15) but 'satisfactory'

based on the rating used in the study. In a similar study by Chepulis & Mearns,<sup>5</sup> the level nutritional knowledge scores of nursing students were low. Unfortunately, about 38 % had bad knowledge of nutrition ( $\leq$  3). And another 51.3 % of the participants only had satisfactory scores (3.1 to 3.5). Interestingly, only 10.6 % of the participants had 'good' (scores 3.6 to 4.0) level of knowledge on nutrition. A study in Turkey, however, found about half of the students had good level of nutrition knowledge.<sup>7</sup> The highest scores, 3.84 and 3.74, were respectively recorded for the knowledge on the statements, "When a pregnant woman is undernourished, she is at risk of having a low-birth-weight baby" and "When taken during meals, Vitamin-C-rich foods such as fresh citrus fruits, help the body absorb and use iron". These scores represent 'good' level of knowledge. Participants displayed good level of knowledge (scores between 3.6 to 4.0) for the test items, "When a pregnant woman is undernourished, she is at risk of having a low-birth-weight baby" and "When taken during meals, Vitamin-Crich foods such as fresh citrus fruits, help the body absorb and use iron". Apparently, the highest score was elicited by the former followed by the latter test item. Most of the participants were females and may be conscious of the outcomes of their present and future pregnancies. Vitamin C is one of the commonest vitamins and it is not surprising that the participants had a good score on the test item concerning the vitamin.

'Bad' levels of knowledge were demonstrated for the statements, "The health benefit of fruit and vegetables lies alone in the supply of vitamins and minerals" (2.86), "Brown sugar is much healthier than white sugar" (2.69), "Plantain is a major source of iron" (2.63), and *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*  "Malnutrition can be reversed at any point with appropriate diets" (2.26). Participants asserted that the only health benefits that can be obtained from fruits and vegetables is the provision of vitamins and minerals. Fruits and vegetables contain fibres for prevention of constipation and colon cancer, they also contain considerable amount of water. Brown sugar was seen as being healthier than white sugar. These two sugars same; the difference only lies in the colouration. Participants also agreed that malnutrition can be reversed at any point with appropriate diets. This statement certainly is false. When malnutrition reaches chronic levels, it becomes almost impossible to reverse it. Plantain is still seen as a major source of iron. Plantain is a source of iron but not a major source; it mainly supplies carbohydrate. Nurses, as the primary cohort of healthcare professionals, are strategically positioned to oversee and assist in fulfilling patients' fundamental nutritional needs within diverse work settings and cultures. In hospital settings, this responsibility may encompass addressing issues such as eating problems, dehydration, and/or malnutrition,<sup>12</sup> contributing to prolonged hospital stays and an elevated risk of mortality if untreated. Thus, enhancing patients' health outcomes stands as a crucial duty for nurses. Nevertheless, as indicated by Chao et al., student nurses exhibit limited knowledge in this domain.<sup>13</sup> Insufficient nutrition literacy emerges as a significant obstacle to delivering comprehensive, high-quality nutritional care to patients. It becomes imperative to plan postundergraduate education training sessions to enhance the confidence and motivation of nursing students in providing effective nutritional care.<sup>13</sup> Consequently, augmenting nutrition literacy among nursing students

Nutrition and dietary habits of students nurses

becomes pivotal for enhancing public health outcomes and the quality of life for patients. Though the mean SBP and DBP are low and in normal range, the mean BMI was within the overweight range. Half of the participants did not engage in regular exercise (Table 1).<sup>14</sup> Yamamoto et al. suggests that skipping meals results in additional eating throughout the day, which can lead to weight gain.<sup>15</sup> Though most of the participants reported a healthy nutrition behaviour, more than half took regular meals and less than half took breakfast daily (Table 1).

University students commonly exhibit a low consumption of daily fruits and vegetables, coupled with a heightened intake of fried foods.<sup>14</sup> Despite some reported unhealthy eating habits, most students possess a sound understanding of the food pyramid and balanced nutrition. The challenges may arise from factors such as stress, a heavy workload, and time constraints, leading university students to make suboptimal food choices. Consequently, adhering to healthy eating patterns becomes challenging for these university students.<sup>14</sup>

Most of the participants in the present study were already working, giving them a good socio-economic status (Table 1). This may account for the types of varied and complex dietary patterns in the study. A study in Australia identified three dietary patterns the healthy pattern composed of fruit, vegetables, and legumes, the Western pattern compose of high fat, sugar, and salt, and the unbalanced pattern.<sup>19</sup> Though Williams et al. associated the dietary patterns with socio-demographic factors, it was apparent that most nursing students adopt unhealthy dietary patterns similar to those of their counterparts in other university academic programmes.<sup>19</sup>

The overall level of nutrition of participants was negatively associated with Dietary pattern II (p<0.05) and Dietary patten III (p<0.01) (Table 4). Participants with high score and high nutrition knowledge are less likely to adhere with Dietary pattern II and dietary pattern III. Assessing nutritional knowledge solely with a general score may not fully capture its influence on dietary preferences. Considering factors such as socioeconomic status, lifestyle, and cultural habits could reveal variations in the relationship between dietary patterns and knowledge levels. The observed negative correlations suggest that a tendency toward healthy eating does not always align with conscious nutritional knowledge. This highlights the need for health education initiatives to bridge these gaps. The knowledge may not have direct correlation with blood pressure and anthropometric measurements. An earlier study indicated a positive correlation between the dietary attitudes of nursing students and their nutrition knowledge.<sup>20</sup> The earlier study suggested that to enhance the dietary perspectives of nursing students, educators nursing should create educational in intervention initiatives focused on nutrition. These programs aim to boost understanding of nutrition and pinpoint issues related to food habits. Liao et al. reported that nutrition literacy accounted for 17.2% of the overall variance in healthy-eating behaviours among college students.<sup>21</sup> The results of Liao et al. indicated suboptimal levels of nutrition literacy among college students and a positive correlation was observed between elevated levels of nutrition literacy and the adoption of healthier dietary behaviours.<sup>21</sup> Consequently,

it is thus imperative to devise strategies for enhancing nutrition literacy in college students as a means to encourage healthier eating habits.<sup>21</sup> In a study that involved students in nursing, law, and Islamic sciences, Uysal et al. reported a correlation between health literacy and nutrition knowledge.<sup>22</sup> Consistent with existing literature, it can be argued that elevating nursing students' nutrition knowledge by nurse educators would lead to an increase in students' nutrition literacy. The current nutrition education provided to undergraduate nursing students is insufficient to meet the demands placed on future nurses as healthcare professionals, especially in delivering nutritional care aligned with patient needs. Adequate preparation for training is essential to support the longterm health of nurses themselves while enhancing their professional competence address contemporary to nutritional challenges.<sup>22</sup> Consequently, there is a critical need to enhance nursing students' capacity to acquire, process, and comprehend nutrition information, along with the skills necessary for making informed nutritional decisions. A study reiterates that improvement should start from the undergraduate level, and nutrition lessons should be incorporated into the nursing curriculum.<sup>7</sup> Interestingly, participants in the current study have benefitted from a nursing curriculum that includes a nutrition course. It is obvious the two to three-hour course is not enough to elicit a high level of nutrition knowledge and behaviour. Interventions should be created to enhance the dietary behaviours of nursing students through health-promoting activities<sup>4</sup> and the accessibility of online health resources.19

The findings (Table 1) suggest a high level *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)* 

of awareness among participants regarding the detrimental health effects associated with alcohol and tobacco use, aligning with global efforts to promote healthy lifestyle behaviours.<sup>23</sup> Regarding dietary habits. less than half of the participants reported consuming breakfast regularly (38.9%), while the majority reported consuming three meals daily (53.3%). Interestingly, a higher proportion of males than females reported consuming three meals daily, suggesting potential differences in meal patterns between genders. Moreover, a significant proportion of participants (40.6%) reported consuming only two meals daily, with a higher percentage of males (50.0%) than females (35.6%) adopting this dietary pattern. This finding raises concerns about the adequacy of nutrition intake among participants, particularly those consuming fewer meals per day, as it may impact their overall nutrient intake and energy levels.<sup>24</sup> Additionally, a small percentage of participants reported regularly purchasing already cooked food, with a higher proportion of males (16.7%) than females (less than 5%) engaging in this behaviour. This highlights potential differences in dietary preferences and convenience-seeking behaviours between genders. Overall, the findings underscore the importance of promoting regular exercise and healthy dietary behaviours among participants, with targeted interventions needed to address gender disparities and encourage healthier lifestyle choices.

Research conducted by Alzaben et al. affirmed that a nutrition awareness program heightened pupils' nutritional knowledge but did not significantly impact their dietary habits.<sup>25</sup> Riley et al. highlighted gaps in nursing and healthcare curricula, emphasizing the need for training in healthy dietary habits and food insecurity screening.<sup>26</sup> Nonetheless, Zaghamir & Ibrahim suggested that the young age of the student nurses and the above-average percentage of parents without college degrees may contribute to their lack of knowledge regarding nutrition and eating habits.<sup>4</sup> Factors such as neglecting ward duties, disinterest in attending seminars or lectures, and an unwillingness to educate themselves on nutrition and eating habits may contribute to their inadequacy in nutrition knowledge.

The study established a positive correlation between higher knowledge scores and higher education levels, underscoring the potential importance of education in fostering understanding and awareness of nutrition and dietary practices. These findings resonate with previous research indicating that a higher level of education predicts a greater understanding of healthy nutrition and dietary habits.<sup>27</sup> Patients are anticipated to receive nutritional advice from nurses and other healthcare professionals. Nurses are frontliners in patient care and it is important to assess their level of knowledge in nutrition. Nursing students had a high prevalence of overweight and obesity, poor eating habits, and insufficient knowledge on key nutrition issues.<sup>28</sup> Young adult nursing students and nurses are the future of the nursing fraternity; knowledge of nutrition will be essential to their personal health and the health of their patients. According to studies, doctors and nurses who have a normal BMI are more likely to discuss weight, diet, and lifestyle issues with their patients and use strategies to prevent obesity in patients.<sup>29</sup> Nutrition transition has caused a drastic change in diet as processed foods and animal-based foods predominate meals. The young adults are caught up in this Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

transition as they wean from parental control. Furthermore, students, especially those in nursing schools, often face busy schedules and the need to balance various activities. Many succumb to unhealthy eating habits during this period, engaging in practices such as skipping meals, dieting, consuming fast food, and reducing physical activities. Their increased independence, marked by leaving their parents' home, intensive study sessions, occasional part-time jobs, and limited attention to the quality and quantity of their meals, further contribute to these unhealthy behaviours.<sup>30</sup> Moreover, students frequently resort to high-energy, low-nutrient foods like candy bars, cookies, and fast foods, opting for convenience over nutritional value. Academic pressures also impact their dietary choices, resulting in inadequate consumption of vegetables, fruits, and fiber, while increasing intake of fats, sodium, and sugars. Consequently, these habits lead to unhealthy dietary patterns and undesirable behaviours.

## **CONCLUSION**

Overall, the findings highlight moderate levels of knowledge, varying attitudes, and mixed dietary practices among nursing students regarding nutrition and dietary habits. These results underscore the importance of targeted interventions to improve nutrition knowledge and promote healthier dietary behaviours among nursing students.

The study is not without limitations typical of descriptive cross-sectional studies. It relied on memories of participants. There was absence of data on potential confounders (educational and environmental factors as stipulated in Figure 1) and bias sources, and an inability to capture the full complexity of data. As a quantitative study, it did not capture
the context and subjective experiences of individuals.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMET

The authors are grateful to the Nursing Department, All Nations University, Ghana, and to all nursing students who participated in the study.

**Financial Support :** The study was exclusively funded by the authors.

**Concflict of Interest :** The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical Declaration: Prior to commencing the study, permission was sought from the Nursing Department, All Nations University and the study was approved by the All Nations Ethics Review Committee. Furthermore, the principle of informed consent was meticulously upheld, as all potential participants were provided with comprehensive information regarding the purpose, procedures, and potential risks and benefits of the study. Written consent was obtained from each participant, reaffirming their voluntary participation and understanding of their rights as research subjects. Stringent measures were implemented to safeguard confidentiality and anonymity of participants.

**Author Contrubition:** Concept: PC; Design: PC, IGA; Supervising: PC; Data collection and entry: PC, IGA; Analysis and interpretation: PC; Literature search: PC, IGA; Writing: PC, IGA; Critical review: PC.

# REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organisation. Nutrition. 2021. Available at: https://www.who.int/health-topics/ nutrition. Accessed December 5, 2023.
- World Health Organisation. Key facts on noncommunicable diseases. 2023. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/noncommunicable diseases. Accessed January 6, 2024.
- Varì R, d'Amore A, Silenzi A, Chiarotti F, Del Papa S, Giovannini C, Scazzocchio B, Masella R. Improving Nutrition Knowledge and Skills by the Innovative Education Program MaestraNatura in Middle School Students of Italy. Nutrients. 2022; 14(10): 2037.
- 4. Zaghamir DEF, Ibrahim AM. Efficiency of an intervention study on nursing students' knowledge and practices regarding nutrition and dietary habits. The Libyan Journal of Medicine. 2023; 18(1): 2281121.
- Chepulis LM, Mearns GJ. Evaluation of the Nutritional Knowledge of Undergraduate Nursing Students. The Journal of Nursing Education. 2015: 54(9), S103–S106.
- 6. Hwang Y, Oh J. Factors Affecting Health-Promoting Behaviors among Nursing Students. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public health. 2020; 17(17): 6291.
- Mengi Çelik Ö, & Semerci R. Evaluation of nutrition literacy and nutrition knowledge level in nursing students: a study from Turkey. BMC Nursing. 2022; 21(1): 359.
- 8. Buxton C, Davies A. Nutritional knowledge levels of nursing students in a tertiary institution: lessons for curriculum planning. Nurse education in practice. 2013;13(5): 355–360.
- Allen LN, Wigley S, Holmer H. Implementation of non-communicable disease policies from 2015 to 2020: a geopolitical analysis of 194 countries. The Lancet. Global health. 2021; 9(11): e1528–e1538.
- 10. Cammock R, Tonumaipe'a D, Conn C, Sa'uLilo L, Tautolo ES, Nayar S. From individual behaviour strategies to sustainable food systems: Countering the obesity and non-communicable diseases epidemic in New Zealand. Health policy. 2021; 125(2): 229–238.
- 11. Zeldman J, Andrade JM. Identifying Physicians' and Nurses' Nutrition Knowledge Using Validated Instruments: A Systematic Narrative Review. International Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences. 2020; 9(2): 43-53.
- 12. Volkert D, Beck AM, Cederholm T, Cruz-Jentoft A, Goisser S, Hooper L, Kiesswetter E, Maggio M,

Raynaud-Simon A, Sieber CC, Sobotka L, van Asselt D, Wirth R, Bischoff SC. ESPEN guideline on clinical nutrition and hydration in geriatrics. Clinical Nutrition. 2019; 38(1): 10–47.

- Chao AM, Luong V, Dowd M, Compher C. A National Survey of Faculty Perceptions of Nutrition in Nursing Education. The Journal of Nursing Education. 2020; 59(10): 566–569.
- 14. Tok CY, Ahmad SR, Koh DSQ. Dietary habits and lifestyle practices among university students in Universiti Brunei Darussalam. Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences. 2018; 25(3):56–66.
- 15. Yamamoto R, Tomi R, Shinzawa M, Yoshimura R, Ozaki S, Nakanishi K, Ide S, Nagatomo I, Nishida M, Yamauchi-Takihara K, Kudo T, Moriyama T. Associations of Skipping Breakfast, Lunch, and Dinner with Weight Gain and Overweight/Obesity in University Students: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Nutrients. 2021; 13(1): 271.
- 16. Rivera Medina C, Briones Urbano M, de Jesús Espinosa A, Toledo López Á. Eating Habits Associated with Nutrition-Related Knowledge among University Students Enrolled in Academic Programs Related to Nutrition and Culinary Arts in Puerto Rico. Nutrients. 2020; 12(5): 1408.
- Mlambo M, Silén C, McGrath C. Lifelong learning and nurses' continuing professional development, a metasynthesis of the literature. BMC Nursing. 2021; 20: 62.
- Mancin S, Soekeland F, Morenghi E, Andreoli D, Mazzoleni B. Enhancing the teaching of nutrition for nursing students: Engagement in class through a digital learning environment. Teaching and Learning in Nursing. 2024; 19(1): e229-e234.
- Williams SL, Vandelanotte C, Irwin C, Bellissimo N, Heidke P, Saluja S, Saito A, Khalesi S. Association between dietary patterns and sociodemographics: A cross-sectional study of Australian nursing students. Nursing & Health sciences. 2020; 22(1): 38–48.
- Kim SO, Kim SM. Nutrition Knowledge, Food Habit Problems and Dietary Attitudes of Nursing Students. Journal of Korean Academic Society of Nursing Education. 2015; 21(4): 466–476.
- 21. Liao L-L, Lai I-J, Chang L-C. Nutrition literacy is associated with healthy eating behaviour among college students in Taiwan. Health Education Journal. 2019; 78(7):756–69.

- Uysal N, Ceylan E, Koç A. Health literacy level and influencing factors in university students. Health & Social care in the Community. 2020; 28(2): 505– 511.
- 23. World Health Organisation. Noncommunicable diseases country profiles 2018 Geneva World Health Organization. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241514620. Accessed January 6, 2024.
- 24. Brandhorst S, Longo VD. Dietary Restrictions and Nutrition in the Prevention and Treatment of Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation Research. 2019; 124(6): 952–965.
- Alzaben AS, Alnashwan NI, Alatr AA, Alneghamshi NA, Alhashem AM. Effectiveness of a nutrition education and intervention programme on nutrition knowledge and dietary practice among Princess Nourah Bint Abdulrahman University's population. Public Health Nutrition. 2021; 24(7): 1854–1860.
- Riley E, Haggard-Duff L, Long CR. Using an online learning module to teach nursing students about food insecurity as a social determinant of health. Teaching and Learning in Nursing. 2020; 15(4): 241–244.
- 27. Egg S, Wakolbinger M, Reisser A, Schätzer M, Wild B, Rust P. Relationship between nutrition knowledge, education and other determinants of food intake and lifestyle habits among adolescents from urban and rural secondary schools in Tyrol, Western Austria. Public Health Nutrition. 2020; 23(17): 3136–3147.
- Van den Berg VL, Okeyo AP, Dannhauser A, Nel M. Body weight, eating practices and nutritional knowledge amongst university nursing students, Eastern Cape, South Africa. African Journal Primary Health Care and Family Medicine. 2012; 4(1): 323-331.
- 29. Zhu DQ, Norman IJ, While AE. The relationship between doctors' and nurses' own weight status and their weight management practices: a systematic review. Obesity Reviews. 2011; 12(6): 459-469.
- Sogari G, Velez-Argumedo C, Gómez MI, Mora C. College Students and Eating Habits: A Study Using An Ecological Model for Healthy Behaviour. Nutrients. 2018; 10(12): 1823.

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Predictors of addiction to smartphone social networks in Iranian firstyear medical sciences students

Azam Mohammadi<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Farzaneh Khodabandeh<sup>2</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Hadis Nazari<sup>3</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Batool Soleimannezhad<sup>4</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Ellahe Bahrami-Vazir<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Ph.D. Student in Reproductive Health, Department of Midwifery and Reproductive Health, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Islamic Republic of Iran

<sup>2</sup> Instructor, Department of Midwifery, Faculty of Medicine, North Khorasan University of Medical Sciences, Bojnurd, Islamic Republic of Iran

<sup>3</sup> Instructor, Department of Pediatric Nursing, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Ahvaz Jundishapur University of Medical Sciences, Ahvaz, Islamic Republic of Iran

<sup>4</sup> Instructor, Master of Science Clinical Psychology, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Ilam University of Medical Science, Ilam, Islamic Republic of Iran

Received: 31.08.2024, Accepted: 12.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** Social media addiction (SMA) among male and female students is different and influenced by different factors. This study was conducted to investigate the predictors of SMA in male and female first-year medical sciences students of Ilam-Iran.

**Method:** In this descriptive cross-sectional study, 286 male and female first-year students living in dormitories entered the study in 2022 by cluster random sampling method. The data collection tools included demographic characteristics, activity in social medias, and smartphone addiction based on social media usage. The data were analyzed using SPSS software. Independent t-test and the general linear model were used.

**Results:** The mean  $\pm$  SD of the overall score of SMA in females was lower than males, but there was no statistical difference (59.4  $\pm$  18.8 vs. 63.3  $\pm$  16.3, P=0.063). Both groups were in the range of normal users of social media. Females and males had statistically significant differences in subdomains of individual performance and social communication (P  $\leq$  0.001). Instagram was the most commonly used social media and female used Instagram less than male (45% vs. 48%, P>0.001). In both groups, use of social media in clinical settings, also in male amount of daily activity in social media were predictors of SMA.

**Conclusion:** Students were in the range of normal users of social media, but they were active in social media in clinical settings and Instagram was the most commonly used social media. Education authorities should have appropriate planning to correct use of , social media in clinical settings.

Keywords: Addiction, Smartphone, Social media, Students

**Correspondence:** Ellahe Bahrami-Vazir, Instructor, Department of midwifery, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Ilam University of Medical Sciences, Ilam, Islamic Republic of Iran **E-mail:** bahramivazir2541@yahoo.com

**Cite This Article:** Mohammadi A, Khodabandeh F, Nazari H, Soleimannezhad B, Bahramı-Vazir E. Predictors of addiction to smartphone social networks in Iranian first-year medical sciences students. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 69-79.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health *published by Cetus Publishing.* 



Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/.

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 EY NO NO International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

## **INTRODUCTION**

About 85% of Iranian students use smartphone social media <sup>1</sup>, with Telegram being the most commonly <sup>1, 2</sup>. When the use of social media is poorly managed, social media addiction (SMA) is one of the negative consequences for users who use social media excessively <sup>3</sup>. Addiction to social media is a type of behavioral addiction <sup>4</sup>.

The prevalence of SMA among students is increasing, and according to a meta-analysis conducted in 2018, one-third of Iranian students are addicted to social media <sup>5</sup>. The results of studies, gender may have an effect of SMA, some studies show more addiction among female students <sup>3, 6</sup>, and some show more addiction in male students <sup>2, 7</sup>. Also, SMA is influenced by various social, cultural <sup>3</sup>, and economic factors <sup>8</sup>; Longer duration of use, use of social media for entertainment <sup>2</sup> and marital status <sup>9</sup> are all risk factors for SMA <sup>10</sup>. In addition, entering the university, being away from home and family, and staying in a dormitory bring new opportunities for a person, but they also bring challenges and stress factors that are inevitably associated with such a transition, the feeling of homesickness, loneliness, and lack of support from those around in the dormitory, economic problems, and a lack of recreational and welfare facilities are among the problems of living in the dormitory <sup>11</sup>, and living in the dormitory is one of the risk factors for SMA<sup>2</sup>.

SMA in the university has negative effects on the social, academic performance, physical, and mental health and leads to a drop in grade point average <sup>12</sup>, anxiety and obsession with social media <sup>6</sup>, depression, addiction to food and shopping <sup>13</sup> and sleep disorder <sup>9</sup>. Students, as a fundamental element of the educational system, have a special role and position in achieving the goals of the educational system, and improving the quality of their mental and physical health will lead to the further development of this segment of society. Therefore, identifying and resolving students' problems has been at the forefront of educational programs. Recent studies have shown that students are exposed to the risks and complications of these technologies <sup>14,</sup> <sup>15</sup>. One of the educational problems of the increased use of social networks and SMA is their negative impact on students' academic performance and grade point average <sup>12</sup>. Considering the ever-increasing expansion of SMA and their excessive use, the few studies in the field of predictive factors of SMA in male and female first-year students of medical sciences living in dormitories, and the presence of different results in the field of SMA in male and female students were done. The present study aims to investigate the predictors of SMA in male and female firstyear students living in the dormitories of Ilam University of Medical Sciences (Ilam-Iran) and the comparison of male and female was done, so that the results of this study can be used to identify and eliminate risk factor for SMA and reinforcement protective factors for SMA and lead to the identification of deficiencies in educational rules and time management skills in the use of social medias in clinical setting and the classroom. Also, the current study examines the use of VPNs and proxies to access social media, in this way, it is possible to identify students' desire to access restricted content and various facilities of social media.

## **METHOD**

### Study design and participants

This cross-sectional, descriptive-analytical study was conducted on first-year female and male Medical Sciences students living in Ilam-Iran dormitories from January to March 2022. The inclusion criteria include being a firstyear student, having a phone with internet connectivity, membership in smartphone social media, staying in the dormitories during the past semester, studying at the undergraduate level and exclusion criteria included leaving the dormitory during the study and students who had previously stayed in the dormitory, were suffering from depression, anxiety, were taking sedatives.

### Sample size

Sample size was calculated as 143 given the prevalence of social media addiction equal with 22.8 % <sup>16</sup>, precision (d)= 0.1 and 99% confidence interval. The sample size was calculated as 286 given the cluster sampling and design effect equal with two. In this study, 143 students selected from females' dormitories and 143 students from males' dormitories were studied.

# Data collection

Cluster sampling was carried out in the dormitories. Dormitory students were accommodated in three dormitories for girls and three dormitories for boys. Two dormitories were randomly selected from each of the female and male dormitories. Students were examined in terms of entry and exit criteria. All students in that dormitory who met the entry criteria for the study were included based on the sample size, and the researcher provided questionnaires to the students.

## Data collection tools

The data collection tools included two questionnaires which were completed in a self-report manner. The socio-demographic and characteristics activity in social media questionnaire were prepared based on a literature review and included questions on age, field of study, economic status, use of VPNs and proxies, etc.

Addiction to mobile based on social networks questionnaire was consisted of 23 questions and 4 subdomains of individual performance (questions 1 to 9), time management (questions 10 to 15), self-control (questions 16 to 19), and social communication (questions 20 to 23); each question had 5 options from completely disagree (score one), somewhat disagree (score two), no opinion (score three), somewhat agree (score 4), and to completely agree (score 5). The score range of the questionnaire was 23-115. The level of SMA was divided into 4 levels: lower than usual (score 23-46), regular user (score 46-69), on the verge of addiction (score 69–92), and addiction (score 92-115). The internal reliability of the questionnaire was calculated with a Cronbach's alpha of 91% <sup>17</sup>.

In this study, the reliability of the addiction to mobile based on social networks questionnaire was determined by the testretest in the two dimensions of repeatability (ICC = Intra Class Correlation) and internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha coefficient = Consistency). First, 15 students completed the questionnaire and 10 days later, the same people completed the questionnaire. Reproducibility (ICC) was 90% and Cronbach's alpha (Consistency) was 88%. Face validity was used to determine the validity of the tools. Sociodemographic and characteristics activity in social media questionnaire were given to 10 faculty members of Ilam University of Medical Sciences, and necessary amendments were made in the questionnaires.

### Statistical analysis

Data analysis was done with SPSS version 21 statistical software. Descriptive statistics mean (Standard Deviation) including and frequency (percentage) were used to describe sociodemographic questionnaire, characteristics activity in social media and SMA. Normality of quantitative data was checked with Skewness and Kurtosis. Sociodemographic questionnaires and social media activity characteristics of the groups (females and males) were compared with independent t-test, trend chi-square, Fisher's exact and chi-square. The overall score of SMA had a normal distribution, and independent t-test was used to compare the groups in terms of the overall score of SMA and subdomains. The general linear model was used to determine the predictor variables of SMA. In each group socio-demographic and characteristics activity in social media variables were entered in the univariate

general linear model, then the variables that had P< 0.05 were entered in the multivariate general linear model. For all variables, the group of variables with the lowest or highest frequency was selected as a reference to make it easier to interpret the changes in other variables in comparison. The significance level in all tests was considered P< 0.05.

### RESULTS

The mean ± SD age of female students was  $21.3 \pm 2.0$  and that of male students was 21.9± 2.1. Female students used social media less than male students in classrooms (40% vs. 62%, P<0.001), and female students used social media less than male students in clinical and practical settings (33% vs. 54%, P<0.001). The most common time of activity in the social media of male and female students was at night before going to bed, and it was more common in female than males (66% vs. 52%, P = 0.033). The most commonly social media used by female and male students was Instagram, and females used it less than males (45% vs. 48%, P<0.001). The sociodemographic and characteristics activity in social media of the participants in this study are given in Table 1.

<b>Table 1.</b> Demographic characteristics of activities in social media of female (n=143) and male (n=143) students												
Characteristics	Female		Male		р	Characteristics	Fema	ale	Ma	ale		р
	n	%	n	%			n	%	n	%		
Medicine	11	7.7	20	14		The most common time o	f activ	ity in so	cial me	dia	0.033**	
Nursing	21	14.7	42	29.4		Morning before starting activities	14	9.8	4	2.8		
Midwifery	18	12.6	-	-		Night before sleep	75	52.4	94	65.7		
Surgical technologist	19	13.3	14	9.8		In classroom	8	5.6	5	3.5		
Laboratory science	4	2.8	9	6.3		In clinical settings	-	-	1	0.7		
Health	43	30.1	20	14		Rest time	37	25.9	35	24.5		
Anesthesiology	11	7.7	7	4.9		In vehicle	9	6.3	4	2.8		
Biology	14	9.8	5	3.5		The amount of daily activ	ity in s	social m	edia		0.058****	
Emergency medical te- chnicians	-	-	22	15.4		<30 minutes	3	2.1	4	2.8		
Dentistry	2	1.4	4	2.8		60 minutes	8	5.6	12	8.4		

									_		
Economy status					0.067***	120 minutes	27	18.9	41	28.7	
Income = spent	96	67.1	78	54.4		180 minutes	39	27.3	29	20.3	
Income < spent	21	14.7	24	16.8		>180 minutes	52	36.4	71	49.7	
Income > spent	26	18.2	41	28.7		Activity in Iranian social media	61	42.7	50	35	0.225**
The cause of activity i	n social media				0.002**	Used social media					0.001****
Entertainment	74	51.7	53	37.1		Telegram	14	9.8	26	18.2	
Scientific study	11	7.7	28	19.6		Instagram	69	48.3	65	45.5	
Following news	17	11.9	19	13.3		WhatsApp	26	18.2	43	30.1	
Communication	37	25.9	30	21		YouTube	1	0.7	5	3.5	
Feeling lonely	4	2.8	13	9.1		Facebook	1	0.7	2	1.4	
Social media activity	in classroom					Google plus	1	0.7			
	57	39.9	89	62.2		LinkedIn	-	-	1	0.7	
	47	32.6	77	53.8	< 0.001**	Line	1	0.7	-	-	
						Bale	2	1.4	-	-	
						Using VPN or proxy	8	5.6	129	90.2	0.064***
							137	95.8			

The data indicate number (percent), unless otherwise specified. Mean (standard deviation). Independent t-test

\*\*Chi square test

\*\*\*Chi square for trend

\*\*\*\*Fisher's exact

The mean (SD) of the overall score of SMA in females was 59.4 (18.8) less than that in males (63.3 (16.3), but there was no statistical difference between them (P = 0.063). Both groups were in the range of normal users of

social media (score 46–69). Females and males had statistically significant differences in two SMA subdomain of individual performance and social communication (P<0.001) (Table 2).

<b>Table 2.</b> Comparing the overall score of social media addiction and its subdomain in female and male students									
Social media addiction	Female (n=143)		Male (n= 143)		CI 95%*	P**			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD					
Individual performance (9 to 45)	20.6	8.4	24.02	7.7	-5.3 to -1.6	<0.001			
Time management (6 to 30)	15.6	6.3	16.7	5.05	-2.4 to -0.2	0.104			
Self-control (4 to 20)	11.1	3.4	11.4	3.5	-1.2 to 0.5	0.470			
Social communication (4 to 20)	12.1	3.4	11.1	3.3	0.2 to 1.8	0.013			
Overall score (23 to 115)	59.4	18.8	63.3	16.3	-8.0 to 0.2	0.063			

\*Confidence interval 95%

\*\*Independent t-test

The multivariate general linear model showed that in female, the use of social media in clinical settings (P = 0.024, 95% CI: 1.1, 14.9, B = 8.0) was a predictor of SMA (adjusted R squared = 20 %). In male, the use of social media in clinical settings (P = 0.011, 95%CI:

2.0, 15.3, B = 8.6) and the amount of activity in social media during 24 hours, (P = 0.042, 95%CI: -37.1, -0.7, B =-18.9) were predictive factors of SMA (adjusted R squared = 16%) (Table 3). **Table 3.** The relationship between socio demographic characteristics and overall score of addiction to socialmedia addiction base on the multivariate general linear model in female and male students

Variable	Female	Male				
	B (95% CI)*	P value **	B (95% CI)*	P value **		
Fields (Reference: dentistry)						
Medicine	15.1 (-11.6 to 41.8)	0.265	3.0 (-13.7 to 19.8)	0.718		
Nursing	11.5 (-14.2 to 37.2)	0.377	-3.6 (-19.7 to 12.4)	0.655		
Midwifery	9.2 (-16.1 to 34.4)	0.470	-	-		
Surgical technologist	18.6 (-6.6 to 43.9)	0.147	-8.6 (-26.0 to 8.7)	0.325		
Laboratory science	25.7 (-4.1 to 55.5)	0.091	-11.3 (-29.5 to 7.0)	0.225		
Health	18.1 (-6.5 to 42.9)	0.148	-5.6 (-22.2 to 11.0)	0.508		
Anesthesiology	-0.5 (-26.9 to 25.9)	0.971	1.3 (-18.0 to 20.6)	0.894		
Biology	22.2 (-4.1 to 48.5)	0.096	-16.0 (32.7 to 0.6)	0.059		
Emergency medical technicians	-	-	-8.9 (-29.1 to 11.2)	0.383		
<b>Economy status (Reference</b> : income > s	spent)					
Income = spent	-6.2 (-13.9 to 1.5)	0.116	-4.2 (-10.5 to 1.9)	0.177		
Income < spent	-3.2 (-13.7 to 7.1)	0.535	-2.1 (-10.8 to 6.6)	0.636		
The amount of activity in social media	(Reference: >180 min)					
< 30 minutes	6.4 (-11.9 to 24.7)	0.488	-18.9 (-37.1 to 0.7)	0.042		
60 minutes	-11.8 (-23.9 to 0.3)	0.056	-5.6 (-17.5 to 6.3)	0.357		
120 minutes	-8.0 (-15.9 to -0.1)	0.048	-4.7 (-11.7 to 2.3)	0.188		
180 minutes	-2.9 (-10.5 to 4.8)	0.458	3.6 (-3.2 to 10.4)	0.297		
Using social media at clinical setting (	Reference: no)					
Yes	8.0 (1.1 to 14.9)	0.024	8.6 (2.0 to 15.3)	0.011		
Using social media at classroom (Refe	rence: no)					
Yes	3.7 (-3.2 to 10.6)	0.290	-1.1 (-7.8 to 5.6)	0.749		

\* Confidence interval 95% \*\* Multivariate general linear model test Female students: Adjust R squared= 0.208 Male students: adjust R squared= 0.167

# **DISCUSSION**

In the current study, the majority of students spent a significant amount of time on social media, but within the range of use for normal users. Instagram was the most used social media. In both groups, use of social media in clinical settings, also in male students amount of daily activity in social media were predictors of SMA.

The results of the present study showed that female used social media significantly less than male in classrooms and clinical and practical settings. Other studies have found that gender has an effect on students' academic performance <sup>18</sup>, and that there are gender differences in cognitive-motivational *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)* 

performance in the educational setting, female have more internal control, motivation, and time management in education, and female have a more adaptive approach to learning tasks <sup>19</sup>. In addition, male face more academic and behavioral problems and female with higher social skills have a higher grade point average and fewer disciplinary problems <sup>18</sup>. These factors may have led to better selfcontrol and less use of social media in female.

In both groups, there was a common activity on social media at night before going to bed. In this study, first-year students were examined. Entering the university is accompanied by accepting new roles, meeting academic demands and adapting environment. Most of the students' time during the day is spent adapting new conditions, and sometimes it is difficult to find time to balance various issues <sup>(20)</sup>. For this reason, students may have more time to use social media at night before going to bed.

In the present study, in both groups, Instagram was the most commonly used social media. In the study conducted by Ebrahimpour et al. (2015) in Iran with a survey of 1000 students from 7 universities of medical sciences and in the study conducted by Torkian et al. (2019) with a survey of 400 students at kerman university of medical sciences, the most commonly social media used by male and female students was Telegram <sup>1, 2</sup>. These results are not consistent with the present study. Due to the ease of using Instagram and the feeling of satisfaction from Instagram's social interactions and entertainment, which leads to a positive effect on Iranian users, the popularity of Instagram is growing day by day <sup>21</sup>. The reason for the non-alignment of the articles may be the more up-to-date reviews and results in the present study. However, in the study conducted by Aparicio et al. in Spain (2022), the most used social media by students was Instagram<sup>3</sup>, which is consistent with the present study.

In the present study, male used Instagram significantly more than female. In a study conducted by Aparicio et al. (2022), male used Instagram more than female <sup>(3)</sup>. Instagram is one of the most commonly social media, which, while providing an opportunity to share photos and videos, also provides the opportunity to interact with and discuss the visual content produced. A significant part of the content of Instagram is personal sexual images that are uploaded by the users <sup>22</sup>; and

sexual interests and behaviors play a role in the use of sexual Internet content in male <sup>23</sup>. The sexual attractiveness of women's images on Instagram is higher than for men <sup>22</sup> and men use Internet pornography <sup>24</sup>, which may have contributed to boys' increased use of Instagram.

In the present study, about 90% of male and female students used VPNs and proxies, and there was no significant difference. Filtering social media reduces Internet speed and makes it difficult to access required sites <sup>25</sup> and students acknowledge that proxies and VPNs violate their privacy and jeopardize the possibility of collecting <sup>26</sup>. However, the desire to use various facilities of social medias <sup>25</sup> and access restricted content <sup>26</sup> leads to the use of proxies and VPNs to remove restrictions <sup>25, 26</sup>.

In our study, overall score of SMA in females was lower than males, but there was no statistical difference between them. In the study conducted by Aparicio et al. (2022) in Spain on 278 male and female students, female students were more addicted to social media <sup>3</sup>, the results are inconsistent with the present study. Azizi et al. (2019), in Kermanshah-Iran by examining 360 students using the Bergen social media addiction scale, reported that the SMA in male was significantly higher than female <sup>7</sup>. In the meta-analysis conducted by Zewde et al. in Africa (2022), male students were more SMA <sup>24</sup>, Gender differences can affect various addictive behaviors, including Internet addiction, and it has been found that males have more addictive behaviors <sup>27</sup>. Males also participate in Internet pornography and online games <sup>24</sup>, these factors may increase SMA.

In the present study, both groups were in the range of normal users of social media. The people with higher social and economic status have more access to the internet, which in turn leads to more use of social media <sup>10</sup>. In the current study, the majority of students declared that their income was equal to their expenses. It is possible that these students have limited access to the internet and thus fall within the range of normal internet users. In the study of Azizi et al. (2019), which examined the students in Kermanshah-Iran, the students SMA was average <sup>7</sup>, the results were not in line with the present study. The difference in socio-demographic, difference in evaluation methods, and different cutting points of tools can lead to different results in studies.

In the current study, SMA in the subdomain of individual performance in male was significantly lower than females and subdomain of social communication in male; it was significantly higher than females. According to the study of Suárez-Perdomo et al. (2022), social media can be a factor for procrastination in personal, professional, and academic work <sup>28</sup>, SMA is more effective in reducing individual performance and procrastination <sup>28</sup>. In the current study SMA in females was lower than that of males; therefore, this factor may have led to a decrease in addiction to social media in the individual performance subdomain compared to male students. In the early stages of social media communication, women and men establish dyadic relationships, then women often expand their social media, while men continue to maintain dyadic relationships <sup>(29)</sup>. This factor may have led to an increase in SMA in female.

In the present study, male and female students' use of smartphone social media in the clinical

and practical settings were predictors of SMA. Alkaabi et al. (2017) surveyed 84 students in the United Arab Emirates reported that students use smartphone social media in the classroom for different reasons, including chatting with family and friends, playing games, cheating, and using social media in the classroom leads to SMA <sup>30</sup>. In addition, academic procrastination <sup>28</sup> and negative effects on grade point average <sup>12</sup>. These factors might have led to inappropriate organization of time, lack of focus on course material and less motivation to learn in the classroom, and SMA in dimensions of individual performance, time management and self-control.

In the current study, the amount of activity on social media was a predictive factor of SMA and decreasing the hours of activity on social media was a protective factor of SMA in male students. According to a metaanalysis conducted by Zewde et al. (2022), using smartphone social media for more than 4 hours per day was one of the factors of SMA <sup>24</sup>. Torkian et al. (2022) reported that with the increase in time spent using social media, students are more at risk of SMA<sup>2</sup>. These studies showed the amount of activity in social media was predictive factor of SMA, and increasing hours of activity on social media is a risk factor and decreasing hours of activity on social media is a protective factor for SMA, these results are consistent with the present study. Excessive use of smart phone technology to enter social media leads to SMA due to the extent and acceptability of social media by the user <sup>31</sup>.

The comparison of SMA among female and male first-year students living in dormitories was done for the first time in Iran, which is the strength of the present study. The first limitation of the present study was that the questionnaire was completed by first-year students, it reduces the ability to generalize it to students studying in higher years. Another limitation of the present study was that, non-native students living in the dormitory were examined in the study; the results may not be generalizable to native students. It is suggested to compare native students with students living in the dormitory and conduct longitudinal studies in future studies.

### **CONCLUSION**

In the present study, male and female students were in the range of normal users of smartphone social media. The most commonly social media used by female and male students was Instagram. Use of social media in clinical settings and amount of daily activity in social media were predictors of SMA. Educators and administrators in clinical settings and classrooms need to review educational rules and policies regarding use of smartphone social media. Administrators make decisions students use of social media appropriately and in a controlled manner, including implementing continuous monitoring, implementing incentive and punitive policies, educate on digital citizenship and time management skills for using social media.

The researchers would like to appreciate the students who participated in the study.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

**Concflict of Interest:** All authors declare that there is no conflicts of interest.

**Financial Support:** This manuscript was supported by the Research Vice President of Ilam University of Medical Sciences who conducted the study and approved the manuscript. **Ethical Declaration:** The Ethics Committee of Ilam University of Medical Sciences has granted permission and approval, which can be found under code: IR.MEDILAM. REC.1398.139. Also, a written permission letter from the Cultural and Student Vice-Chancellor was submitted. To comply with the ethical aspects, it was possible to participate in the study voluntarily after presenting the objectives of the study to the students, and a written informed consent form was obtained from the eligible students, and they were given the assurance that the information was confidential. In order to gain more trust, it was also acknowledged that there was no need to write the name on the questionnaires.

Contrubition: Researcher Author AM: developed the specific study idea, data gathering, preparation the article draft, F.Kh: Concept development, study design, preparation the article draft, H.N: Statistical and data analysis, preparation and revise article draft, B.S: data gathering, the Statistical and data analysis, preparation the article draft, E.B-V: Project leader, Concept development, study design, preparation the article draft. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. Also each author agreed both to be personally accountable for the author's own contributions and to ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Ebrahimpour A, Rajabali F, Yazdanfar F, et al. Social Network Sites as Educational Factors. ACTA INFORM MED. 2016;24(2):134-8.
- 2. Torkian S, Malek-Mohammadi N, Mohammadizadeh M, Shahesmaeili A. Virtual social networks

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

addiction and high-risk group among health science students in Iran: a latent class analysis. Iran J Health Sci 2022;10(1):1-9.

- Aparicio Martínez P, Ruiz-Rubio M, Perea-Moreno A-J, et al. Gender differences in the addiction to social networks in the Southern Spanish university students Author links open overlay panel. Telematics and Informatics. 2020;46: 101304.
- 4. Shaw M, Black DW. Internet addiction: definition, assessment, epidemiology and clinical management. CNS drugs. 2008;22(5):353-65.
- Salarvand S, N-Albatineh A, Dalvand S, Baghban-Karimi E, Ghanei-Gheshlagh R. Prevalence of Internet Addiction Among Iranian University Students: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. 2022;25(4):213-22.
- Lozano-Blasco R, Latorre-Cosculluela C, Quílez-Robres A. Social Network Addiction and Its Impact on Anxiety Level among University Students Sustainability. 2020;12(13):5397.
- Azizi S-M, Soroush A, Khatony A. The relationship between social networking addiction and academic performance in Iranian students of medical sciences: a cross-sectional study. BMC Psychol. 2019;7(28):1-8.
- 8. Mane D, Salunkhe D, Batta D, Agarkhedkar D, Kumar D, Bharaswadkar D. Internet addiction in school going adolescents of different socio economic classes in Western India. Pediatr Rev Int J Pediatr Res. 2018;5:60-5.
- Zhong Y, Ma H, Liang Y-F, Liao C-J, Zhang C-C, Jiang W-J. Prevalence of smartphone addiction among Asian medical students: A meta-analysis of multinational observational studies. Int J Soc Psychiatry. 2022;86(6):1171-83.
- 10. Kayri M, Günüç S. Comparing internet addiction in students with high and low socioeconomic status levels. Addicta Turkish J Addict. 2016;3:165-83.
- Abbaspour S, Abbasi-Asfjir A, Rahmani-Firoozjah A. Meta-analysis of studies on dormitory life in Iran. Iranian Journal of Educational Sociology. 2021;4(3):148-18.
- 12. Lepp A, Barkley J-E, Karpinski A-C. The relationship between cell phone use and academic performance in a sample of u.s. college students. SAGE Open. 2015;5(1):1-9.
- 13. Tang C, Koh Y. Online social networking addiction among college students in Singapore: Comorbidity with behavioral addiction and affective disorder. Asian J Psychiatr. 2017;25:175-8.
- 14. Mohammadi S, Valinejadi A, Amini-Samanm J, et al. Assessment of addiction to internet, smartphone and social networks among students of medical

sciences: a cross sectional study. Electronic Journal of General Medicine 2018;15(4):1-9.

- 15. Barnes S-J, Pressey A-D, Scornavacca E. Mobile ubiquity: Understanding the relationship between cognitive absorption, smartphone addiction and social network services. Computers in Human Behavior. 2019;90:246-58.
- 16. Salari N, Zarei H, Hosseinian-Far A, Rasoulpoor S, Shohaimi S, Mohammadi M. The global prevalence of social media addiction among university students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Public Health. 2023;33:223-36.
- 17. Khajeahmadi M, Pooladi S, Bahreini M. Design and assessment of psychometric properties of the addiction to mobile questionnaire based on social networks. IJPN. 2016;4(4):43-51.
- 18. Tan K, Shin-Oe J, Dung -Hoang -Le M. How does gender relate to social skills? Exploring differences in social skills mindsets, academics, and behaviors among high-school freshmen students. Psychology in the Schools. 2018;55(4):429-42.
- 19. Dabbagh-Ghazvini S, Khajehpour M. Gender differences in factors affecting academic performance of high school students. Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences. 2011;15:1040-5.
- 20. Roe-Clark M. Negotiating the freshman year: challenges and strategies among first-year college students. Journal of College Student Development 2005;46(3):296-316.
- 21. Zohourian A, Sajedi H, Yavary A. Popularity prediction of images and videos on Instagram. International Conference on Web Research (ICWR); Tehran, Iran 2018 4th
- 22. Plieger T, Groote O, Hensky R, et al. The association between sexism, self-sexualization, and the evaluation of sexy photos on instagram. Front Psychol. 2021;12(716417):1-11.
- 23. Doornwaard S-M, van-den E-R, Baams L. Lower psychological well-being and excessive sexual interest predict symptoms of compulsive use of sexually explicit internet material among adolescent boys. J Youth Adolesc. 2016;45(1):73-84.
- 24. Zewde E-A, Tolossa T, Tiruneh S-A, et al. Internet Addiction and Its Associated Factors Among African High School and University Students: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front Psychol. 2022;21(13):847274.
- 25. Saleck-Pay B, Hosseini S-H. Why do Students use Virtual Social Networks in Iran: a System Approach. Interdisciplinary Description of Complex Systems : INDECS, 2013;11(1):108-22.
- 26. Dutkowska-Zuk -A, Hounsel -A, Morrill -A, Xiong

-A, Chetty -M, Feamster -N. How and Why People Use Virtual Private Networks. USENIX Security Symposium. 2022 31(22):3451-65.

- 27. Di-Nicola M, Ferri V, Moccia L, et al. Gender differences and psychopathological features associated with addictive behaviors in adolescents Front Psychiatr. 2017;8:2-11.
- 28. Suárez-Perdomo A, Ruiz-Alfonso Z, Garcés-Delgado Y. Profiles of undergraduates' networks addiction: Difference in academic procrastination and performance. Computers & Education. 2022;181(10445):1-10.
- 29. Krasnova H, Veltri N-F, Eling N, Buxmann P. Why men and women continue to use social networking sites: The role of gender differences Author links open overlay panel. The Journal of Strategic Information Systems. 2017;26(4):261-84.

- Alkaabi S, Robert-Albion P, Redmond P. Social Network Misuse in the Classroom and Its Impact on Male Student Motivation in UAE Tertiary Education. IAFOR Journal of Education 2017;5(SI).
- Salehan M, Negahban A. Social networking on smartphones: When mobile phones become addictive. Computers in Human Behavior. 2013;29(6):2632-9.

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

# Post-traumatic stress and secondary traumatic stress of earthquakeaffected and non-affected healthcare workers after the 6th February Earthquake in Türkiye

Ayşe Taş<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Günseli Akpınar<sup>2</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Abdullah Yükseler<sup>3</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Mucahit Oruç<sup>4</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Osman Celbiş<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Asist. Prof., Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Adıyaman University, Adıyaman, Türkiye

<sup>2</sup> PHd Student, Department of Forensic Science, Health Science Institue, İnönü University, Malatya, Türkiye <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychology, Bingöl Public Hospital, Bingöl, Türkiye

<sup>4</sup> Assoc. Prof., Department of Forensic Science, Health Science Institue, İnönü University, Malatya, Türkiye

<sup>5</sup> Prof. Dr., Department of Forensic Science, Health Science Institue, İnönü University, Malatya, Türkiye

#### Received: 14.09.2024, Accepted: 30.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** This study aims to investigate the presence of post-traumatic stress disorder and secondary traumatic stress in earthquake-affected healthcare workers (HCW) and non-affected deployed health workers.

Method: Healthcare professionals deployed to earthquake-affected areas from the provinces not affected by the earthquake were determined as the first group and healthcare personnel who have experienced the earthquake themselves were determined as the second group. Data was collected via a form to investigate sociodemographic information, occupational exposure, post-earthquake experience, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Symptom Self-Report Scale (PSS-SR), and Secondary Traumatic Stress Scale (STSS). Mann-Withney U test, Kruskal Wallis test, and chi-square test were used to evaluate the analytical relationship.

**Results:** The median PSS-SR score of healthcare workers who were non experienced of the earthquake (14.0 (5.0-29.0)) was found to be lower than the median PSS-SR score (27.0 (16.0-34.0)) of healthcare workers who were affected by the earthquake (p<0.001). The median STSS score of healthcare workers who had non experienced the earthquake (30.0 (22.0-48.0)) was found to be lower than the median STSS score of the earthquake-affected healthcare workers (50.0 (38.0-58.0)) (p<0.001). The sleep patterns and nutrition patterns of the earthquake-affected healthcare personnel were more negatively affected than the non-affected healthcare personnel (p<0.001).

**Conclusion:** The PSS-SR and STSS scores were higher and sleep patterns and nutrition were affected more after the earthquake than those who were non-earthquake victims. For this reason, in health workforce planning, it would be appropriate to continue services by deployed healthcare workers instead of disaster-affected healthcare workers and to provide psychological support to earthquakeaffected healthcare workers.

Keywords: Stress Disorders, Post-Traumatic, Mental Health, Disasters, Earthquakes

Correspondence: Ayse Taş, Asist. Prof., Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Adıyaman University, Adıyaman, Türkiye E-mail: aysetas90@yahoo.com

Cite This Article: Tas A, Akpınar G, Yükseler A, Oruç M, Celbis O. Post-traumatic stress and secondary traumatic stress of earthquake-affected and non-affected healthcare workers after the 6th February Earthquake in Türkiye. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 80-93.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.



Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

After earthquakes, the majority of survivors bear witness to the loss of relatives and friends, physical injuries, and the destruction of their homes and workplaces. This situation leads to both severe economic losses for the surviving individuals and the persistence of traumatic memories, resulting psychological problems<sup>1</sup>. Particularly, in healthcare professionals residing in earthquake-prone regions, due to the nature of their professions, experience heavier emotional and psychological processes, being exposed to more traumatic memories compared to other individuals.

One commonly observed psychiatric disorder following natural disasters is post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)<sup>2</sup>. PTSD is a psychiatric disorder characterized by symptoms such as re-experiencing the traumatic event, avoidance of stimuli reminiscent of the traumatic event, slowed reactions, decreased interest, increased arousal, and disruptions in sleep and eating patterns, occurring after a negative life event<sup>3</sup>. The prevalence of PTSD after earthquakes varies between 6.6% and 64% in different studies, depending on the frequency, severity, and diagnostic criteria of the traumatic events<sup>4,5</sup>. In a study conducted with emergency responders involved in disaster response in Türkiye, the prevalence of PTSD was found to be 2.1%<sup>6</sup>.

Stress symptoms following trauma can also manifest in individuals who did not directly experience the trauma but witnessed, heard about, or worked with trauma victims. These stress symptoms, occurring indirectly and not stemming from direct exposure to trauma, are defined as secondary traumatic stress (STS)<sup>7</sup>. In a study involving professions working *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*  with trauma victims, 68.7% of participants exhibited moderate levels, and 18% showed severe symptoms of traumatic stress<sup>8</sup>.

Among professionals dealing with earthquake victims, both their own victimization and their medical with the injured contribute to the emergence of post-traumatic stress disorder and secondary traumatic stress symptoms. Additionally, those assigned to earthquake-prone areas from outside the region are expected to experience symptoms of secondary traumatic stress.

On February 6, 2022, two major earthquakes with a magnitude of 7 or higher occurred in the Pazarcık and Elbistan districts of Kahramanmaraş in Türkiye. The earthquakes most significantly affected 11 provinces, resulting in the loss of more than 50,000 lives and over 122,000 injuries<sup>9,10</sup>. During this period, both local medical staff directly affected by the earthquake and reinforcements from outside the region were assigned to the earthquake-stricken area.

The aim of this research is to investigate the symptoms of PTSD and STS in eartquakeexperienced healthcare professionals actively working in hospitals and tent cities in the earthquake-stricken region, as well as those assigned to the earthquake-stricken area from outside.

### **METHOD**

The data for this descriptive cross-sectional study were collected online in August 2023, which marked the six month after the earthquake. To avoid confusion between Acute Stress Disorder and PTSD, symptoms must persist for at least one month. It has been noted that late-onset PTSD can be diagnosed by the sixth month<sup>3</sup>. During the first month, the response to trauma is unstable<sup>11</sup>, and in some individuals, symptoms may naturally decline within three to six months. A substantial proportion of patients exhibit spontaneous remission within six months<sup>12-14</sup>, whereas the risk of chronicity increases beyond this period. Therefore, to capture the long-term effects of the earthquake, data collection began after the sixth month, which marks the first step in demonstrating the long-term impact. In the study, data were gathered through a research-designed questionnaire investigating sociodemographic information, professional exposure, and post-earthquake experiences, along with the Self-Report Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Scale (PSS-SR) and the Secondary Traumatic Stress Scale (STSS) forms.

The required sample size for the study, considering 80% power, a type 1 error of 0.05, and a medium effect size in a t-test using Gpower, was determined to be 102 individuals. With reserves, a total of 133 individuals were included in the study. The study comprised two groups: healthcare professionals temporarily assigned from outside the earthquake-stricken area (Group 1) (n=62) and earthquake-affected healthcare professionals (Group 2) who had provided services to traumatic patients (n=71).

Since the researchers did not have a list of workers or contact details for those working in the region, healthcare workers in the affected areas (Malatya, Kahramanmaraş, Hatay, Adıyaman, Gaziantep) were reached through solidarity-based social media groups (WhatsApp, Telegram). They were asked to forward the link to the online survey form to healthcare workers in their institutions or those temporarily assigned to the region. In order to reach the temporarily assigned workers, they were asked to complete the form through the social media groups created for the volunteers assigned to the region and to forward the form to other individuals who had been deployed with them. The study included healthcare professionals working in first, second, and third-level health institutions, as well as health directorates. who were involved in the establishment of temporary settlements and the provision of healthcare services. Healthcare workers who were not in the region during the earthquake, those working in administrative roles only in desk jobs, and individuals who were on administrative leave after the earthquake and did not participate in the relief efforts were excluded from the study.

The data were collected anonymously online through a platform called Google Forms. Before starting the survey, participants were presented with an informational form outlining the research's purpose, the information about researchers responsible for conducting the study, and the criteria for who should complete the survey. The form also included a statement indicating that participation was voluntary. After consenting to participate, individuals were asked to complete a series of multiple-choice, openended, and Likert-type questions on the online form, which took approximately 10 minutes. To prevent data loss, it was mandatory for all questions to be answered in order to submit the survey. No personal contact details, such as names or phone numbers, were collected. To avoid duplicate responses, participants were required to log in using their email addresses on Google Forms; however, the researchers were restricted from viewing the participants' email addresses. The first section of the online data collection form included questions designed by the researchers to gather sociodemographic information, professional experience, disaster-related work experience, the location of post-earthquake duties, details about life and property losses, emotions evoked by working in the disaster area, and challenges in accessing basic needs. The second section contained the PSS-SR form for assessing PTSD, while the third section included the STSS form to assess secondary traumatic stress (STS).

PSS-SR was developed by Foa et al. (1993), it validation and realibility in Turkish was made by Aydın et al. (2012) The Likert-type scale comprises 17 questions, and scores range from 0 to 51, with higher scores indicating increased levels of post-traumatic stress<sup>15,16</sup>. Secondary Traumatic Stress Scale (STSS), developed by Bride et al., was validated and made reliable in Turkish by Yıldırım et al. The Likert-type scale consists of 17 questions, and scores range from 17 to 85, with higher scores indicating increased levels of secondary traumatic stress<sup>17,18</sup>.

Data obtained from the study were analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) 19.0 (IBM Corp.). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was conducted to assess normal distribution suitability. Descriptive statistics, including numbers and percentages, as well as medians and quartiles (Q1-Q3), were presented together. To evaluate the relationship between scale scores of two independent variables, the Mann-Whitney U test was employed, and for assessing the relationship between scale scores of more than two independent variables, the Kruskal-Wallis test was utilized. The chi-square test was applied to evaluate the relationship between categorical variables.

### RESULTS

Participants' median age was 33.0 (29.0-40.5) and 54.9% were female. The median of professional experience was 10.0 (5.0-16.0) years. The median age of healthcare professionals affected by the earthquake is significantly lower than those assigned through deployment (p=0.014). The rate of participants who worked in hospital among earthquake-affected healthcare professionals participating in the study is significantly higher compared to those assigned through deployment (p<0.001). The sociodemographic characteristics of the participants are provided in Table 1.

Of the participants, 27.1% experienced the loss of relatives or acquaintances in the earthquake. Additionally, 17.3% of the participants reported moderate to severe damage in their homes. Among earthquakeaffected healthcare professionals (n=71), 52.1% reside in their own homes, 29.6% in the homes of relatives, and 18.3% in communal living spaces after the earthquake. Among healthcare professionals deployed to the area (n=62), 48.4% stayed in dormitories, 25.8% in tents, 12.9% in hospitals, and 12.9% in containers following the earthquake. Of those deployed, 83.9% stayed in these accommodations with their teams from their home cities, 12.9% with earthquakeaffected healthcare professionals, and 3.2% stayed alone. Moreover, 93.5% of healthcare professionals deployed to the area came to work voluntarily in the earthquake-stricken region.

Traumatic stress	of HCW	after	earthquake
------------------	--------	-------	------------

Table 1. Sociodemographic and Occupational Characteristics of Participants										
		Total	(n=133)	Group	1 (n=62)	Group 2 (n=71)				
		Median	ı (Q1-Q3)	Median	(Q1-Q3)	Median	(Q1-Q3)	р		
Age		33.0 (2	9.0-40.5)	32.0 (2	9.0-36.0)	35.0 (3	0.0-42.0)	0.014		
Professional experien	ce (Years)	10.0 (5.0-16.0)		9.0 (5.0-14.0)		11.0 (5.0-18.0)		0.293		
		n	%	n	%	n	%			
Gender	Female	73	54.9	32	54.6	41	57.7	0.478		
	Male	60	45.1	30	48.4	30	42.3			
Kids	Have	56	42.1	18	29.0	38	53.5	0.004		
	Not have	77	57.9	44	71.0	33	46.5			
Martial Status	Married	82	61.7	34	54.8	48	67.6	0.183		
	Single/Divorced	51	38.3	28	45.2	23	32.4			
Profession	Medical Doctor	43	32.3	18	29.0	25	35.2	0.343		
	Nurse/Midwife	51	38.3	22	35.5	29	40.8			
	Other	39	29.3	22	35.5	17	23.7			
Duty Station	Hospital	60	45.1	18	29.0	42	59.2	< 0.001		
	<b>Temporary Sites</b>	73	54.9	44	71.0	29	40.8			
Experienced in	Yes	47	35.3	24	38.7	23	32.4	0.563		
working post- earthquake										

Changes in sleep, nutrition, and personal hygiene status of healthcare professionals affected by the earthquake and those deployed totheareaarepresented in Table 2. Earthquakeaffected healthcare professionals experience insomnia more frequently compared to their deployed counterparts (p<0.001). Moreover, earthquake-affected healthcare professionals exhibit unhealthier eating habits after the earthquake in comparison to those deployed (p<0.001). There is no significant difference in the changes in the sexual lives of both groups (p=0.191). Earthquake-affected healthcare professionals face more challenges in bathing compared to those deployed (p < 0.006). Additionally, earthquake-affected healthcare professionals encounter more difficulties in accessing clean water (p<0.001) and personal hygiene materials (p<0.001) compared to their deployed counterparts.

The most common feelings experienced by

healthcare personnel while working after the earthquake are the feeling of usefulness (57.1%), the feeling of despair (39.8%)and the feeling of togetherness (37.6%), respectively. Positive emotions are seen more frequently in assigned healthcare workers (90.3%) than in the earthquake victim group (56.3%) (p<0.001). Negative emotions are seen more frequently in earthquake-affected healthcare professionals (74.6%) than in the assigned group (45.2%) (p=0.001). Feeling nothing, feeling of being useful, and feeling of togetherness are significantly more common in the assigned group than in the earthquake victim group (p=0.045, p=0.003, p=0.003, respectively). Feelings of despair, worthlessness, and injustice are more common in the earthquake victim group than in the assigned group (p=0.004, p=0.002, p<0.001, respectively). (Table 3).

Table 2. Change	Table 2. Changes in Basic Needs After Earthquake Experience									
		Total (	(n=133)	Group 2	1 (n=62)	Group 2 (n=71)				
		n	%	n	%	n	%	Р		
Sleep	Same	48	36.1	34	54.8	14	19.7	< 0.001		
	Difficulty falling asleep	63	47.4	28	45.2	35	49.3			
	Can't sleep	22	16.5	0	0.0	22	31.0			
Nutrition	Same	62	46.6	44	71.0	18	25.4	< 0.001		
	More healtier	4	3.0	4	6.5	0	0.0			
	Less healtier	67	50.4	14	22.6	53	74.6			
Sexual Needs	Same	88	66.2	46	74.2	42	59.2	0.191		
	Negatively affected	40	30.1	14	22.6	26	36.6			
	Positively affected	5	3.8	2	3.2	3	4.2			
Having trouble	taking a bath	105	78.9	42	67.7	63	88.7	0.006		
Experiencing to	oilet problems	63	47.4	28	45.2	35	49.3	0.634		
Experiencing c	lean water problems	77	57.9	12	19.4	65	91.5	< 0.001		
Having a shorta	age of hygiene kit	77	57.9	30	48.4	47	66.2	0.038		

Group 1: Earthquake non-experienced healthcare workers, Group 2: Earthquake experienced healthcare workers

Table 3 How Participants Felt After Taking Part in the Post-Farthquake Healthcare Work	c

	-						
	Total	(n=133)	Group	1 (n=62)	Group	2 (n=71)	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	Р
Positive Feelings	96	72.2	56	90.3	40	56.3	< 0.001
Feeling nothing	4	3.0	4	6.5	0	0.0	0.045
Heroic feelings	7	5.3	4	6.5	3	4.2	0.705
Being useful	76	57.1	44	71.0	32	45.1	0.003
Togetherness	50	37.6	32	51.6	18	25.4	0.003
Negative Feelings	81	60.9	28	45.2	53	74.6	0.001
Anger	26	19.5	8	12.9	18	25.4	0.113
Helplessness	20	15.0	8	12.9	12	16.9	0.689
Despair	53	39.8	16	25.8	37	52.1	0.004
Worthlessness	19	14.3	2	3.2	17	23.9	0.002
Injustice	28	21.1	4	6.5	24	33.8	< 0.001
Pity	21	15.8	6	9.7	15	21.1	0.117
Insufficiency	15	11.3	8	12.9	7	9.9	0.780

Group 1: Earthquake non-experienced healthcare workers, Group 2: Earthquake experienced healthcare workers

The median PSS-SR score for all participants was 23.0 (10.0-32.5). The earthquakeaffected group had a higher PSS-SR median score (27.0 (16.0-34.0)) compared to the deployment group (14.0 (5.0-29.0)) (p<0.001). Among professional groups, the nurse/midwife group had a higher PSS-SR median score (28.0 (17.0-34.0)) compared to medical doctors (16.0 (6.0-30.0)) (p=0.041). The median STSS score for all participants was 45.0 (27.0-54.0). There was a significant difference in the STSS median scores between individuals working in hospitals (intensive care, emergency department, ward, operating room) (49.0 (35.0-54.0)) and those working in management and delivery of healthcare services in tent-cities facilities (37.0 (23.0-50.0)) (p=0.002). After pairwise comparisons,

itwasdeterminedonlythatindividualsworking in the emergency department of the hospital had higher STSS median scores compared to those working in tent facilities. Although there seemed to be statistical significance in the multiple comparisons among professional groups, post-Bonferroni correction revealed no significant difference in STSS median scores among professional groups. While no relationship was found between the presence of any loss of life in their surroundings ("yes/no") and STSS and PSS-SR scores. But individuals with loss of life among their relatives had higher STSS and PSS-SR scores compared to those who lost acquaintances or had no loss at all. There was no relationship found between marital status and STSS and PSS-SR scores (p>0.050). Similarly, there was no relationship between having children and STSS and PSS-SR scores (p>0.050) (Table 4). A strong positive correlation was observed between STSS and PSS-SR scores (r=0.878, p<0.001). A low positive correlation was found between age and PSS-SR score (r=0.296, p=0.001), and a weak positive correlation was found between age and STSS score (r=0.207, p=0.017). Professional experience showed a weak positive correlation with STSS and PSS-SR scores (r=0.289, p=0.001, and r=0.196, p=0.024, respectively).

Table 4. PSS-SR and STSS Score As	ssosiated Factors				
		PSS-SR		STSS	
		Median (Q1-Q3)	Р	Median (Q1-Q3)	Р
Group	Deployed (1)	14.0 (5.0-29.0)	< 0.001	30.0 (22.0-48.0)	< 0.001
	Earthquake victim (2)	27.0 (16.0-34.0)		50.0 (38.0-58.0)	
Duty Station	Hospital	24.5 (15.0-33.0)	0.098	49.0 (35.0-54.0)	0.002
	Temporary Sites	23.0 (8.0-30.0)		37.0 (23.0-50.0)	
Experienced in working post-	Yes	24.0 (11.0-34.0)	0.665	46.0 (27.0-54.0)	0.604
earthquake	No	22.5 (10.0-31.5)		43.5 (26.0-53.0)	
Profession	Medical Doctor	16.0 (6.0-30.0)	0.041	41.0 (24.0-53.0)	0.209
	Nurse/Midwife	28.0 (17.0-34.0)		46.0 (31.0-57.0)	
	Other	17.0 (11.0-34.0)		44.0 (25.0-51.0)	
Gender	Female	27.0 (14.5-33.5)	0.004	46.0 (31.5-54.0)	0.006
	Male	17.0 (5.0-29.8)		37.5 (22.0-49.0)	
Martial Status	Married	23.0 (10.0-31.3)	0.976	45.0 (24.8-54.0)	0.501
	Single/Divorced	23.0 (11.0-33.0)		44.0 (27.0-61.0)	
Kids	Have	27.0 (13.3-34.0)	0.070	46.0 (29.0-58.8)	0.131
	Not have	20.0 (10.0-30.0)		41.0 (25.5-52.0)	
Loss of Life From Surrondings	Yes	24.0 (12.5-34.8)	0.198	48.0 (30.3-57.8)	0.107
	No	22.0 (10.0-30.0)		44.0 (24.0-53.5)	

PSS-SR: Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Symptom Self-Report Scale, STSS: Secondary Traumatic Stress Scale, SD: Standart Deviation

Individuals who experienced negative emotions while working after the earthquake had significantly higher scores in both PSS-SR and STSS compared to those who did not experience negative emotions (p<0.001). The median PSS-SR and STSS scores were significantly lower for individuals who did not feel any impact from their work after the earthquake compared to those who felt something (p=0.001 and p=0.003, respectively). Participants who felt useful had lower PSS-SR scores (15.0 (8.0-25.8)) compared to those who did not feel useful (30.0 (18.5-37.0)) (p<0.001). Similarly, those who felt useful had lower STSS scores (31.5 (23.3-48.0)) compared to those who did not feel useful (51.0 (41.0-62.0)) (p<0.001). Individuals who felt despair had higher PSS-SR scores (30.0 (21.5-36.0)) compared to those who did not feel despair (15.0 (8.0-27.8))(p<0.001). Likewise, those who felt despair had higher STSS scores (52.0 (45.0-61.5)) compared to those who did not feel despair (32.5 (23.0-48.0)) (p<0.001). Participants who perceived injustice had higher PSS-SR scores (30.0 (22.3-35.5)) compared to those who did not perceive injustice (20.0 (9.0-30.5)) (p=0.007). Similarly, those who perceived injustice had higher STSS scores (50.5 (40.3-62.0)) compared to those who did not perceive injustice (41.0 (24.0-52.5)) (p=0.003). While the presence of a sense of pity did not affect STSS scores, individuals who felt a sense of pity had higher PSS-SR scores (30.0 (21.0-36.0)) compared to those who did not feel a sense of pity (21.5 (10.0-30.8)) (p=0.021). Similarly, the presence of a sense of togetherness did not affect STSS scores, but individuals who felt a sense of togetherness had lower PSS-SR scores (15.0 (8.0-27.3)) compared to those who did not feel a sense of togetherness (27.0 (14.0-34.0)) (p=0.013). Participants who felt a sens of insufficent had higher PSS-SR scores (30.0 (17.0-36.0)) compared to those who did not feel a sense of insufficiency (22.0 (10.0-31.0)) (p=0.009). Similarly, those who felt a sense of insufficiency had higher STSS scores (50.0 (45.0-62.0)) compared to those who did not feel a sense of insufficieny (42.0 (24.8-53.3)) (p=0.027). (Table 5)

Table 5. The Relationship Between I	<b>Fable 5.</b> The Relationship Between Feelings of Working After the Earthquake and PSS-SR and STSS Score								
		PSS-SR		STSS					
		Median (Q1-Q3)	р	Median (Q1-Q3)	Р				
Positive Feelings	Yes	17.0 (8.0-28.8)	< 0.001	36.0 (24.0-50.0)	< 0.001				
	No	30.0 (25.0-37.5)		53.0 (45.0-62.0)					
Feeling nothing	Yes	2.0 (1.0-3.0)	0.001	19.5 (17.0-22.0)	0.003				
	No	24.0 (11.0-33.0)		45.0 (28.0-54.0)					
Heroic feelings	Yes	25.0 (10.0-28.0)	0.732	46.0 (23.0-48.0)	0.916				
	No	23.0 (10.0-33.0)		44.0 (27.0-54.0)					
Being useful	Yes	15.0 (8.0-25.8)	< 0.001	31.5 (23.3-48.0)	< 0.001				
	No	30.0 (18.5-37.0)		51.0 (41.0-62.0)					
Togetherness	Yes	15.0 (8.0-27.3)	0.013	34.0 (26.0-50.5)	0.098				
	No	27.0 (14.0-34.0)		48.0 (29.0-54.0)					
Negative Feelings	Yes	28.0 (17.0-34.0)	< 0.001	48.0 (37.5-58.0)	< 0.001				
	No	11.5 (5.0-25.5)		30.5 (22.0-47.0)					
Anger	Yes	24.5 (14.0-32.3)	0.219	46.0 (29.0-53.3)	0.480				
	No	22.0 (8.0-33.0)		44.0 (24.0-54.0)					
Helplessness	Yes	24.5 (16.3-33.5)	0.248	49.0 (39.5-61.0)	0.063				
	No	22.0 (10.0-32.0)		44.0 (26.0-53.0)					
Despair	Yes	30.0 (21.5-36.0)	< 0.001	52.0 (45.0-61.5)	< 0.001				
	No	15.0 (8.0-27.8)		32.5 (23.0-48.0)					

Table 5.(continue) The relationship between feelings of working after the earthquake and PSS-SR and STSS score								
Worthlessness	Yes	29.0 (23.0-34.0)	0.123	46.0 (41.0-54.0)	0.247			
	No	21.5 (10.0-31.5)		43.5 (26.0-54.0)				
Injustice	Yes	30.0 (22.3-35.5)	0.007	50.5 (40.3-62.0)	0.003			
	No	20.0 (9.0-30.5)		41.0 (24.0-52.5)				
Pity	Yes	30.0 (21.0-36.0)	0.021	50.0 (37.0-61.0)	0.106			
	No	21.5 (10.0-30.8)		44.0 (25.3-53.0)				
Insufficiency	Yes	30.0 (17.0-36.0)	0.009	50.0 (45.0-62.0)	0.027			
	No	22.0 (10.0-31.0)		42.0 (24.8-53.3)				

PSS-SR: Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Symptom Self-Report Scale, STSS: Secondary Traumatic Stress Scale

### DISCUSSION

This study has shown that both earthquake experienced and non-experienced healthcare professionals who were involved in postearthquake duties were negatively affected by both the traumatic events they experienced and the traumas of the patients they treated. In this study, although there was no cut-off value on the scale used, considering the studies in the literature, when suggested cut-off score is selected, it is thought that PTSD is present in 76.1% of healthcare professionals affected by the earthquake. A meta-analysis revealed that PTSD was observed in 16.4% of healthcare professionals after earthquakes<sup>19</sup>. In a study conducted after the Elazığ Province, Türkiye earthquake, severe trauma was found in 25.8% of healthcare professionals in the early period<sup>20</sup>. In a study of healthcare professionals in China after an earthquake, the prevalence of PTSD was found to be 19%<sup>21</sup>. The overall prevalence of PTSD among healthcare worker was 21.9% in Nepal two months after the earthquake<sup>22</sup>. A study conducted in China one year later an earthquake was found %17.0 prevalence of PTSD among medical rescue workers<sup>23</sup>. In Taiwan, 12.7% of emergency medical technicians who responded to the earthquake met the criteria for partial PTSD<sup>24</sup>. In Pakistan, a study conducted 24 months after the earthquake found that the prevalence Turk | Public Health 2025;23(1)

of PTSD was 42.6% among individuals, the majority of whom had experienced the earthquake and were actively working as disaster rehabilitation and reconstruction workers in the affected region<sup>25</sup>. A study conducted among earthquake survivors in Nepal found that the prevalence of PTSD was 24% ten months after the earthquake<sup>26</sup>. A study on Italian earthquake survivors report a 21.7% prevalence of PTSD<sup>27</sup>. The prevalence of PTSD among survivors of the 2017 Jiuzhaigou earthquake was found to be 52.7%<sup>28</sup>. A metaanalysis of 46 studies found that the incidence of PTSD among earthquake survivors was 23.7%, with a combined incidence of 28.8% for those diagnosed within 9 months and 19.5% for those diagnosed after 9 months<sup>29</sup>. In this study conducted on healthcare workers following the Kahramanmaras earthquakes, the prevalence of PTSD was found to be higher compared to both healthcare workers in Türkiye and other countries, as well as the PTSD prevalence in studies conducted on the general population of survivors. The higher rate of PTSD in this study may be explained by the occurrence of two consecutive earthquakes with high magnitude, the continued occurrence of aftershocks with a magnitude of 5 or higher during the data collection period, and the ongoing destruction of buildings and presence of heavily damaged

buildings within the cities. Furthermore, the widespread and extensive destruction caused across multiple cities may have contributed to a higher prevalence of PTSD, compared to earthquakes that resulted in smaller-scale damage in more localized areas. Variations in PTSD prevalence observed in the literature following earthquakes may be influenced by factors such as the material and emotional losses experienced by individuals, their resilience and social support, the sociodemographic characteristics of the study populations, and the time elapsed between the earthquake and the study. The higher prevalence of PTSD among healthcare workers compared to the general population may also be influenced by their involvement with traumatic patients, both physically and mentally.

PSS-SR and STSS scores were higher in healthcare professionals exposed earthquake compared to those who came on duty. During a traumatic event such as war in Sudan, the levels of STS and burnout in first responders providing first aid were found to higher than those coming for international aid<sup>30</sup>. In the Kosovo War, the prevalence of PTSD in first aid staff from Kosovo was higher than those deployed by international organizations<sup>31</sup>. In a study of soldiers deployed from the surrounding areas to the earthquake zone in China, it was found that the secondary trauma and burnout levels of these soldiers who were not victims of the earthquake were low, and their satisfaction feelings were high<sup>32</sup>. Similarly, in this study, positive feelings such as a sense of usefulness and a sense of togetherness were more common in those who came on duty from non-affected area, while negative feelings such as despair, injustice, and worthlessness were more common in *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)* 

the group affected by the earthquake. It is expected that positive feelings will be more common in the group where about 90% volunteered, leading to professional and spiritual satisfaction. For earthquake-affected healthcare professionals, continuing to work by leaving behind their losses, families, and routines may explain the presence of negative feelings such as despair and worthlessness.

In women, PSS-SR and STSS scores are higher. Studies conducted after earthquakes in Türkiye, China, Australia, and other countries have also shown that women are more affected by trauma than men<sup>20,21,33</sup>. Similarly, a study conducted after an earthquake in Japan and a meta-analysis examining predictors of STS revealed that women are more prone to secondary trauma than men<sup>34,35</sup>. Although this study showed that marital status and having children did not affect PSS-SR and STSS scores, it has been shown in the literature that having children and being married affect the presence of PTSD<sup>21</sup>. In this study, although the status of having children was asked, there may have been no relationship between having children and scale scores because the ages of the children and whether the children experienced the earthquake were not asked in detail. While previous experience working after an earthquake does not affect the level of STS in this study, working experience as a health working was weakly corraleted STSS scores. Literature has been shown that as experience increases in healthcare professionals serving after a terrorist attack or earthquake, the level of STS decreases<sup>36,37</sup>.

Personal basic needs of the participants, it is seen that sleep patterns worsen in earthquakeaffected individuals, and access to clean water and toilets becomes more difficult. The

reason for healthcare professionals affected by the earthquake living in worse conditions is thought to be that, in the early period, organization could not be fully achieved within the province, people coming from outside were prepared in advance, and planning for them was made, so the likelihood of experiencing problems in personal needs was estimated to be lower. Therefore, it is essential for every institution to plan for the basic needs of its personnel before a disaster. When looking at both groups, the only personal basic need that is not affected is sexual activity. While an increase in sexual activity is expected with the survival instinct in disaster situations, the working group's pre-earthquake higher living standards, the intensity of work, and the fact that they survived may cause this instinct to be deactivated or individuals to avoid giving the right answer to the question culturally.

Ensuring the sustainability of healthcare services necessitates addressing the basic needs and health requirements of healthcare personnel. This study demonstrates that a significant number of healthcare workers affected by the earthquake suffer from PTSD and STS and are unable to adequately meet their basic needs during the first six months following the disaster. While focusing on the continuity of healthcare service delivery, this study emphasizes the importance of addressing the basic needs and mental health of healthcare personnel, ensuring that their well-being is not overlooked in the provision of healthcare services. Therefore, disaster preparedness should focus on minimizing the anticipated impact and implementing supportive mechanisms in the aftermath. To achieve this, emergency response systems that include mental health support should be

established before disasters occur. Personnel working in high-risk earthquake zones should receive training to enhance their resilience to disaster-related stressors, and volunteers willing to serve during disasters should be identified in advance and included in stress management and resilience training programs. Following a disaster, all healthcare personnel who have worked in the affected region should receive routine psychological counseling and be screened for PTSD and STS. Those diagnosed with these conditions should be provided with appropriate mental health interventions. To prevent burnout among healthcare professionals working in disaster zones, temporary or permanent should be considered. reassignments Additionally, workload-related stress should be mitigated through rotational work schedules in high-stress units. In addition to psychological support, ensuring healthcare workers' access to essential resources such as adequate shelter, clean water, food, and rest facilities should be a priority. Disruptions in basic needs can exacerbate stress, negatively impacting both mental well-being and professional performance. Therefore, institutional disaster response plans should include pre-established provisions for securing safe accommodations, sufficient supplies, and proper living conditions for healthcare personnel in disaster-affected regions.

This study has several limitations. Although the data were collected six months after the earthquake, aftershocks and building destructions are still ongoing in the region. Therefore, it should be considered that scale scores may be high due to the continued traumatic stimulus. Although the scale scores of those who came on duty are lower than those affected by the earthquake, they are higher than the healthy community average. It should be kept in mind that the reason for this may not only be the experienced secondary traumatic event, but also experience of aftershocks while they were working in the region. Considering these limitations, it is thought that repeating the study one year later would be more reliable. In this study, PTSD and STS assessments were conducted using self-report scales without clinical interviews. This may have led healthcare professionals working under earthquake conditions to report their symptoms more severely due to the distress caused by their working environment. Alternatively, some participants might have underreported their symptoms due to concerns about being identified as having a mental health condition. Therefore, the reported prevalence rates of PTSD and STS should not be considered as clinical diagnoses, and the presence of self-reporting bias should be taken into account when interpreting the results. Additionally, since researchers did not have access to contact lists of both local healthcare personnel and those assigned to the region, participants were recruited using the snowball sampling method. As a result, the findings cannot be generalized to all healthcare workers in the earthquake-affected area. Furthermore, individuals who responded to the survey may have been those particularly interested in the topic, more severely affected by the earthquake, or wishing to make their experiences visible. This introduces the possibility of volunteer bias, which should be considered when evaluating the results, as it may have led to a higher reported prevalence of PTSD compared to other studies.

## **CONCLUSION**

Earthquakes constitute traumatic events, and the active engagement of healthcare professionals who are victims of earthquakes exacerbates the traumatic stresses related to the earthquake itself and the secondary traumatic stress symptoms arising from the traumatic experiences of the patients they attend to. This study has demonstrated that both PSS-SR scores and STSS scores are significantly elevated in healthcare professionals affected by the earthquake compared to those who were deployed for duty. Therefore, the imperative of providing support to healthcare professionals affected by the earthquake should not be overlooked. If feasible, after support is provided through deployment, healthcare professionals impacted by the earthquake should be excluded from operational procedures.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no interest that may pose conflict with any party.

**Financial Support:** No funding was received for conducting this study.

**Ethical approval:** The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects and the protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Inonu University (Date: 19.07.2023, Meeting No: 2023/4831).

**Author Contrubition:** Concept: TA, AG, YA, OM, CO, Design: TA, AG, YA, OM, CO, Supervising: TA, AG, YA, OM, CO, Data collection and entry: TA, AG, YA, OM, CO, Analysis and interpretation: TA, AG, YA, OM, CO, Literature

search: TA, AG, YA, OM, CO, Writing: TA, AG, YA, OM, CO, Critical review: TA, OM, CO

## **REFERENCES**

- Rafiey HA. Evaluating the psychometric properties of the Mental Health Continuum-Short Form (MHC-SF) in Iranian earthquake survivors. International Journal of Mental Health 2017; 46, 1-9.
- Laia TJ, Chang CM, Connor K, Lee LC, Davidson J. Full and partial PTSD among earthquake survivors in rural Taiwan. Journal of Psychiatric Research 2004; 38, 313-322.
- APA. Ruhsal Bozuklukların Tanısal ve Sayımsal El Kitabı (DSM-V). (E. Köroğlu, Çev.) Ankara: Hekimler Yayın Birliği; 2013.
- 4. Armenian H, Morikawa M, Melkonian A, Hovanesian A, Haroutunian N et al. Loss as a determinant of PTSD in a cohort of adult survivors of the 1988 earthquake in Armenia: implications for policy. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2000; 102, 58-64.
- Liao SC, Yue-Joe L, Shi-Kay L, Ming-Been L, Wang SC et al. Acute Stress Syndromes in Patients at an Emergency Medical Station after a Major Earthquake. Taiwanese J Psychiatry 2000; 14, 31-30.
- 6. Ünal Y. Evaluation of disaster workers in terms of post traumatic stress disorder, self-esteem, perceived social support and help seeking. MSc, University of Kocaeli, Kocaeli, Turkiye, 2014 (in Turkish).
- 7. Yılmaz B. Traumatic Stress in Relief Workers. Klinik Psikiyatri 2007; 10, 137-147 (in Turkish).
- 8. Gürdil G. The assessment of vicarious trauma and secondary traumatic stress of a group of trauma workers within the frame of Gestalt contact styles. PhD, University of Ankara, Ankara, Turkiye, 2014 (in Turkish).
- 9. Sağıroğlu AZ, Ünsal R, Özenci F. Deprem Sonrası Göç. ve İnsan Hareketliliği: Durum Değerlendirme raporu. Ankara: AYBÜ-GPM; 2023.
- 10. www.afad.gov.tr. (2023, 11 11). retrivied from https://www.afad.gov.tr/: https://www.afad.gov.tr/
- 11. Cheng J, Liang YM, Zhou YY, Eli B, Liu ZK. Trajectories of PTSD symptoms among children who survived the Lushan earthquake: A four-year longitudinal study. J Affect Disord. 2019;252:421-427. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2019.04.047
- 12. Dworkin ER, Jaffe AE, Bedard-Gilligan M, Fitzpatrick S. PTSD in the Year Following Sexual Assault: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse 2021;24(2), 497-514. https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380211032213

- 13. Diamond PR, Airdrie JN, Hiller R et al. Change in prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder in the two years following trauma: a meta-analytic study. European Journal of Psychotraumatology 2022;13(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198. 2022.2066456
- Rosellini AJ, Liu H, Petukhova MV, et al. Recovery from DSM-IV post-traumatic stress disorder in the WHO World Mental Health surveys. Psychological Medicine. 2018;48(3):437-450. doi:10.1017/ S0033291717001817
- 15. Foa EB, Riggs DS, Dancu CV, Rothbaum BO. Reliability and validity of a brief instrument for assessing post-traumatic stress disorder. Journal of Traumatic Stress 1993; 6, 459-473.
- Aydın A, Barut Y, Kalafat T, Boysan M, Beşiroğlu L. Psychometric properties of the Turkish version of the PTSD Symptom Scale-Self-Report (PSS-SR). Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry 2012; 13(125-130) (in Turkish).
- 17. Bride BE. Prevalence of secondary traumatic stress among social workers. Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work 2007; 52, 63-70.
- Yıldırım G, Levent BK, Yurdabakan İ. Secondary Traumatic Stress Scale: an adaptation study. Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry 2018; 19, 45-51 (in Turkish).
- 19. Tahernejad S, Ghaffari S, Ariza A, Wesemann U, Farahmandnia H et al. Post-traumatic stress disorder in medical workers involved in earthquake response: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Heliyon 2023; 9.
- 20. Cansel N, Ucuz İ. Post-traumatic stress and associated factors among healthcare workers in the early stage following the 2020 Malatya-Elazığ earthquake. Konuralp Medical Journal 2022; 14(1), 81-91.
- Wang L, Zhang J, Zhou M, Shi Z, Liu P. Symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder among health care workers in earthquake-affected areas in southwest China. Psychological Reports 2010; 106(2), 555-561.
- 22. Shrestha R. Post-traumatic Stress Disorder among Medical Personnel after Nepal earthquake. Journal of Nepal Health Research Council 2015;13(30):144-8. https://doi.org/10.33314/jnhrc.v0i0.639.
- 23. Schenk EJ, Yuan J, Martel LD, Shi GQ, Han K, Gao X. Risk factors for long-term post-traumatic stress disorder among medical rescue workers appointed to the 2008 Wenchuan earthquake response in China. Disasters 2017;41(4), 788-802.
- 24. Ma IC, Chang WH, Wu CL, Lin CH. Risks of posttraumatic stress disorder among emergency medical technicians who responded to the 2016

Taiwan earthquake. Journal of the Formosan Medical Association 2020;119(9), 1360-1371.

- 25. Ehring T, Razik S, Emmelkamp PM. Prevalence and predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder, anxiety, depression, and burnout in Pakistani earthquake recovery workers. Psychiatry research 2011;185(1-2), 161-166.
- 26. Adhikari Baral I, Bhagawati KC. Post traumatic stress disorder and coping strategies among adult survivors of earthquake, Nepal. BMC Psychiatry 2019;19(1):118. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12888-019-2090-y.
- Pino O, Pelosi A, Artoni V, Mari M. Post-Traumatic Outcomes among Survivors of the Earthquake in Central Italy of August 24, 2016. A Study on PTSD Risk and Vulnerability Factors. Psychiatric Quarterly 2021;92:1489–1511. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11126-021-09908-9
- 28. Xi Y, Yu H, Yao Y, Peng K, Wang Y, Chen R. Posttraumatic stress disorder and the role of resilience, social support, anxiety and depression after the Jiuzhaigou earthquake: A structural equation model. Asian Journal of Psychiatry 2020; 101958. doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2020.101958
- 29. Dai W, Chen L, Lai Z, Li Y, Wang J, Liu A. The incidence of post-traumatic stress disorder among survivors after earthquakes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC psychiatry 2016;16, 1-11.
- 30. Musa SA, Hamid AA. Psychological problems among aid workers operating in Darfur. Journal Social Behavior and Personality 2008; 36(3), 407-416.
- 31. Cardozo BL, Holtz TH, Kaiser R, Gotway CA, Ghitis F et al. The mental health of expatriate and Kosovar Albanian humanitarian aid workers. Disasters 2005; 29(2), 152-170.

- 32. Chang K, Taormina RJ. Reduced Secondary Trauma Among Chinese Earthquake Rescuers: A Test of Correlates and Life Indicators. Journal of Loss and Trauma 2011; 16(6), 542-562.
- 33. McBride DL, Porter N, Lovelock K, Shepherd D. Risk and protective factors for the course of posttraumatic stress disorder in frontline workers after the Christchurch, New Zealand earthquake. Disaster Prevention and Management An International Journal 2018; 27(2), 193-206.
- 34. Kanno H, Kim Y, Constance-Huggins M. Risk and protective factors of secondary traumatic stress in social workers responding to the Great East Japan Earthquake. Social Development Issues 2016; 38(3), 64-78.
- 35. Cieslak R, Shoji K, Douglas A, Melville E, Luszczynska A et al. A meta-analysis of the relationship between job burnout and secondary traumatic stress among workers with indirect exposure to trauma. psychological Services 2014; 11(1), 75-86.
- Creamer TL, Liddle BJ. Secondary traumatic stress among disaster mental health workers responding to the September 11 attacks. J Trauma Stress 2005; 18(1), 89-96.
- 37. Guo C, Li S, Chan SS. Long-term effects of disaster exposure on health care workers' resilience: A comparison of the Wenchuan earthquake-exposed and unexposed groups. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction 2022; 67: 102658.

**ORIGINAL ARTICLE** 

## Prevalence and underlying determinants related to COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among Iraqi Healthcare professionals in Hilla City

💼 Rasha Raheem Al-mansoori 1, 🕩 Shaymaa Abdullateef Alfadhul<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Doctor, Rasha Al-mansoori, Babylon Health Directorate, Al Hilla City, Iraq

<sup>2</sup> Prof. Dr., Shaymaa Alfadhul, University of Kufa, Family and Community Medicine Department, Al Najaf City, Iraq

Received: 14.09.2024, Accepted: 30.03.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** This study aims to assess the prevalence of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among healthcare workers in Hilla City and understand the underlying reasons.

**Method:** A cross-sectional study was conducted at various health institutions in Al-Hilla City, randomly selected, from July 1, 2022, to November 1, 2022. A three-part questionnaire was used to collect information from all healthcare workers (HCWs) at these institutions who consented to participate. The first part was focused on socio-demographics. The second part gathered information on COVID-19 infection history and vaccination status. The third part used a five constraints scale questionnaire to evaluate the psychological factors affecting COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among unvaccinated participants, which is composed of five main subscales: "confidence, complacency, constraints, calculation, and collective responsibility." Data were analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) program.

**Results:** The study of 521 healthcare workers revealed a vaccine hesitancy rate of 12.5%, influenced by lack of confidence (86.2%), complacency (70%), and low collective responsibility (93.8%). Nonmedical staff relying on social media for information were more likely to be hesitant (p < 0.05). Vaccine hesitancy was significantly associated with occupation, workplace, and information sources (p < 0.05) but showed no link to gender, marital status, education, or chronic disease history (p > 0.05).

**Conclusion:** The non-vaccinated participants were mostly non-medical healthcare workers employed in hospitals, with social media as their main source of information. Inadequate trust in the vaccine, a low sense of collective responsibility, and an underestimation of disease risk were key factors influencing vaccination decisions.

Keywords: COVID-19, Health Personnel, Vaccination Hesitancy, Vaccination Refusal, Vaccines

Correspondence: Shaymaa Alfadhul, Prof. Dr., University of Kufa, Family and Community Medicine Department, Al Najaf City, Iraq E-mail: shaymaa.alfadhl@uokufa.edu.iq

Cite This Article: Al-mansoori RR, Abdullateef Alfadhul S. Prevalence and underlying determinants related to COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among Iraqi Healthcare professionals in Hilla City. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 94-105.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.



Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NO ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a serious, contagious disease that caused a worldwide outbreak <sup>1</sup>. The World Health Organization declared it a global health crisis <sup>2</sup>.

It has been understood that vaccination is the most vital measure to control an epidemic. Vaccine development efforts began globally in January 2020 following China>s sharing of the virus>s genetic sequence <sup>3</sup>.

The success of vaccination programs relies on people's preparedness to receive the vaccines. Due to their rapid development, concerns about the safety and effectiveness of new COVID-19 vaccines arose, contributing to vaccine hesitancy and complicating efforts to achieve widespread vaccination <sup>4</sup>.

The COVID-19 vaccination program in Iraq began in early 2021, offering vaccines such as Pfizer-BioNTech, AstraZeneca, Sinopharm, and Sputnik V. Initially, healthcare workers and high-risk groups were prioritized. The program included two primary doses, with booster doses introduced in late 2021. Vaccines were distributed via hospitals and primary healthcare centers, and mandatory policies for healthcare workers were implemented by September 2021<sup>5</sup>.

Healthcare workers (HCWs) were among the first groups recommended for COVID-19 vaccination by the World Health Organization <sup>3</sup>. The underlying reasons for this are the following. First, HCWs face a significantly greater danger of infection compared to the public, due to their interaction with patients during diagnosis and treatment. Corona viral test results showed that front-line HCWs have 11 times more positive rates than the general community<sup>6</sup>.

Second, HCWs play a role in transmitting infections to patients through physicians' hands, equipment, and surrounding surfaces. Studies demonstrate that physicians can be a significant pathway for spreading hospitalacquired infections 7. They can also spread the disease to their relatives, and others 8. Therefore, healthcare workers are expected to be essential in achieving high vaccination rates and controlling the public health crisis <sup>9</sup>. The interaction between patients and healthcare workers (HCWs) is the basis for building public confidence in vaccines and addressing vaccine hesitancy <sup>10</sup>. Patients often have a strong trust relationship with their healthcare providers <sup>11</sup>. Effective communication from HCWs regarding vaccine benefits, risks, and importance empowers patients to make confident vaccination decisions. However, earlier studies have shown that a large percentage of HCWs are vaccine-hesitant in their personal lives, which may negatively affect their attitudes toward vaccines <sup>12</sup>.

To increase Coronavirus disease 2019 vaccine rates among HCWs, their concerns about the vaccine must be addressed effectively. The causes of vaccine hesitancy have to be identified, and this information should be used to establish confidence in the vaccine. Therefore, the current study evaluates hesitancy toward the COVID-19 vaccine among Iraqi healthcare personnel and explores the reasons behind any vaccine hesitancy.

### **METHOD**

A cross-sectional study was conducted at various health institutions in Al Hilla City. Using simple random sampling, three of five hospitals and three of twenty primary

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

healthcare centers were selected for the study. The total number of healthcare workers (HCWs) in these selected institutions, which formed the study's sampling frame, was 602 HCWs.

All healthcare workers employed at the selected institutions during the study period were invited to participate, regardless of shift timing. Those who were absent for extended periods (e.g., leave, travel) were not included. This included both medical staff providing direct clinical care (e.g., doctors, nurses, officers, midwives, pharmacists, health and medical laboratory technologists) and non-medical staff involved in non-clinical services (e.g., administrative employees, lawyers, accountants, cleaning staff, janitors, and others in non-clinical roles). Invitations were distributed through institutional announcements and direct communication.

The sample size was determined using the standard formula for survey studies:  $[n = Z^2P (1-P)/d^2]$ , with a precision level of 0.05 and a 95% confidence interval. A previous study reported that 57.4% of healthcare workers were hesitant to receive a COVID-19 vaccine <sup>13</sup>. Based on this, the minimum required sample size was calculated as 376. However, to improve representativeness and strengthen statistical analysis, the sample size was increased to 521.

Among the 549 invited healthcare workers, 28 declined to participate, yielding a response rate of 94.9%.

Data were collected from July 1 to November 1, 2022, through interviews using a question naire adapted from previously published studies <sup>14</sup>. The question naire consisted of three sections. The first section gathered socio-demographic data. The second included questions related to COVID-19, such as family members who had previously contracted COVID-19 and sources of information on COVID-19 vaccination.

The third section focused on non-vaccinated HCWs, utilizing the translated, validated, and reliable Arabic form of the Five Constraints Scale (5C scale) to evaluate psychological factors influencing vaccine uptake<sup>14</sup>. This scale consists of 15 validated statements divided into five subscales: confidence, complacency, constraints, calculation, and collective responsibility.

The first subscale (Q1-Q3) measured confidence in vaccine effectiveness and safety, as well as trust in healthcare organization leaders and authorities.

The second subscale (Q4-Q6) assessed complacency, defined as the belief that vaccine-preventable diseases pose low risks and that vaccination is unnecessary.

The third subscale (Q7-Q9) explored constraints, such as limited access or personal concerns that might hinder vaccination.

The fourth subscale (Q10-Q12) evaluated calculation, reflecting an individual's effort to weigh infection risks against vaccination risks to make an informed decision.

The fifth subscale (Q13-Q15) assessed collective responsibility, focusing on the willingness to protect others through self-vaccination and contribute to herd immunity.

Non-vaccinated HCWs responded to three questions for each subscale on a sevenpoint Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree). Neutral responses scored a 4, and reverse-coded items (marked R) were adjusted accordingly. The mean of these scores was used to calculate subscale scores. The minimum required scores for the subscales were 5.7 for confidence, 4.7 for complacency, 6.0 for constraints, 6.3 for calculation, and 6.2 for collective responsibility.

A pilot study involving 20 HCWs was conducted to assess the questionnaire's clarity and completion time. While their feedback was used to improve the questionnaire, their data were excluded from the main study.

Participants were verbally informed about the study's purpose before the interviews. All collected information was kept confidential, and data were anonymized to protect participant identities. Ethical approval was obtained from the Babylon Governorate Health Directorate (Approval No. 78, dated 28/6/2022).

Data entry and analysis were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 25. Categorical data were presented as numbers and percentages, while continuous data were described using means and standard deviations. The relationship between independent categorical variables was analyzed using the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Mean differences were compared using the independent samples t-test. Statistical significance was set at a p-value of 0.05 or lower.

## RESULTS

The present study included 521 healthcare workers. Their mean age was 33.2 years, with a standard deviation (SD) of 10.3 years. A total of 48.2% were in the age group of less than 30 years, and about two-thirds were females (67.0%). The majority were married (64.7%), most of them lived in urban areas (82.7%), and 72.4% of the participants worked in a hospital, as shown in [Table 1].

Table 1. Socio	demographic characteristics of participants (n = 521)					
Characteristic		n	%	Mean ± SD		
Age (years)				33.2±10.33		
Age grou	<b>os</b> <30	251	48.2			
(years)	30-40	146	28.0			
	41-50	63	12.1			
	51-60	54	10.4			
	61-70	7	1.3			
Gender	Male	172	33.0			
	Female	349	67.0			
	Married	337	64.7			
Marital status	Single	167	32.1			
	Separated or Widow	17	3.2			
Residence	Urban	431	82.7			
	Rural	90	17.3			
*** 1 1	Hospital	377	72.4			
Workplace	РНСС	144	27.6			
	Medical HCWs: doctor, nurse, Midwives, Pharmacists and other	411	78.9			
Occupation	on Non-medical HCWs administrative employees, accountants, cleaning staff, and others		21.1			
Years of experience of participants						

Table 1. (Continued) Sociodemographic characteristics of participants (n = 521)							
	< 5	234	44.9				
Years of	6-10	146	28.0				
experience	11-15	42	8.1				
groups (years)	16-20	18	3.5				
	>20	81	15.5				
	Illiterate	3	0.6				
	Read and write	6	1.2				
Educational	Primary School	12	2.3				
level of	Intermediate School	16	3.1				
participants	Secondary High School	66	12.7				
	Institute	168	32.2				
	College	223	42.8				
	Higher Education	27	5.2				
Total		521	100				

The majority of participants (87.5%) had no history of chronic diseases; more than half of the participants (51.3%) had a previous

personal history of COVID-19, and 62.8% had a family history of COVID-19, as shown in [Table 2].

**Table 2.** Distribution of participant according to their history of chronic disease and COVID-19 infection and vaccination

Characteristic		n	%
	No chronic disease	456	87.5
Chronic diseases	Single disease	54	10.4
	Multiple diseases	11	2.1
	Yes	267	51.3
Personal history of COVID-19 disease	No	197	37.8
	Not sure	57	10.9
	Yes	327	62.8
Family history of COVID-19 infection	No	164	31.5
	Not sure	30	5.7
COULD 10 vaccination status	Vaccinated	456	87.5
COVID-19 vaccillation status	Non vaccinated	65	12.5
Total		521	100.0

Of the total number of non-vaccinated HCWs (65), 56 (86.2%) did not have confidence in the effectiveness and safety of vaccines, the vaccine delivery system, and the policymakers. Additionally, 30 (46.2%) of non-vaccinated HCWs reported complacency, which is a perception of low disease risk and no need for vaccination. Six (9.2%) had constraints against vaccination, 39 (60%) did not calculate to weigh the risk of infection versus the risk of vaccination, and 61 (93.8%) did not have collective responsibility for protecting others through self-vaccination or did not know enough about herd immunity, as

### shown in [Figure 1].



**Figure 1.** Distribution of non-vaccinated HCWs according to the Five Constraints Scale of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy

Table 3 compares the socio-demographic characteristics of HCWs based on their COVID-19 vaccination status. Non-vaccinated HCWs were more likely to work in hospitals (93.8%) compared to vaccinated HCWs (69.3%), a statistically significant difference (p < 0.001). Additionally, a higher proportion of non-vaccinated HCWs were non-medical staff (32.3%) compared to vaccinated HCWs (19.1%) (p = 0.021). While non-vaccinated HCWs were slightly younger and more likely to be female, these differences were not statistically significant (p> 0.05). Similarly, there was no significant association between vaccination status and marital status, residence, educational level, or years of experience (p > 0.05).

**Table 3.** Distributions of Socio-demographic factors among participants according to their COVID-19 vaccine status

Variable	Receiving the COVID vaccine							
		COVID-19		COVID-19				p-value
		vaccine		vaccine non-		Total		p raide
		recipients		recipients				
		n	%	n	%	n	%	-
	<30	215	47.1	36	55.4	251	48.2	
Age groups	31-40	129	28.3	17	26.2	146	28	
	41-50	53	11.6	10	15.4	63	12.1	0.174
(Years)	51-60	52	11.4	2	3.1	54	10.4	
	61-70	7	1.5	0	0	7	1.3	
Age (years) Mean	± SD	33.51	33.51± 10.56		±8.30	33.2±10.33		0.076
Condor	Male	149	32.7	23	35.4	172	33.0	0.664
Genuer	Female	307	67.3	42	64.6	349	67.0	0.004
	Married	299	65.6	38	58.5	337	64.7	0.441
Marital status	Single	141	30.9	26	40	167	32.1	
	Separated and Widow	16	3.5	1	1.5	17	3.3	
Posidonco	Urban	381	83.6	50	76.9	431	82.7	0 196
	Rural	75	16.4	15	23.1	90	17.3	0.100
Occupation	Medical	369	80.9	44	67.7	413	79.3	0.013
	Non-medical	87	19.1	21	32.3	108	20.7	
	Illiterate	2	0.4	1	1.5	3	0.6	
	Read and write	5	1.1	1	1.5	6	1.2	
	Primary School	8	1.8	4	6.2	12	12.3	_
Educational level	Intermediate School	15	3.3	1	1.5	16	3.1	0.107
	Secondary High School	63	13.8	3	4.6	66	12.7	0.107
	Diploma (Institute)	149	32.7	19	29.2	168	32.2	-
	Collage	190	41.7	33	50.8	223	42.8	
	Higher Education	24	5.3	3	4.6	27	5.2	
Workplace	Hospital	316	69.3	61	93.8	377	72.4	<0.001
workplace	РНСС	140	30.7	4	6.2	144	27.6	<0.001
Voars of	< 5	199	43.6	35	53.8	234	44.9	
	5-10	129	28.3	17	26.2	146	28	0.422
experience	11-15	39	8.6	3	4.6	42	8.1	
	16-20	15	3.3	3	4.6	18	3.5	
	> 20	74	16.2	7	10.8	81	15.5	
Total N		456	100.0	65	100.0	521	100.0	

A negative history of chronic disease among vaccinated HCWs was (88.2%), while in non-vaccinated HCWs it was (83.1%), the statistical analysis showed

no significant association (p > 0.05). The history of COVID-19 disease in nonvaccinated participants was (52.3%) while in vaccinated participants it was (51.1%), the statistical analysis showed no statistically significant association (p > 0.05). The family history of COVID-19 disease in non-vaccinated participants was (64.6%) while in

vaccinated participants it was (62.5%), the statistical analysis showing no statistically significant association (p > 0.05), as shown in [Table 4].

**Table 4.** Distribution of participants according to the history of chronic disease, and personal and family history of COVID-19 disease concerning their vaccination status

Variable		Receiving COVID va	ccine						
			COVID-19		COVID-19				
			vaccine		vaccine non-		Total		p-value
			recipients		recipients				
			n	%	n	%	n	%	
Chronic disease		none	402	88.2	54	83.1	456	87.5	
		Single disease	45	9.9	9	13.8	54	10.4	0.576
		Multiple diseases	9	2	2	3.1	11	2.1	
COVID history	infection	Yes	233	51.1	34	52.3	267	51.2	0.673
		No	171	37.5	26	40	197	37.8	
		Not sure	52	11.4	5	7.7	57	10.9	
Family	member's	Yes	285	62.5	42	64.6	327	62.8	
history of COVID -19		No	145	31.8	19	29.2	164	31.5	0.951
infection		Not sure	26	5.7	4	6.2	30	5.8	
Total			456	100	65	100	521	100	

The findings in [Table 5] showed a statistically significant association between vaccination and the main source of information among the participants (p-value = 0.004), with the highest proportion of vaccinated individuals.

(55.7%) cited doctors and other HCWs as the main source of information, while social media platforms and YouTube were the main sources for the highest percentage of nonvaccinated HCWs (46.2%)

**Table 5.** Distribution of participants according to the source of information about the COVID-19 vaccine concerningtheir vaccine status

	<b>Receiving COVID vaccine</b>							
The main source of information about		COVID-19 vaccine		COVID-19 vaccine non-		tal	p-value	
						, cui		
	recipients		recipients				_	
	n	%	n	%	n	%		
Doctors/HCWs	254	55.7	21	32.3	275	52.8	_	
TV /newspapers /news releases	44	9.6	9	13.8	53	10.2		
Social media platforms /YouTube	118	25.9	30	46.2	148	28.4	- 0.004	
Scientists/scientific journals/ conferences	34	7.5	4	6.2	38	7.3	0.004	
People around them	3	0.7	1	1.5	4	0.8	-	
No source	3	0.7	0	0.0	3	0.6		
Total n (%)	456	100	65	100	521	100		

### DISCUSSION

This study found that 12.5% of HCWs were hesitant to receive the COVID-19 vaccine. The main reasons for hesitancy included a lack of confidence (86.2%), low collective *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*  responsibility (93.8%), and complacency (70%). Vaccine hesitancy was significantly associated with occupation, workplace, and information sources (p < 0.05) but not with gender, marital status, education, or chronic

disease history. These findings highlight the critical need for targeted interventions, especially among non-medical HCWs who rely on social media for vaccine information. Compared to previous studies in the region, our findings indicate a higher vaccine acceptance rate is higher than that reported in regional and global studies conducted among healthcare workers before the introduction of the vaccine, such as in Kurdistan (72.1%) <sup>15</sup>, Kuwait (83.3%) <sup>16</sup>, Saudi Arabia (64.9%, 64.4%) <sup>17, 18</sup>, Oman (40%) <sup>19</sup>, and Egypt (48% among medical students)<sup>20</sup>. These differences in acceptance rates before and after the vaccine introduction could be because the willingness to get vaccinated does not necessarily mean that individuals will do so. These decisions are complex, influenced by many factors, and can change over time <sup>21</sup>.

In studies among the general population in Iraq, the acceptance rate was 77.6% and 61.7% <sup>22, 23</sup>. Vaccination acceptance was higher among healthcare workers compared to the general population. Three main reasons explain this: the higher medical knowledge of HCWs, their concern about catching COVID-19 from patients, and their worry about spreading the infection to their families. A study found that healthcare workers were at high risk of contracting COVID-19, which worried them due to the potential of spreading the infection to their families <sup>24</sup>. Lastly, the Iraqi government's mandatory vaccination policy for healthcare workers, implemented in September 2021, played a significant role <sup>25</sup>.

Current results showed no association between the vaccination status of HCWs and their sex (p> 0.05). This is similar to what was found in studies conducted in Iraqi Kurdistan  $^{13, 26}$ , Baghdad  $^{27}$ , and the general population in Iraq <sup>22</sup>. Many studies have found that males had a higher vaccination acceptance rate than females, as observed in studies on healthcare workers in Iraqi Kurdistan <sup>15</sup> and Saudi Arabia <sup>17</sup>. In contrast, one study reported higher acceptance among females <sup>28</sup>. This could be explained by the fact that most of the current participants (67%) were female, so no clear relationship could be determined. Alternatively, it may be based on a recent study showing that female healthcare workers were infected more often than male ones, while male healthcare workers had higher mortality rates than female healthcare workers <sup>29</sup>.

This study did not find significant differences in vaccination rates between different age groups (p> 0.05). Researchers reported higher vaccination rates among younger HCWs <sup>30</sup>. In contrast, others who were older were more likely to receive the vaccine <sup>31</sup>. There is no clear explanation for this discrepancy. Social media exposure and misinformation might make younger healthcare workers less likely to get vaccinated, while the higher risk of serious illness for older healthcare workers encourages them to get the vaccine. Conversely, older HCWs could be more concerned about potential vaccine side effects and less involved in COVID-19 patient care.

The non-medical HCWs were more cautious about accepting the COVID-19 vaccine than medical HCWs. This is also reported by other studies <sup>13, 19</sup>, as medical health workers are at a higher risk of contracting infections, are more likely to be aware of the risks associated with infectious diseases <sup>32</sup>, and have a greater understanding of the significance of vaccines in preventing the transmission of such diseases.

Regarding the workplace, in our study, vaccine

hesitancy was higher among hospital workers than PHCC workers. As a consequence of direct contact with COVID-19, HCWs might become less concerned about the virus, leading to a decreased perception of personal risk. Additionally, since the PHCC is smaller and has fewer employees, it is easier to request that employees bring their vaccination card or a negative (PCR) test weekly for those who are not vaccinated. In Iraq, unvaccinated employees are required to provide a verified negative test at their workplaces every week <sup>25</sup>. In contrast, hospitals have many employees and large facilities, making it more challenging to monitor each employee. There has been controversy over a Kurdistan study <sup>15</sup>. According to this study, PHCC workers are more cautious about vaccines than hospital workers. This may be because the study was conducted shortly before the local availability of the vaccine.

Our study showed no relation between educational level and vaccination status, which is consistent with an earlier study <sup>27</sup>. Other studies conducted among the general public found that higher vaccine acceptance is more common among individuals with higher education levels <sup>22, 33</sup>. The reason for this might be that healthcare workers have higher education levels than the general population.

Current findings show that comorbidities were not related to vaccination, similar to the findings of other researchers <sup>3, 26</sup>. In contrast, previous research found that comorbidities increased the likelihood of vaccine acceptance <sup>34, 35</sup>. In other studies, HCWs with comorbidities showed more hesitancy toward vaccines, which could be associated with fears of adverse effects <sup>36</sup>. These differences from the present study could be because most of the current respondents were young and did not have chronic conditions.

Misinformation about COVID-19 and vaccines is a potential determinant associated with vaccine hesitancy. Among the vaccinated (55.7%), doctors and other healthcare workers were the main sources of information, while social media platforms and YouTube were the primary sources for non-vaccinated HCWs. The association was highly significant (p = 0.004). Our results are comparable to those of others <sup>23, 27</sup>. The role of social networks in shaping public attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccines has been investigated in several studies <sup>28</sup>.

Among the Five Constraints Scale, the highest percentage in the present study was due to a lack of collective responsibility. This suggests that 93.8% of non-vaccinated HCWs did not feel a sense of social responsibility to protect others by vaccinating themselves and contributing to herd immunity<sup>37</sup>. Collective responsibility has been associated with increased vaccine acceptance in previous studies <sup>38,39</sup>. Similarly, **59.6%** of participants in a survey across 13 Arab countries, including Iraq, lacked collective responsibility <sup>40</sup>.

The second-highest percentage of nonvaccinated HCWs (86.2%) in our sample lacked confidence in public health authorities, vaccine safety, and the effectiveness of the vaccine. This concern has been reported in other studies <sup>14,36</sup>.

Complacency was the third determinant, with 46.2% believing their immune system was sufficient, reducing their intention to vaccinate. This belief affects their intention to get vaccinated and has been reported in other studies <sup>41</sup>.
Calculation, or weighing risks and benefits, was observed in 40% of non-vaccinated HCWs, potentially exposing them to misinformation and lowering vaccine uptake <sup>16,38</sup>. It is possible that individuals who extensively searched for information were exposed to misinformation, reducing their willingness to get vaccinated.

Lastly, only 9.2% reported constraints, suggesting that access to vaccination was not a significant concern. Earlier studies showed that greater constraints were associated with lower vaccine intake <sup>13,16</sup>.

The limitations of this study include the geographically homogeneous sample from Al Hilla City, which limits generalizability, and its focus on non-vaccinated HCWs, which prevents comparisons with vaccinated counterparts. Additionally, the survey was conducted early in the vaccine rollout, providing only a snapshot of HCWs' attitudes. Several potential biases may have influenced the study findings. Response bias may have occurred as participants with strong vaccination opinions were more likely to respond. Recall bias is also a concern since self-reported data on infection history and vaccination status may be inaccurate. Additionally, information bias could result from self-assessments, leading to potential misclassification errors in evaluating vaccine hesitancy. However, to our knowledge, this is the first Al-Hilla study to use the validated and translated 5C tool to assess COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy, with a good sample size drawn from both primary and secondary health institutions.

# CONCLUSION

In this study, 12.5% of healthcare workers hesitated about COVID-19 vaccination (delay or refusal). Non-medical staff working in

hospitals were likelier to be unvaccinated and relied heavily on social media for information. Complacency, lack of collective responsibility, and confidence about COVID-19 are the major determinants of vaccine hesitancy. There are no available constraints for vaccination among most non-vaccinated healthcare workers. Based on study findings, vaccination of healthcare workers needs to be addressed by providing more training and education regarding COVID-19 disease, vaccine, and herd immunity to increase their trust in policymakers, safety, and effectiveness of vaccines, with a concentration on non-medical healthcare workers and those working in the hospital.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest.

Financial Support: None.

**Ethical Declaration:** Participants were verbally informed about the study's purpose before answering interview questions. All collected information from participants was kept confidential. Data was collected anonymously, meaning participants were not identifiable. The study received approvals from the Babylon Governorate health directorate (No.78 on 28/6/2022).

**Author Contrubition:** Dr. Rasha Raheem Al-mansoori contributed to data collection, manuscript preparation, and literature reviewing. Professor Shaymaa Abdullateef Alfadhul contributed to the study design, statistical analyses, and interpretation of data.

**Author Contribution:** Concept: SA, Design: SA, Writing: RRA Data collection: RRA, Data analysis: RRA, SA Revising the manuscript critically: RRA, SA Final approval: FA, PO,

### REFERENCES

- 1. Adhikari SP, Meng S, Wu YJ, Mao Y P, Ye R X, Wang Q Z, et al. Epidemiology, causes, clinical manifestation and diagnosis, prevention and control of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) during the early outbreak period. A scoping review Infect Dis Poverty 2020; 9:29.
- Shrivastava SR , Shrivastava PS 2019-nCoV outbreak declared as public health emergency of international concern: what next? Int J Prev Med 2020;11: 65.
- WHO. Draft landscape of COVID-19 candidate vaccines 2021. Available from:https://www.who. int/publications/m/item/draft-landscape-ofcovid19-candidate-vaccines . [Last accessed on 2023 Jan 26].
- 4. Lazarus JV, Ratzan SC, Palayew A, Gostin LO, Larson HJ, Rabin K, et al. A global survey of potential acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine. Nat Med 2020; 27:225-228.
- 5. World Health Organization. Iraq launches nationwide vaccination campaign to scale up immunity against COVID-19 [Internet]. Cairo: WHO Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean; 2021 [cited 2025 Jan 3]. Available from: https://www.emro.who.int/iraq/news/ iraq-launches-nationwide-vaccination-campaignto-scale-up-immunity-against-covid-19.html?utm\_ source=chatgpt.com
- 6. Nguyen LH , Drew DA, Graham MS , Joshi A.D, Guo C, Ma W, et al. Risk of COVID-19 among front-line health-care workers and the general community: a prospective cohort study. Lancet Public Health 2020;5: 475-483.
- Paduszynska K, Rucinska LG , Pomorski L. Physician as an infective vector at a department of surgery Pol Przegl Chir 2015; 86:511-517.
- 8. Aoun A, Abdel Rahman Y, Mostafa NM, Kassem I, Badrah M. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health care workers' mental health: A cross-sectional study. Allied J Med Res 2020; 4(1): 57-62.
- 9. Grech V, Gauci C, Agius S. Withdrawn: Vaccine hesitancy among Maltese Healthcare workers toward influenza and novel COVID-19 vaccination. Early Hum Dev 2020; 10:5213 [published online ahead of print.]
- 10. Gagneur A. Motivational interviewing: a powerful tool to address vaccine hesitancy. Canada Communicable Disease Report 2020; 46(4):93–97.
- Peretti-Watel P, Ward JK, Vergelys C, Bocquier A, Raude J, Verger P. "I think I Made the right decision ... I hope I'm not wrong." Vaccine hesitancy, commitment and trust among parents of young children. Social Health Illn 2019; 41(6):1192-

1206.

- 12. Yaqub O, Castle-Clarke S, Sevdalis N, Chatawayd J. Attitudes to vaccination: a critical review. Soc Sci Med 2014; 112:1–11.
- 13. Abdullah DM. Prevalence and correlates of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in the general public in Iraqi Kurdistan: A cross-sectional study. J Med Virol 2021; 93: 6722-6731.
- 14. Abd ElHafeez S, Elbarazi I, Shaaban R, ElMakhzangy R, Ossama Aly M, Alnagar A, et al. Arabic validation and cross-cultural adaptation of the 5C scale for assessment of COVID-19 vaccines psychological antecedents. PloS one 2021 Aug 26; 16(8): e0254595.
- 15. Luma A, Haveen A, Faiq B, Stefania M, Leonardo E. Hesitancy towards Covid-19 vaccination among the healthcare workers in Iraqi Kurdistan. Public Health in Practice 2022 ;3: 100222. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.puhip.2021.100222.
- Al-Sanafi M, Sallam M. Psychological Determinants of COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance among Healthcare Workers in Kuwait: A Cross-Sectional Study Using the 5C and Vaccine Conspiracy Beliefs Scales. Vaccines 2021; 9:7. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vaccines9070701.
- 17. Elharake J, Galal B, Alqahtani S, Kattan R, Barry M, Temsah M, et al. COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance among Health Care Workers in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. International Journal of Infectious Diseases 2021; 109: 286-293.
- Barry M, Temsah H, Alhuzaimi A, lamro A, Al-Eyadhy A, Aljamaan, F.et al. COVID-19 vaccine confidence and hesitancy among health care workers: A cross-sectional survey from a MERS-CoV experienced nation. PLOS ONE 2021; 16(11): e0244415. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0244415.
- 19. Khamis F, Badahdah A, Al Mahyijari N. Attitudes towards COVID-19 Vaccine: A Survey of Health Care Workers in Oman. J Epidemiol Glob Health 2022; 12: 1–6.
- Saied S, Saied E, Kabbash I, Abdo S. Vaccine hesitancy: Beliefs and barriers associated with COVID-19 vaccination among Egyptian medical students. J Med Virol 2021; 93: 4280–4291.
- 21. Sallam M. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy worldwide: a concise systematic review of vaccine acceptance rates. Vaccines 2021; 9(2):160.
- Ghazi H, Taher T, Alfadhul S, Al-Mahmood S, Hassan S, Hamoudi T. Acceptance of Covid-19 Vaccine among General Population in Iraq: IqNJM [Internet] 2021 Dec. 6 [cited 2023 March. 4]; 3(1):93-103. Available from:

- 23. Al-Metwali B, Al-Jumaili A, Al-Alag Z. Exploring the acceptance of COVID-19 vaccine among healthcare workers and general population using health belief model. Accepted: 23 April 2021 DOI: 10.1111/ jep.13581.
- 24. Al-Jumaili A, Al-Fatlawi B, Al-Jalehawi A, Al-Hamadani F, Alsawad O. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on healthcare providers: save the frontline fighters. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice 2021; 1-7.
- 25. https://gds.gov.iq/the-cabinet-will-continue-torequire-the-vaccination-of-employees-workersstudents-and-teaching-staff/ [Last accessed on 26 September 2021
- 26. Tahir A, Ramadhan D, Piro S, Abdullah R, Taha A, Radha R. COVID-19 vaccine acceptance, hesitancy and refusal among Iraqi Kurdish population. International Journal of Health Sciences 2022; 16(1): 10-16.
- 27. Salim K, Al-Attar W, Arif S, Ghazi H. Beliefs and Barriers Associated with COVID-19 Vaccination among Students. HIV Nursing 2022; 11; 22(2):912-5.
- 28. Lazarus J, Ratzan S, Palayew A . A global survey of potential acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine. Nature Med 2021; 27(2): 225-228.
- 29. Bandyopadhyay S, Baticulon R, Kadhum M, Alser M, Ojuka D, Badereddin Y, et al. Infection and mortality of healthcare workers worldwide from COVID-19: a systematic review. BMJ Glob Health. 2020; 5(12):e003097..
- Pacella-LaBarbara M, Park Y, Patterson P, Doshi A, Guyette M, Wong A, et al. COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake and Intent among Emergency Healthcare Workers: A Cross-Sectional Survey. J. Occup. Environ. Med 2021; 63: 852–856.
- 31. 31. Dzieciolowska S, Hamel D, Gadio S, Dionne M, Gagnon D, Robitaille L, et al. COVID-19 vaccine acceptance, hesitancy, and refusal among Canadian healthcare workers: A multicenter survey. Am. J. Infect. Control 2021; 49: 1152–1157.
- 32. Kociolek L, Elhadary J, Jhaveri R, Patel A, Stahulak B, Cartland J. Coronavirus disease 2019 vaccine hesitancy among children's hospital staff: A single-center survey Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology 2021; 42(6): 775-777. doi:10.1017/ ice.2021.58
- Khairi A, Saad M. Acceptance and attitudes towards COVID-19 vaccine among the general public in Iraq. Iraqi New Medical Journal 2023; 9:17.

- 34. Reno C, Maietti E, Fantini M, Savoia E, Manzoli L, Montalti M, et al. Enhancing COVID-19 vaccines acceptance: results from a survey on vaccine hesitancy in Northern Italy. Vaccines 2021; 9:378.
- 35. Williams L, Flowers P, Mcleod M, Young D, Rollins L. Social patterning and stability of intention to accept a COVID-19 vaccine in Scotland: Will those most at risk accept a vaccine? Vaccines 2021; 9:17.
- 36. Algabbani F, Alomeir O, Alhussayen M, Algabbani A. Vaccine Hesitancy among Healthcare Providers at the Beginning of a Pandemic: The Case of COVID-19 Vaccines. Saudi Journal
- 37. Navin MC, Oberleitner LM, Lucia VC, Ozdych M, Afonso N, Kennedy RH, et al. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among healthcare personnel who generally accept vaccines. J Community Health. 2022;47:519–29.
- 38. Machida M, Nakamura I, Kojima T, Saito R, Nakaya T, Hanibuchi T, et al. Trends in COVID-19 vaccination intent from pre- to post-COVID-19 vaccine distribution and their associations with the 5C psychological antecedents of vaccination by sex and age in Japan. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2021;17(12):3954–62. doi:10.1080/21645515.20 21.1968217.
- 39. Roberts CH, Brindle H, Rogers NT, Eggo RM, Enria L, Lees S. Vaccine confidence and hesitancy at the start of COVID-19 vaccine deployment in the UK: an embedded mixed-methods study. Front Public Health. 2021;9:745630. doi:10.3389/ fpubh.2021.745630.
- Betsch C, Bach Habersaat K, Deshevoi S, Heinemeier D, Briko N, Kostenko N, et al. Sample study protocol for adapting and translating the 5C scale to assess the psychological antecedents of vaccination. BMJ Open. 2020;10:e034869. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2019-034869.
- 41. Abdou MS, Kheirallah KA, Aly MO, Ramadan A, Mohammed Elhadi YA, Elbarazi I, et al. The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) vaccination psychological antecedent assessment using the Arabic 5C validated tool: an online survey in 13 Arab countries. PLoS One. 2021;16(11):e0260321. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0260321.

**ORIGINAL ARTICLE** 

# The reasons behind incomplete children vaccination in a sample from Iraqi society

ம Taqi Mohammed Jwad Taher 1, 地 Saif Ibrahim Daadoush2, 地 Saif Badr Abd Aoun2

<sup>1</sup> Prof. Dr., Family and Community Medicine Department, College of Medicine, Wasit University, Wasit, Iraq <sup>2</sup> Medical student, Family and Community Medicine Department, College of Medicine, Wasit University, Wasit, Iraq

Received: 19.11.2024, Accepted: 10.04.2025

#### Abstract

**Objective:** This study was conducted to assess the prevalence of incomplete vaccination among children aged under 15 years and the factors associated with it.

Method: A cross-sectional study was conducted among 330 children who visited the main two teaching hospitals in Al-Kut City (Al Zahraa Teaching Hospital 'the 6th-floor' and Al Karama Teaching Hospital), in addition to three Primary Healthcare Centers (PHCCs) (Abdullah Ben Rawaha, Al Hakeem, and Badra) in Al-Kut City/ Wasit Province/ Iraq. Data were collected using a modified and translated questionnaire from a previous study.

**Results:** The number of children who got the vaccine in their lives was 85.2%, and only 50% of them mentioned completing the vaccine schedule. The main cause of non-compliance was the long-distance walking to the health center (70.3%). Children who were eligible but didn't receive the vaccination (60%) due to factors like doctor refusal. More than half (55.2%) mentioned a lack of awareness regarding the schedule. Complications were noted in only 10.9%, with the highest percentage complaining of elevated body temperature (6.1%). There is a significant association between the vaccination status of children and their ages, monthly family income, parents' education, and residency (P value < 0.001). Gender was also associated with (P-value =0.002).

**Conclusion:** In this study, a higher percentage of children didn't receive their routine vaccines as recommended by health facilities, and this may relate to many factors like age, gender, family income, and parents' educational level. These results are of great value in planning for increasing vaccination coverage.

Keywords: Barriers, Children vaccination, Immunization, Iraq

Correspondence: Taqi Mohammed Jwad Taher, Prof. Dr., Family and Community Medicine Department, College of Medicine, Wasit University, Wasit, Iraq E-mail: ttahir@uowasit.edu.iq

Cite This Article: Taher TMJ, Daadoush SA, Aoun SBA. The reasons behind incomplete children vaccination in a sample from Iraqi society. Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1): 106-119.

©*Copyright 2025 by the* Association of Public Health Specialist (https://hasuder.org.tr) Turkish Journal of Public Health published by Cetus Publishing.



Turk J Public Health 2025 Open Access http://dergipark.org.tr/tjph/. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 BY NC ND International License.

Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

# **INTRODUCTION**

Immunization is the process of artificially inducing immunity through vaccination (active immunization) or the administration antibodies (passive immunization). of Vaccination is the administration of any vaccine or toxoid (inactivated toxin) for the prevention of disease <sup>1</sup>.

Over the years, studies have shown the effectiveness of vaccination as the most effective public health measure to prevent vaccine-preventable diseases (VPD), especially in children <sup>2, 3</sup>. Vaccines save 2 to 3 million lives annually <sup>2</sup>, and they save lives from many diseases, such as diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, influenza, and measles <sup>4, 5</sup>. Worldwide, smallpox was eliminated, with a 94% reduction in the incidence of poliomyelitis, and a 94% reduction in neonatal tetanus, in addition to eliminating disease, disability, and death from common childhood diseases <sup>6</sup>. About 29% of deaths among children under five years of age can be eliminated and prevented by vaccines worldwide <sup>7, 8</sup>. The Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI), launched in 1974, has improved the survival and health of children worldwide. The goal is to provide at least 95% of children with the basic vaccination series <sup>9</sup>.

Since 1983, the Global Advisory Group (GAG) of the World Health Organization (WHO) Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI) has advised program managers to explore ways to reduce missed vaccination opportunities. A straightforward strategy to increase vaccination coverage is to vaccinate all eligible children in any case. To achieve and maintain high vaccination coverage over the next ten years, the WHO is actively encouraging member countries to adhere Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)

to the Missed Opportunities for Vaccination (MOV) strategy. When people eligible for vaccination visit a health facility but do not receive the necessary vaccinations, it is called MOV. According to WHO recommendations, children are considered fully vaccinated when they receive the following vaccines: BCG against tuberculosis, three doses of pentavalent vaccine (DPT HepB Hib), PCV against polio, two doses of Rotavirus, and a measles vaccine. Before the age of 12 months, children who have missed at least one dose of these vaccines are considered to have received incomplete vaccination <sup>10</sup>.

According to the WHO, global vaccination coverage has decreased from 86% in 2019 to 81% in 2021. In addition, it is reported that in 2021, approximately 25 million children under one year did not receive basic vaccines, 19.9 million children did not receive recommended doses of vaccination, and the number of unvaccinated children has increased by 5 million since 2019. Thus, reaching high vaccination coverage remains one of the most pressing public health problems worldwide, especially in low- and middle-income countries <sup>11, 12</sup>. In addition, vaccination dropout rates in Asian and African countries remain stable from year to year <sup>13</sup>. The WHO said that Iraq was one of the 10 countries where 70% of children under one year of age have not received diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis (DTP3)<sup>14</sup>. According to WHO and UNICEF reports, the highest estimated vaccine coverage in Iraq during 2023 was for DPT1 (97%) followed by BCG (93%), while it was only (51%) for both HepB and MCV2<sup>15</sup>. Despite its widespread use, low vaccination rates have been recorded even in developing countries. Failures or delays in vaccinating children in high-risk

groups can limit the impact of vaccination programs on disease burden <sup>16</sup>. It is necessary to identify the determinants associated with the lack of vaccination to inform and optimize interventions. Several studies, mostly based on the Demographic and Health Survey (DHS), have examined these determinants and found common factors associated with non-vaccination, for example: low monthly family income, low family education, young maternal age, and distance from the health facility. In all cases, they have not studied the risk factors after vaccination, and some factors may be specific to the vaccine administered at birth <sup>17-19</sup>.

Although vaccination services are provided free of charge in Iraq, comprehensive vaccination coverage remains low. Geographical variation was noticed in different places in Iraq; some met the optimal coverage of EPI, while others were still under the threshold necessary to save children from VPD <sup>20</sup>. This may be related to some obstacles that vary in different places. Including maternal age, low family income, low educational level for both parents, lack of proper information, and distance from healthcare services <sup>21,22</sup>. The overall prevalence of incomplete vaccination coverage in Al-Kut has not yet been studied, and the reasons for non-utilization of vaccination services remain poorly understood and documented. Therefore, this study aims to determine the prevalence of incomplete vaccination among children under 15 years of age in Wasit Province and identify the key determinants of underutilization of vaccination services. Specifically, the study seeks to answer the following research questions:

1. What are the key socio-cultural, economic,

and logistical barriers influencing parental decisions regarding childhood vaccination in Al-Kut, Wasit Province?

2. How do healthcare accessibility, provider communication, and parental misconceptions act as barriers to childhood vaccination completion in Al-Kut?

By addressing these questions, this study will provide essential insights into the factors contributing to incomplete vaccination and help develop effective strategies to improve vaccination coverage, reduce vaccination failure rates, and ultimately decrease the burden of infectious diseases among children.

# **METHODS**

# Study design and setting:

This cross-sectional study was conducted among children in AL-Kut City/ Wasit Province/ Iraq. The target population in this study was children who visit the main two teaching hospitals in the city (Al Zahra Teaching Hospital 'the 6th-floor' and Al Karama Teaching Hospital), in addition to three Primary Healthcare Centers (PHCCs) (Abdullah Ben Rawaha, Al Hakeem, and Badra). The data was collected from the beginning of March till the 28th of April 2024.

# Sampling and sample size:

The sample size was calculated according to the cross-sectional study design equation for sample size (n = Z2 P (1-p) / d2). Z is the value of the standard normal distribution (Z =1.96). Considering (P) prevalence of MOV in Iraqi children was 31.6% <sup>23</sup>, degree of precision =0.05, and power of the study =80%. The calculated required sample was 330. A convenient sample of parents who have children who met the inclusion criteria was included in this study while visiting the selected places for data collection with their children. A convenient sample (nonprobability sampling technique) was used to collect the required sample size by choosing suitable and available participants while they were inpatients, waiting to see to doctor, or in other places like pharmacies of the selected hospitals and PHCCs.

#### Inclusion criteria:

Children of both sexes who were under the age of 15 years old and visited the selected places during the study period for different reasons were included.

#### **Exclusion criteria:**

Children who were too ill or whose parents were harry to wait to complete the questionnaire and those whose parents' refused participation were excluded from the study.

### Data collection tool:

A self-assessment questionnaire was given to parents who could read the questionnaire and answer the questions. Parents who could neither read nor write were interviewed by the researchers themselves. The questions included in the questionnaire were adapted from a previously published study that already tested for reliability <sup>24</sup>, with some modifications to be clearer and more suitable to the Iraqi community. It was prepared in English and then translated into Arabic (by a language expert) to make it easier and convenient for the parents of the participants to understand. Experts in community medicine evaluated the questionnaire, and it was pretested with 5 parents before the final data collection for the validity and reliability of this tool.

The questionnaire consisted of two parts:

**Part 1:** was designed to collect information about socio-demographic data like age, sex, the sequence of the child between his/her Siblings, number of Siblings, the place of residence, monthly family income, and the level of education of both father and mother.

**Part 2:** was designed to collect information about the immunization status of the child and factors related to missed opportunities of immunization (distance from the child's house to the health center, child's health status on the day of vaccination, the availability of vaccine, the staff training, and if there are any previous complications when taking vaccine.... etc.).

#### Statistical analysis:

Data were analyzed by the Statistical Package for Social Sciences software program (SPSS), version 26. Categorial variables were presented by frequency and percentage. The association between different variables was assessed by either the Chi-square test or Fisher's Exact test. The significant P-value was less than 0.05.

The dependent variable in this study is the vaccination status. The independent variables were Sex, age, residence, monthly family income, level of education of both parents, child sequence among his siblings, and children number.

### RESULTS

The results of this study were based on the analysis of 330 samples of children whose parents completed filling out the questionnaires. Those children were divided into two groups: those who completed their vaccinations and those who did not complete their vaccinations.

The sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants (Table 1) show that most of the parents who filled out the questionnaire were mothers (70%). More than half of the participating children were males (54.5%). The majority of the participants' ages range between 0-7 years (81.2%). Nearly two-thirds of the participants lived in urban areas (65.5%). Moreover, the family's monthly income was more than 750 \$ in nearly half of the samples (49.1%).

<b>Table 1.</b> Frequency of socio-demographic structures					
of the 330 participants					
Variables		n	%		
Parent who fills out	Father	99	30		
the questionnaire	Mother	231	70		
Sex	Male	180	54.5		
	Female	150	45.5		
Age (years)	≤ 3	141	42.7		
	4-7	127	38.5		
	8-11	52	15.8		
	≥12	10	3.0		
Place of residence	Urban	216	65.5		
	Rural	114	34.5		
Family monthly	< 250	47	14.2		
income (USA \$)	250-499	52	15.8		
	500-749	69	20.9		
	750-1000	86	26.1		
	>1000	76	23.0		

The educational level of the participants is shown in Table 2. Nearly half of the mothers (47.6%) were Illiterate or (read and write) or had graduated from primary school. Nearly one-third (28.2%) had having college and above education. Of the fathers, more than half (52.4%) had having college and above education.

Table 2. Educational level of the study participants					
<b>Educational level</b>	Mothers		Fathers		
	n	%	n	%	
Illiterate or read and write	93	28.2	51	15.5	
Primary school	64	19.4	33	10.0	
Intermediate school	39	11.8	36	10.9	
Secondary school	41	12.4	37	11.2	
College and above	93	28.2	173	52.4	

Figure 1 illustrates the overall number of siblings in the families. More than half of the families had 1-3 siblings (54.5%), and few had more than 7 siblings (6.1%).



**Figure 1.** Number of siblings in the families of the participants

Figure 2 illustrates the sequence of the child among his siblings. It shows that around three-quarters of the children ranged from the 1<sup>st</sup> to the 3<sup>rd</sup> (70%). Only 2.7% had the 7th sequence and above.





Out of 330 samples that were selected, the majority of the participants were vaccinating their children in general (85.2%). As for the children included in the questionnaire, half

of those registered were taking their vaccines regularly according to the schedule of the health center, and the other half were not taking them as required, as shown in Table 3. Table 4 shows whether children received their routine vaccinations as recommended by the health center in association with their demographic features.

Table 3. Vaccination history of the children.				
Vaccination history		n	%	
Did you vaccinate your	Yes	281	85.2	
children at all?	No	49	14.8	
Did this child receive	Yes	165	50	
his routine vaccines as recommended in the primary health care center?	No	116	35.2	

		Yes		No		
		n	%	n	%	
Sex	Male	76	42.2	104	57.8	0.002
	Female	89	59.3	61	40.7	
Age (Years)	0-3	49	34.8	92	65.2	<0.001
	4-7	74	58.3	53	41.7	
	8-11	36	69.2	16	30.8	
	12-15	6	60.0	4	40.0	
Residence	Urban	143	66.2	73	33.8	<0.001
	Rural	22	19.3	92	80.7	
Monthly family income	<250	1	2.1	46	97.9	<0.001
(USA \$)	250-499	11	21.2	41	78.8	
	500-749	33	47.8	36	52.2	
	750-1000	60	69.8	26	30.2	
	>1000	60	78.9	16	21.1	
Level of education of the	Illiterate/ read and write	15	16.1	78	83.9	<0.001
mother	Primary school	27	42.2	37	57.8	
	Intermediate school	24	61.5	15	38.5	
	Secondary school	28	68.3	13	31.7	
	College and above	71	76.3	22	23.7	
Level of education of the	Illiterate/ read and write	5	9.8	46	90.2	<0.001
father	Primary school	4	12.1	29	87.9	
	Intermediate school	15	41.7	21	58.3	
	Secondary school	20	54.1	17	45.9	
	College and above	121	69.9	52	30.1	
Child sequence among	1st-3rd	117	50.6	114	49.4	0.481
siblings	4th-6th	42	46.7	48	53.3	
	7th and above	6	66.7	3	33.3	
Children number in the	1-3	90	50.0	90	50.0	0.158
family	4-6	61	46.9	69	53.1	
	More than 7	14	70.0	6	30.0	

 Table 4. The association between childhood vaccination and socio-demographic data

The highest percentage of female children received their vaccines as recommended by primary health centers (59.3%) and those between the ages of 4-7 years (58.3%), as well as those who lived in urban areas (66.2%). Those with a good monthly family income of 750\_1000\$ and above 1000\$ were (69.8%) and (78.9%) respectively. The table also shows the extent of the influence of the educational level of the parents, as the rate of consistency in vaccinating children increases with the increase in the educational level, whether for the mother or the father as it shows that a greater proportion of vaccinated children had parents with a college education and above, for the mothers (76.3%) and the fathers (69.9%). A significant association was found between the vaccination status of the

children and their sex, age, residency, family income, and parent education.

For those children who didn't complete their vaccination (165), Table 5 illustrates the possible causes leading to non-adherence to the recommended vaccination schedule. The most frequently mentioned causes were long-distance walking to the health center (70.3%), followed by children going to the health center at the time of appointment but returning home without vaccination (60%) then the lack of information about the days for vaccination (55.2%). Respondents who were concerned about the vaccine's safety were (40.6%). Only 7 (4.2%) parents mentioned being ill on the day of immunization as a cause of non-compliance with the routine vaccination schedule.

<b>Table 5.</b> Logistical factors affecting compliance with childhood vaccination schedule.				
Possible causes of incomplete vaccination	Yes		No	
	n	%	n	%
The presence of health centers in the city or village	127	77	38	23
Vaccination campaigns reach the area	141	85.5	24	14.5
Have a concern about vaccine safety	67	40.6	98	59.4
Engaged in work or have no time to accompany the child to receive the vaccine	57	34.5	108	65.5
Long waiting time at the health facility	50	30.3	115	69.7
The vaccine was not found on the appointment day, so I received the vaccine the next day.	23	13.9	142	86.1
The child's ill health at the time of immunization	76	46.1	89	53.9
Lack of information about the days for vaccination	91	55.2	74	44.8
Forget the days of immunization	56	33.9	109	66.1
Long-distance walking to the vaccination center	116	70.3	49	29.7
Parents' illness on the day of vaccination	7	4.2	158	95.8
Lack of money	19	11.5	146	88.5
The child came to a health facility or outreach site and did not receive the vaccination for which he was eligible	99	60	66	40
Among the 99 who mentioned not receiving vaccines although going to health centers, the reasons were:	]	n	(	%
There was no vaccine in that center		9	9	9.1
There was no specialized staff	2	1	2	1.2
The doctor didn't accept child vaccination	6	5	6	5.7
The vaccine was expired	2	4		4

Among the 99 who mentioned not receiving vaccines although going to the health center, for most of them, the reasons were the doctor didn't accept child vaccination (65.7%) followed by a lack of specialized staff in the health center (21.2%).

Even though 147 incompletely vaccinated

children showed no previous complications, the other children (n=18, 10.9%) complained of one or more of those complications. The main complication was elevated body temperature, which was a complaint among 15 children, while rash and fever were complaints among 2 children, and only one child had abdominal pain as shown in table 6.

Table 6. Previous complications among the participants.			
Presence of previous vaccine complications		n	%
Previous complications in the same child or other	Yes	18	10.9
children	No	147	89.1
	Total	165	100.0
From the total (165) who didn't complete their child	Abdominal pain and allergy	1	0.6
vaccination, the complications that appeared are:	Elevated body temperature	15	6.1
	Elevated body temperature and rash	2	0.6

Table 7 illustrates the perception of the respondents for the reasons behind incomplete vaccination. The highest percentage of the participants agreed that the lack of accessibility to a health facility was the most important contributing factor

among them (38.5%), followed by receiving warnings from neighbors and relatives about the danger of vaccines (35.8%). Only one-quarter of them mentioned migration from the place of original residence to another place (25.7%).

Table 7. Perception-based factors for reasons behind incomplete vaccination	l		
Perception of reasons behind incomplete vaccination	Responses (Yes)		Percentage of
	n	%	<b>Cases (165)</b>
Migration from the place of original residence to another place	46	25.7	27.9
The accessibility to a health facility with immunization facilities was poor	69	38.5	41.8
Receiving warnings from neighbors or relatives about the danger of vaccines	64	35.8	38.8
Total	179	100.0	108.5

# DISCUSSION

Vaccination is one of the most effective and cost-effective health interventions. The factors that determine incomplete vaccination are complex. This study aims to evaluate the most common reasons for not completing the vaccination schedule among children in a sample of Iraqi society.

The results of this evaluation can help open

a new perspective for future research that will go beyond recognizing these reasons and evaluate to reduce and overcome the difficulties faced by such a challenge.

In the present study, most of the parents who completed the questionnaire were mothers. This can be explained by the fact that the mother is the one who is closest to the children, whether in hospitals or health centers. Most of the participants live in urban areas since the questionnaires were distributed to a greater extent in the city center and to a lesser extent in rural areas. Most of the parents had a good monthly family income based on their educational level, which was well above high school. Most of the children's sequence among their siblings run between the 1<sup>st</sup>-3<sup>rd</sup> sequence (70.0%); this was consistent with the study conducted in Ethiopia<sup>7</sup>.

In this study, about half of the children studied stated that they were fully vaccinated; this result is lower than that reported by UNICEF Iraq statistics in 2015 (72%) <sup>25</sup> and by the Department of Primary Health (PHCD) / MOH in 2014 (73%) <sup>26</sup>. In comparison to other countries in the region, the UNICEF statistical report in 2015 shows the following results: Saudi Arabia (96%) <sup>27</sup>, Jordan (98%) <sup>28</sup>, Turkey (97.6%), and Syria (58%) <sup>25</sup>.

Vaccination coverage: In general, according to the results of the questionnaires distributed to selected families, the percentage of vaccinated children in each family reached (85.2%). This can be related to the cultural and scientific levels of these families. In addition to the distribution of educational and guidance campaigns by the Iraqi Ministry of Health on the importance of vaccination in overcoming diseases and protecting their most important risk factors, as well as the fact that vaccination is free in Iraq. Other researchers in Iraq reported percentages of children who were not vaccinated at all, (0.5%) $^{29}$  and (6%)  $^{30}$ , which is lower than what was reported in this study (14.8%). Another study in Baghdad <sup>30</sup> found that 22.3% of children were not vaccinated. Much higher rates were reported by other researchers outside Iraq: Prakash in India in 2006 (35%) <sup>31</sup> and Nisar in Pakistan in 2007 (30%) <sup>32</sup>. This diversity

may be due to differences in study contexts, sampling techniques, and the fact that these studies were conducted in poor urban areas where most children come from families with low socio-economic status.

#### Age and gender:

The results of this study show a significant relationship between vaccination status with children's gender and age. The percentage of incomplete vaccinations decreased with age, reaching a maximum in the age group of 0 to 3 years (65.2%), then decreasing after the age of 3 years, The fact that the parents might perceive that certain vaccines are less critical for older children, especially if the child is healthy or if they have already received some vaccinations also younger children often have more frequent healthcare visits due to routine check-ups, while older children may see healthcare providers less frequently, leading to missed vaccination opportunities. The percentage of incomplete vaccinations is significantly higher among males (57.8%) than among females (40.7%). On a broader scope, boys are more likely to get vaccinated due to social and cultural aspects <sup>4</sup>. However, in certain areas, girls could potentially have better coverage. In some households, it is believed that males are "stronger," so they are less likely to be afflicted by sickness, which creates an excuse for not vaccinating them to the same degree as girls. A study conducted in Baghdad, Al-Karkh region, reported that the percentage of incomplete vaccinations reaches its maximum in the age group from 12 to 24 months (43.7%) and that the percentage of incomplete vaccinations is significantly higher in males (55.7%) than in females (44.3%) <sup>33</sup>. Some studies found no direct effect of gender on a child's vaccination status, like that conducted in 165 countries by Fuertes <sup>34</sup>.

#### Parents' education:

Regarding maternal education, the study found a statistically significant relationship between vaccination status and maternal education (P < 0.001). The percentage of incompletely vaccinated children was high among children of mothers with little education (83.9%) and mothers who are illiterate or only able to read and write. This percentage decreased among children whose mothers had secondary or higher education. In contrast, other studies have shown that the percentage of unvaccinated children was high among children of highly educated mothers (47%), and the percentage of unvaccinated children was higher among children of working mothers (governmental employees) (51.4%) <sup>33</sup>. Many other studies confirmed the results of this study and found that the majority of incompletely vaccinated children came from parents with a low level of education <sup>23\_30, 33</sup>. Public health education is a well-defined way to encourage the population to healthy behaviors and involvement in preventive measures. Internet, as it is widely used by people, can serve as an excellent tool in focusing on vaccine-related awareness gaps, distributing children's vaccination schedules for parents, and answering any questions that may arise about the vaccination efficacy and side effects <sup>35, 36</sup>.

### Number of children in the family:

In the present study, there was no statistical association between the number of family members and vaccination status. Although extended families with more than 7 children seem to have a higher rate of complete vaccination of their children, this contradicts many other studies that have found a significant association with the number of family members and children <sup>7, 8, 10, 11, 17, 33</sup>.

#### **Reasons for incomplete vaccination:**

Half of the collected samples were from children who did not complete the vaccination schedule for several reasons, the most frequent was the long distance between the vaccination center and the child's place of residence. In this study, it was found that there was an inverse relationship between the distance of the health center, the beneficiary's home, and the vaccination status (70.3%) of children who did not complete the vaccination schedule. This may be because, according to them, the family does not have private transport to go to the vaccination center or a long distance to walk. The study also found that the lack of family information about the schedule and days of vaccination is an important factor in the failure to vaccinate children (55.2%), possibly due to the loss of the vaccination card. In addition, professional engagement contributed to 34.5% of the reasons. Migration from the original place of residence to another place contributed to (25.7%) of cases and attributed several reasons to warnings received from neighbors or relatives about the risk of vaccines (35.8%). Among the children who are not vaccinated despite visiting the health center, most are not vaccinated by the specialist doctor, this is because of their illness (65.7%). A smaller percentage did not receive vaccines due to the lack of specialized personnel for vaccination (21.2%) and the unavailability of the vaccine at the vaccination appointment, which only accounts for approximately (9.1%) of all reasons. In comparison, another researcher in Iraq found that the main reasons for delaying vaccination are social commitments and busy family responsibilities (63.4%). When a mother/family experiences a social event such as death or illness, participation in a vaccination exercise becomes a matter of lower priority. The second reason was the change of residence, which represents approximately (35.5%) of the causes; people move within the country (internal movements, 24%) and between countries neighbors (external movements, 11.4%). This migration is associated with low vaccination coverage, which may be due to the poor social integration of migrant populations. The third reason for incomplete vaccination is childhood illness (24.6%); of them (71.4%)are due to the decision of the family, and the rest (28.6%) due to the medical opinion in the health center on the day of the vaccination, which is considered as a reason for the lack of vaccination opportunity. The second reason for not having the opportunity to be vaccinated was the unavailability of the vaccine at the vaccination appointment, which only accounts for approximately (5%) of all reasons. In some cases, several reasons have been mentioned, and considerable overlap has been observed <sup>33</sup>. In Nigeria, a study of rural Nigerian children in 2021 found that the reasons were: concern about the safety of the vaccine (38.8%), long journey (17.5%), long waiting time (15, 2%), lack of money (10.6%), lack of personnel (5.4%), childhood diseases (3.6%), lack of vaccine (3.5%) and about (5%) others <sup>1</sup>. An Indian study was conducted in the urban slums of Agra district in 2022 to demonstrate the biosocial factors associated with routine immunization coverage shows that (98.6%) of incompletely vaccinated children live in neighborhoods that are not covered by the Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS) program, (81%) came from large families, (60.5%) were born in state hospitals, (71.4%) had illiterate mothers, and (30%) of them lived more than one kilometer from the nearest health institution <sup>19</sup>. The diversity mentioned between the current study and comparable studies may be due to the difference in the sampling frame and to the differences in the socioeconomic and security levels where these studies were carried out. Health sector policymakers can use these data for improvement in vaccination coverage by increasing awareness campaigns. It helps track vaccination rates, identifying trends and gaps in coverage. This is crucial for controlling vaccine-preventable diseases. By identifying specific populations or areas with low coverage, health authorities can design targeted outreach and education programs to improve vaccination rates. Understanding coverage disparities can help ensure that vulnerable populations receive the necessary vaccinations and promote health equity. Effective research can guide healthcare centers in optimizing their resources and staffing for vaccination efforts. Identifying obstacles can help direct resources and action.

### Limitations:

The limitations of this study can be summarized as follows: First, there may be other possible factors that can influence vaccination that were not considered in this study. In addition, this study did not include a qualitative method to answer the questions "Why?". Second, when the vaccination cards were not available, the vaccination records were based on the selfreports of the caregivers, which led to a risk of recall bias that is not unique to this study. Bias can also be stated because the survey was administered to illiterate people by others. Finally, this study included a relatively small sample and focused on visitors to hospitals and primary health centers and mainly those who lived in urban places. This may be caused by a non-probability sampling technique, which may limit the generalizability of the study results and their implications for all children and all health parameters of the reference population of the provinces of Iraq. Despite the limitations mentioned above, the results are important for understanding the obstacles to full immunization coverage in children.

# **CONCLUSION**

Although a large percentage of the participating children received vaccinations, the majority did not follow the proper schedule due to various related factors. There is a need to promote and sensitize people about the importance and positive effects of vaccination as well as the negative effects of not fully vaccinating.

Future studies need to understand the role of culture, how vaccines are perceived, and how willing people are to receive them. Also, it will be useful for understanding the contributions of community leaders and organizations toward promoting vaccine uptake. An assessment of the impact of health communication strategies and campaigns on improving vaccine coverage, analyzing the impact of social networks and other means of mass communication and disinformation on the vaccination attitude and decisionmaking process vis-à-vis vaccination needs to be done. In addition, there is also a need to properly address the underlying factors that contribute to vaccine hesitancy and the ways through which acceptance of vaccines can be

increased. To enhance the generalizability of the results, we recommend a future studies employ probability sampling methods to ensure a more representative sample of the population. Participants from all Iraqi provinces, including equal representation from both urban and rural areas, are essential to understanding the factors influencing incomplete vaccination across different demographic and geographic contexts.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Special thanks go to the medical staff and resident doctors of Al-Karamah and Al-Zahraa hospitals, as well as all the doctors and workers of the primary care centers, for their good character and their help in this investigation and in carrying it out.

### Support Resources : No

### Conflict of Interest : No

**Ethical Declaration:** Official approval and permission to conduct this study were obtained from the ethics committee of the Faculty of Medicine of Wasit University. Verbal consent was obtained from each respondent (parent) before data collection, and then the objective of the study was explained. The names of the participants are not recorded, and all forms of questionnaire data are kept secure and used only for research purposes.

# Authorship Contributions:

**Author Contribution:** Concept: TMJT, SID, SBAA, Design: TMJT, SID, SBAA, Writing: TMJT, SID, SBAA, Data collection: TMJT, SID, SBAA, Data analysis: TMJT, SID, SBAA, Revising the manuscript critically: TMJT, SID, SBAA, Final approval: TMJT, SID, SBAA.

### REFERENCES

- Eze P, Agu UJ, Aniebo CL, Agu SA, Lawani LO, Acharya Y. Factors associated with incomplete immunization in children aged 12–23 months at the subnational level, Nigeria: a cross-sectional study. BMJ open. 2021;11(6): e047445. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047445
- 2. World Health Organization (WHO). The global vaccine action plan 2011–2020: review and lessons learned: strategic advisory group of experts on immunization. 2019; https://www.who. int/publications-detail-redirect/the-global-vaccine-action-plan-2011-2020-review-and-lessons-learned-strategic-advisory-group-of-expertsonimmunization
- Metcalf CJE, Andreasen V, Bjørnstad ON, Eames K, Edmunds WJ, Funk S, et al. Seven challenges in Modeling vaccine-preventable diseases. Epidemics. 2015; 10:11–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. epidem.2014.08.004
- 4. Muluye M, Oljira L, Eyeberu A, Getachew T, Debella A, Deressa A, et al. Partial vaccination and associated factors among children aged 12–23 months in eastern Ethiopia. BMC Pediatr. 2022;22(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-022-03320-3
- Skehan J, Muller LS. Vaccinations: Eliminating preventable illness. Professional Case Management. 2014; 19(6): 289-295. https://doi.org/10.1097/ NCM.000000000000063PMID:
- KOLAWOLE TO, SOTUNSA JO. Effect of Short Message Service On Prevention of Missed Childhood Immunization Among Mothers Attending Immunization Clinics in Selected Hospitals in Lagos State, Nigeria. International Journal of Medicine, Nursing & Health Sciences. 2021;2(2):177-188.
- Melaku MS, Nigatu AM, Mewosha WZ. Spatial distribution of incomplete immunization among under-five children in Ethiopia: evidence from 2005, 2011, and 2016 Ethiopian demographic and health survey Data. BMC Public Health. 2020; 20:1–22.
- Ortiz JR, Perut M, Dumolard L, Wijesinghe PR, Jorgensen P, Ropero AM, et al. A global review of National influenza immunization policies: Analysis of the 2014 WHO/UNICEF Joint Reporting Form on immunization. Vaccine. 2016 Oct 26;34(45):5400-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2016.07.045
- 9. Ogbuanu IU, Li AJ, Anya BP, Tamadji M, Chirwa G, Chiwaya KW, et al. Can vaccination coverage be improved by reducing missed opportunities for vaccination? Findings from assessments in Chad and Malawi using the new WHO methodology. PloS one. 2019 Jan 24;14(1):e0210648.
- 10. Chanie MG, Ewunetie GE, Molla A, Muche A. *Turk J Public Health 2025;23(1)*

Determinants of vaccination dropout among children 12-23 months age in north Gondar zone, northwest Ethiopia, 2019. Plos one. 2021 Feb 8;16(2):e0246018. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0246018

- 11. Hobani F, Alhalal E. Factors related to parents' adherence to childhood immunization. BMC Public Health. 2022 Apr 25;22(1):819. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-022-13232-7
- Pagliusi S, Che Y, Dong S. The art of partnerships for vaccines. Vaccine. 2019; 37(40):5909–19. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.07.088
- 13. World Health Organization. World Health Organization: Global Vaccine Action Plan monitoring, evaluation & accountability secretariat annual report 2018.
- 14. Girmay A, Dadi AF. Full Immunization Coverage and Associated Factors among Children Aged 12-23 Months in Hard-to-Reach Areas of Ethiopia. International journal of pediatrics. 2019;2019(1):1924941.
- 15. WHO, UNICEF. Iraq: WHO and UNICEF estimates of immunization coverage: 2023 revision [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2024 Jul 2 [cited 2025 Mar 07]. Available from: https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/defaultsource/country-profiles/immunization/2024country-profiles/immunization-2024-irq. pdf?sfvrsn=6e4b4fc0\_3&download=true
- 16. Fenta SM, Biresaw HB, Fentaw KD, Gebremichael SG. Determinants of full childhood immunization among children aged 12–23 months in sub-Saharan Africa: a multilevel analysis using Demographic and Health Survey Data. Trop Med Health. 2021;49(1).
- Sarker AR, Akram R, Ali N, Chowdhury ZI, Sultana M. Coverage and Determinants of Full Immunization: Vaccination Coverage among Senegalese Children. Med Kaunas Lith. 2019;55(8). Doi:10.3390/ medicina55080480
- Peretti-Watel P, Cortaredona S, Ly EY, et al. Determinants of childhood immunizations in Asia: Adding previous shots to sociodemographic background. Hum Vaccines Immunother. 2020;16(2):363-370. Doi:10.1080/21645515.201 9.1649553
- Young B, Sarwar G, Hossain I, Mackenzie G. Risk factors associated with nonvaccination in Asian children: a population-based cohort study. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. 2022;116(11):1063-1070. Doi:10.1093/trstmh/trac051
- 20. WHO tackles low immunization challenges in Iraq. ReliefWeb. Published December 19, 2023. Accessed March 6, 2025. https://reliefweb.int/report/iraq/ who-tackles-low-immunization-challenges-iraqenar

- Kadim MA, Abdulhasan AF, Abdulrasol ZA, Obaid AF. Dropout of Vaccination Among Iraqi Children. South Asian J. Soc. Sci. Humanit. 2022 Dec 1;3(6):163-71.
- 22. Al-Lela O, Bahari MB, Al-Abbassi MG, Salih MR, Basher AY. Iraqi parents' views of barriers to childhood immunization. EMHJ. 2013 Mar 1;19(3):295-7.
- 23. Mustafa B S, Saleh JI. Prevalence of Missed Opportunities for Immunization and Its Associated Factors Among Children Below Two Years Old Attending Primary Healthcare Centers in Baghdad/Al-Karkh. Muthanna Medical Journal. 2023; 10(2):212-226. http://dx.doi. org/10.52113/1/2/2023-212-226
- 24. Abdulraheem IS, Onajole AT, Jimoh AA, Oladipo AR. Reasons for incomplete vaccination and factors for missed opportunities among rural Nigerian children. J Public Health Epidemiol. 2011 Apr 30;3(4):194-203.
- 25. UNICEF. UNICEF Statistics. State of the World's Children 2015 country statistical tables, 2 Available online: UNICEF 2016. Available from: http://www. unicef.org/infobycountry/iraq\_statistics.html.
- 26. Iraq MoH. Immunization coverage by antigen in Al-Kerkh Directorate of Health, Ministry of Health (MOH)/ Iraq; 2014.
- 27. Alrowaili GZR, Dar UF, Bandy AH. May we improve vaccine timeliness among children? A cross sectional survey in northern Saudi Arabia. J Family Community Med. 2019 May-Aug;26(2):113-117. doi: 10.4103/jfcm.JFCM\_153\_18. PMID: 31143083; PMCID: PMC6515760.
- Awad S, Abdo N, Yusef D, et al. Knowledge, attitudes and practices related to influenza illness and vaccination in children: Role of awareness campaigns in changing parents' attitudes toward influenza vaccination in Jordan. *Vaccine*. 2019;37(25):3303-3309. doi:10.1016/j.

vaccine.2019.04.083

- 29. Fadil LS, Al-Lami F. Proportion and determinants of incomplete vaccination among children aged less than two years in Baghdad City. Iraqi Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2010;9(2): 169-173.
- Mahmood NS. Rate of Vaccination of Children at Diyala Province & the Effect of Parental Education on Vaccination Status, Hospital Based Study. Diyala Journal of Medicine. 2012;3(1):73-81.
- 31. Prakash D, Saxena P. Biosocial factors associated with routine immunization coverage in urban slums of Agra district. National Journal of Medical and Allied Sciences. 2014;3(1):24 -7.
- 32. Nisar N, Mirza M, Qadri MH. Knowledge, Attitude and Practices of Mothers regarding immunization of one year old child at Mawatch Goth, Kemari Town, Karachi. Pak J Med Sci. 2010 Jan 1;26(1):183-6.
- Alqurishi AK, Tawfiq HL, Hussein HK, Al-Attar Z. Prevalence and Reasons of Incomplete Vaccination among Children below Two Years old. Prevalence. 2022 Jun;62(04):1351-1365.
- 34. Vidal Fuertes C, Johns NE, Goodman TS, Heidari S, Munro J, Hosseinpoor AR. The Association between Childhood Immunization and Gender Inequality: A Multi-Country Ecological Analysis of Zero-Dose DTP Prevalence and DTP3 Immunization Coverage. Vaccines (Basel). 2022;10(7):1032. doi:10.3390/ vaccines10071032
- Taher TM. Public Awareness of Healthy Lifestyle among Iraqi Population. Al-Rafidain Journal of Medical Sciences (ISSN 2789-3219). 2023 Jul 29;5:92-8. https://doi.org/10.54133/ajms. v5i.170
- 36. Taher TM, Sarray F. Internet as a Source of Information for Breast Cancer Early Detection. Pakistan Journal of Medical and Health Sciences. 2020;14(2):1589-92.